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CORPORATE INFORMATION
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
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2025 2024
SRR R4
HK$000 HK$’000
Tt THETT
Results e
Revenue &
— Health and beauty supplements and — PR A B S A i S i 2
products business 199,918 230,580
— Property investment business o ESid e 5,130 5,006
Total At 205,048 235,586
Gross profit BH] 157,953 184,212
Gross profit margin (%) BEHH (%) 77.0% 78.2%
(Loss)/profit for the year N (1) /s (36,243) 518
(Loss)/profit attributable to owners of the Company A2\ HIHEA AMEAS (k518 /15 A (36,243) 571
Adjusted (loss)/profit for the year attributable EN/NCIE? 2SN S K RN
to owners of the Company TR (1R /it A
(the “Adjusted Net (Loss)/Profit”)* ([ #E 3R Be (548) /1 1) = (5,843) 15,571
Financial Position BAEIR DL
Cash and cash equivalents B4 KRBl &5 EY 5,532 12,700
Net assets B R 135,345 171,608
Total equity attributable to owners of the Company AR R N IEAGRE £ KU AR 136,624 172,887
Number of shares in issue (in thousands) CETRMER (T5) 3,107,893 3,107,893
Net assets per share (HKS) HE EFE (M5 T) 0.04 0.06
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

The adjustment process of Adjusted Net (Loss)/Profit:

S 15 1t 22

KSR (RS HR) /R B

2025 2024
“RTHAE ZETIUAE
HK$000 HK$’000
Tt Tt

(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to owners AR AT NEAAE N (48 /16 )
of the Company (36,243) 571

Adjustment: Fiki

Fair value change of investment properties B N TEEE) 30,400 15,000
Adjusted Net (Loss)/Profit AR (E518) /R (5,843) 15,571

The Adjusted Net (Loss)/Profit is arrived at by deducting the unrealised item relating to the fair
value change of investment properties from the (loss)/profit for the year attributable to owners
of the Company. The management of the Group considers that the adjusted item is not related to
our daily operations and does not track such adjusted item as key operating or financial metrics
internally when reviewing our performance. Therefore, by eliminating the impacts of such items
in the calculation of Adjusted Net (Loss)/Profit, it could better reflect our underlying operating
performance and could better facilitate the comparison of operating performance from year to

year.

The Adjusted Net (Loss)/Profit is not the measures of performance under HKFRS Accounting
Standards. These measures do not represent, and should not be used as substitutes for, net (loss)/
profit or cash flows from operations as determined in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards. These measures are not necessarily an indication of whether cash flow will be
sufficient to fund our cash requirements. In addition, our definitions of these measures may not

be comparable to other similarly titled measures used by other companies.
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INFORMATION FOR INVESTORS
n *&ﬁ% mg*’l‘

SHARE INFORMATION

Board lot size 4,000 shares
As at the last trading day of the financial year ended 31 March 2025:

3,107,893,440 shares
HK$0.024

*  Shares outstanding

*  Closing share price

KEY DATES

*  Latest time for lodging transfer documents 4:30 pm, 28 August 2025
for registration in order to qualify
for attending and voting at
2025 annual general meeting

*  Closure of register of members for 29 August 2025 —

2025 annual general meeting 3 September 2025

* 2025 annual general meeting 3 September 2025

INVESTOR RELATIONS CONTACT

Address : Unit D, 7/F, KC100, 100 Kwai Cheong Road
Kwai Chung, New Territories, Hong Kong

Telephone : (852) 3700 7300

Fax 1 (852) 3700 7301

E-mail : ir@shunten.com.hk

Website : www.shunten.com.hk

SHAREHOLDER ENQUIRIES

Any matters relating to your shareholding, e.g. transfer of shares, change of name
or address, lost share certificate and dividend warrants, should be sent in writing

to:

Tricor Investor Services Limited

Address : 17/F, Far East Finance Centre
16 Harcourt Road
Hong Kong
Telephone 1 (852) 2980 1333
Fax 1 (852) 2810 8185
E-mail : is-enquiries @vistra.com
Website : http://srhk.vistra.com
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)”’) of Shunten
International (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”), I am pleased to present to
you the annual report of the Company together with its subsidiaries (collectively,
the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2025 (the “Reporting Period” or
“FY2024/257).

ANNUAL REVIEW

The Hong Kong retail sector has taken longer than anticipated to recover due to
persistent economic challenges. The atmosphere of consumption in the local retail
market was persistently influenced by a variety of external uncertainties including
geopolitical tensions and continuous slump of the local stock and property market.
The change in consumption patterns among visitors, the decline in the overall
purchasing power of consumers, the northbound spending trend and the relative
strength of Hong Kong dollars against other non-US currencies in recent years
have become major factors that pose stiff challenges to the Hong Kong retail
sector. These challenges coupled with the penetration of new market competitors
have put pressure on our pricing strategies and profit margins, which inevitably

affected the overall performance of the Group.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has encountered a complex operating
landscape, resulting in a year-on-year decrease of approximately 13.0% in revenue
and a turnaround from a profit of approximately HK$0.5 million for the year
ended 31 March 2024 to a loss of approximately HK$36.2 million for FY2024/25.
The turnaround from profit to loss was mainly attributed by the (i) decrease in
the revenue and gross profit due to weak local retail market conditions and weak
consumer sentiment in Hong Kong and Macau and the reduction of spending
power and the change of consumption pattern of visitors; and (ii) decrease in fair

value of investment properties in Hong Kong.

OUR MISSION

Health is the foundation of wealth. With the aim of embracing our mission of
“Being the Guardian of Your Health” to better serve our customers, the Group will
continue to pursue the initiative in strengthening the research and development
of high-quality healthcare products. We recognise the importance of continuous
innovation and meeting the needs of both Hong Kong and mainland China
consumers. With this in mind, we are investing in research and development to
introduce a diverse range of new products that cater to the evolving demands of

our target markets.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
EE:a0

OUTLOOK

In the coming year, the Group plans to establish a new brand, featuring a series of
premium health and beauty supplements. This strategic initiative will be introduced
through a new distribution channel in Hong Kong, with the aim of enhancing
our market presence and fostering channel diversification. Our management is
optimistic that this new brand will not only attract a broader customer base but
also generate additional revenue streams, and positioning us for sustainable growth
in an evolving marketplace. By expanding our product offerings and distribution
strategies, we aim to better meet consumer demands and advance our business

objectives.

Innovation remains at the forefront of our strategy. We are dedicated to investing
in research and development to ensure our healthcare product offerings align with
market trends and consumer needs. Subsequent to the end of the Reporting Period,
we have successfully launched the new “Royal Medic Stomach Strengthening
Formula”, “Royal Medic Salon Hair” and “Royal Medic Calming Ganoderma
Capsule” and the upgraded “Royal Medic Dampness Rapid Relief”. The Group
will continue to introduce multiple new products and upgraded versions of best-

selling products with different functions successively in the coming year.

Looking ahead, the Hong Kong retail market is expected to remain challenging and
such conditions may persist for an extended period. In light of these challenges, we
have undertaken a proactive approach to ensure the resilience and sustainability of
our business. The Group is active in expanding our new revenue streams through
new channels in order to reach a wider audience. In addition, we have instituted
tighter cost control measures and adopted cautious approaches to navigate the
challenging economic environment. We believe that the pursuit of new revenue
streams and stringent cost management are the cornerstone of our financial and

operational strategies.

APPRECIATION

Our success in navigating these challenging times would not have been possible
without the dedication and hard work of our employees. I extend my heartfelt
gratitude to the Board, the management team and all of our employees for their
dedication to enable the Group to forge ahead in the highly competitive market. I
also express sincere appreciation to our shareholders, customers, business partners

and suppliers for their continuous trust and support to the Group.

Cheung Siu Fai
Chairman and Executive Director
Hong Kong, 26 June 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the sale, marketing and distribution of health

and beauty supplements and products and property investment in Hong Kong.

The Group’s revenue recorded a decrease of approximately 13.0% or approximately
HK$30.6 million to approximately HK$205.0 million for the Reporting Period as
compared to approximately HK$235.6 million for the year ended 31 March 2024 (the
“Last Corresponding Period”). Overall, the Group generated a loss attributable
to owners of the Company of approximately HK$36.2 million (Last Corresponding
Period: profit of approximately HK$0.6 million). Apart from the unrealised item
in respect of the fair value change of investment properties, the Group recorded an
Adjusted Net Loss of approximately HK$5.8 million for the Reporting Period (Last
Corresponding Period: Adjusted Net Profit of approximately HK$15.6 million).

Market overview

In recent years, the Hong Kong Government has introduced a raft of measures
to boost the tourism industry, including the resumption of the Multiple-entry
Individual Visit Scheme for Shenzhen permanent residents since December
2024 and the organisation of various mega events, the number of visitor arrivals
to Hong Kong has recorded a significant increase. With reference to the Hong
Kong Tourism Board, the total visitor arrivals in the Reporting Period recorded
a significant increase of approximately 11.5% to approximately 45,502,000 as
compared to approximately 40,814,000 for the Last Corresponding Period, of
which tourists from Mainland China accounted for a considerable portion of
approximately 76.0% for the Reporting Period. Despite the growth momentum
of visitor arrivals, the spending power of visitors reduced due to various factors
including the change of consumption pattern of visitors from shopping to other
experience. Also, the relative strength of Hong Kong dollars against other non-US

currencies in recent years has led to cautious spending by tourists.

Hong Kong’s retail sector remained languishing during the Reporting Period.
According to the statistics from the Census and Statistics Department of Hong
Kong, the overall retail sales value and the retail sales value related to the category
of Chinese drugs and herbs in Hong Kong recorded a decrease of approximately
8.7% and 12.2% respectively for the Reporting Period as compared to the Last
Corresponding Period. Factors including the rising trend of Hong Kong residents
heading north for shopping during weekends, the significant increase in outbound
travel during long public holidays together with the unfavourable conditions
including the combination of macroeconomic headwinds and the continuous slump
of the local stock and property markets have weakened local consumer’s sentiment.
The slow recovery of the economy and the tourism industry resulted in the pressure
on the revenue growth of the Group. The management of the Group has taken
steps to closely monitor the market and economic challenges and implemented
appropriate strategic initiatives to consolidate its foundation and optimise the

overall performance of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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The property market sentiment remained sluggish in Hong Kong during the
Reporting Period. Although the government removed the property cooling
measures at the end of February 2024, the recovery of the residential property
market has remained slow due to the unfavorable economic climate and lingering
high interest rates. The Hong Kong industrial and commercial property market also
continues to face challenges and grapple with declining rents and rising vacancies
due to limited new demand and weak market sentiment. The management of
the Group has maintained a cautious yet dynamic approach when navigating

uncertainty to manage the Group’s property investment business.

Health and beauty supplements and products business

The Group’s health and beauty supplements and products are sold under the
proprietary brands developed and managed by the Group (‘“Proprietary Brands™)
and a private label brand specifically developed for and owned by a renowned
retail chain of health and beauty products in Hong Kong and Macau (‘“Private
Label Brand”). The major Proprietary Brands include “Royal Medic”, “Legend”,
“MeltyEnz”, “CleansingEnz”, “La Gusto”, “Prof Health”, “HARUKA” and “Mr.
75”, and the Private Label Brand is “Health Proof”. The Group mainly sells and
distributes its products through a renowned local retail chain distributor, our
special designated counters, the Hong Kong Brands and Products Expo, our own
e-commerce online platform and designated cross-border e-commerce platforms in
Mainland China.

During the Reporting Period, we have successfully launched multiple new products
including the new “Dr Immune”, “Prof Gut Brain”, “Prof Sleep” and “Legend
Allergic Skin Care Patch”, and upgraded versions of best-selling products with
different functions including “Royal Medic NMN Prime 32000+”, “Haruka Fish
Oil 800 Plus”, “Health Proof Vitamin C 250mg” and “Health Proof Vitamin E
4001U”.

In terms of marketing, the Group has conducted a series of strategic brand
positioning and marketing effort to rejuvenate its brand and product images. In
addition to Ms. Michelle Yim Wai Ling (KZ3), the existing spokesperson of the
“Royal Medic” brand, and Mr. Hins Cheung (5R#(#F), the existing spokesperson
of our hero product “Royal Medic NMN”, the Group has invited Mr. Johnny Hui
(% J2), a popular artist in Hong Kong to be the spokesperson of various products
including “Royal Medic Eye Health 2.0” and “Royal Medic Joints Well”. We
have also title sponsored a TV drama “Oh No, I Gotta Ghost Bust!” CEUE

R # L8 broadcasted on ViuTV during February 2025. Besides, we have
invited the renowned child star Faye Wong (¥ F& /&) to promote our new product
“Legend Allergic Skin Care Patch” and launched relevant lively advertisements
through television channels, social media and road shows since October 2024. The
management of the Group believes that these advertising and promotion activities
are effective means to enhance the brand image and reinforce the brand’s public

presence.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The management of the Group believes that widening sales channels is essential
to maintain competitive advantages in the highly competitive health and beauty
supplements market. During the Reporting Period, the Group has widened its sales
channels by establishing flagship stores on Tmall and Douyin in order to tap into
the Mainland China market. In addition to the Hong Kong Brands and Products
Expo, the Group has participated in various fairs and exhibitions in Hong Kong,
such as 50+ Expo and HKTDC Food Expo. The management of the Group believes

that these expansions have empowered us to reach a larger consumer base.

The Group’s first integrated customer relationship management system mobile
application “RM Club” has officially launched since June 2024. RM Club members
can check their point balances and manage their point redemption through the
mobile app conveniently, which offers a comprehensive digital service experience
to our customers. The Group’s management believes that the new mobile app can
enable us to thoroughly understand the consumption characteristics of customers,
which is essential for the management to formulate more targeted marketing
strategies and product development proposals to enhance the profitability of the
Group.

Property investment business
As at 31 March 2025, the Group continues its property investment business by

owning:

i a 5-storey tenement building located at Sham Shui Po of Hong Kong being

occupied for commercial and residential use;
ii. a residential property located at mid-levels of Hong Kong; and
iii.  industrial properties located at Kwai Chung of Hong Kong.

As the property market sentiment remained weak in Hong Kong during the
Reporting Period, the Group remains committed to prudent investment strategies
in the property investment business. The Group will continue to closely monitor
the conditions of the property market in Hong Kong and implement appropriate
strategic initiatives to optimise the performance of the investment properties with

the aim to deliver sustainable returns in the years ahead.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

o BRI i B 50

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

The revenue of the Group represents income from sales of health and beauty
supplements and products business and property investment business. An analysis

of revenue is as follows:

S 755 el e

e i

S 9 A M 9 9 8 A T S o
ST R SEEEETE UOA - BRRAMHTI T -

For the year ended 31 March
WE=ZH =4 —H L4

2025 2024

R THAE R

HK$°000 HK$°000

T#0 TH#IT

Health and beauty supplements and products DR R 5 254 i B i 199,918 230,580
Property investment /B Lia <y 5,130 5,006
Total revenue & 205,048 235,586

The Group’s health and beauty supplements and products business has declined
by approximately 13.3% from approximately HK$230.6 million for the Last
Corresponding Period to approximately HK$199.9 million for the Reporting
Period, which was driven by the weak local retail market conditions and consumer
sentiment in Hong Kong and Macau as well as the reduction of spending power

and the change in consumption pattern of visitors.

Revenue from the property investment business slightly increased by approximately
2.0% from approximately HK$5.0 million for the Last Corresponding Period to
approximately HK$5.1 million for the Reporting Period. This change primarily
reflected the additional rental income from a short-term lease of a property during

the Reporting Period.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Cost of sales and gross profit

The Group’s cost of sales primarily comprises cost of raw materials and packaging
materials, staff costs related to production and subcontracting costs. The cost of
sales of the Group decreased by approximately 8.4% to approximately HK$47.1
million for the Reporting Period (Last Corresponding Period: approximately
HK$51.4 million). The decrease was primarily due to the combined effects of the
drop in revenue and the increase in production staff costs during the Reporting
Period. The Group’s overall gross profit margin remained relatively stable with a
slight decrease of approximately 1.2% to approximately 77.0% for the Reporting
Period (Last Corresponding Period: approximately 78.2%).

Selling and distribution expenses

The Group’s selling and distribution expenses principally consist of advertising
and promotion expenses, engagements of artistes to endorse the Group’s
products, commission expenses to promoters and exhibition expenses. The selling
and distribution expenses of the Group decreased by approximately 2.6% to
approximately HK$53.1 million for the Reporting Period (Last Corresponding
Period: approximately HK$54.5 million). The decrease was primarily due to the
decrease in commission expenses to promoters which was in line with the drop in

sales in retail shops with the presence of promoters.

Administrative expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses mainly comprise salaries and benefits to
employees, rent for special designated counters, consultancy fees, depreciation of
property, plant and equipment, depreciation of right-of-use assets and amortisation
of intangible assets. The administrative expenses of the Group decreased by
approximately 1.7% to approximately HK$102.0 million for the Reporting Period
(Last Corresponding Period: approximately HK$103.8 million). The decrease was
mainly due to (i) the decrease in rent from special designated counters located at
the stores of a renowned retail chain distributor which is in line with the decline
in sales from the special designated counters as the rent calculation is related to
the gross sale proceeds from special designated counters and (ii) the adoption of

cautious cost control measures over back-office expenses.

Fair value change of investment properties

The Group recorded a fair value loss of investment properties of approximately
HK$30.4 million during the Reporting Period (Last Corresponding Period:
approximately HK$15.0 million) as a result of the ongoing deterioration of
property market condition in Hong Kong. During the Reporting Period, the fair
value of the investment properties was determined with reference to the valuation
reports prepared by Ravia Global Appraisal Advisory Limited, an independent

professional qualified valuer not connected to the Group.

o B il i S50 M

S8 AR KB

74 45 B 1) 8 B BAS TG M R B A b A
A BEA AN E THA ZA A o AREH
A U ] ) i B AR I8 49 8.49% 22 447,100,000
Wt (KR £951,400,000% 90) ° &b £
B p R A P 25 0D R EE B TR
BB o AR B AR AR T >
G SR PR 491.2% E 4177.0% (= 4EF ) - 4
78.2%) °

S8 K gy 8P 3

A 45 [ 8 B K oy 6 B S T B A R T E (8B
o WEEEEE AR AL EE BB - AT
B 800 1 4 BA S R B S o AR SR B R
B B8 T 438 B S b £92.6% Z £953,100,0003 7T
(FHERM : 454,500,000 #IT) © > E 8l
8 B 4 B S > B HEB B 00T K B
B3

BB X

AL R AT BUBH 3 TR AR B e AR A - 4R
A e E AR 4 - SRR - W RE K
REPT8E ~ (00FRHE T LA R TR e o
A A 7 S T B9 AT BB S #91.7% 2 4
102,000,000 #5 7T ( 2 4F [7] 1 = %9 103,800,000 #5
TG o WP T B d R Q)7 A 3 4 AR L EH A B T
PR i 1) 4 A 6 AT A R i b > A% ek B
¥ BN B BB D MY > R A EEE T
S BRSP4 o S 1Y) A B AR B % (i) 394 B e
N BA S AR BRI BLAS H 1 it o

BEWHEZ NP

A WS ST LR AR 2 o DABORSE B R
1] Bk A5 150 W 207 {8 s 15 49 30,400,000 75 T
(EAERI © £915,000,0009 7C) © ARG IR > #%
W) 2 N TR RRA T 2 P B 42 (B0 4 B A 1) 98
37 BLE A RS A (R A H B R Bk A R A PR )
AR A E R AR o

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited JE & B4 B (5 1% ) A R 2 ¥ 13



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

o BRI i B 50

Finance costs

The Group’s finance costs mainly represent interest on bank borrowings, interest
on amount due to a shareholder and interest on lease liabilities. The finance costs
decreased by approximately 11.5% from approximately HK$7.8 million for the
Last Corresponding Period to approximately HK$6.9 million for the Reporting
Period which was mainly due to the reduction in the average balance of amount

due to a shareholder during the Reporting Period.

Taxation

Income tax expense primarily consists of profits tax for current year and
movements in deferred tax assets/liabilities. The overall decrease in taxation was
principally due to the net effect of the decrease in current tax which is in line with
the overall decrease in taxable operating profits of subsidiaries of the Company
and the increase in deferred tax expense from accelerated tax depreciation for the

Reporting Period.

(Loss)/profit for the year and Adjusted Net (Loss)/Profit

As a result of the above factors, the Group recorded a loss for the Reporting
Period of approximately HK$36.2 million (Last Corresponding Period: profit
of approximately HK$0.5 million) and the Adjusted Net Loss of approximately
HK$5.8 million (Last Corresponding Period: Adjusted Net Profit of approximately
HK$15.6 million).

The Adjusted Net (Loss)/Profit is arrived at by deducting the unrealised item
relating to the fair value change of investment properties from the (loss)/profit for
the year attributable to owners of the Company. The management of the Group
considers that this adjusted item is not related to our daily operations and does
not track such adjusted item as key operating or financial metrics internally when
reviewing our performance. Therefore, by eliminating the impact of such item in
the calculation of Adjusted Net (Loss)/Profit, it could better reflect our underlying
operating performance and could better facilitate the comparison of operating

performance from year to year.

The Adjusted Net (Loss)/Profit is not the measures of performance under HKFRS
Accounting Standards. These measures do not represent, and should not be used
as substitutes for, net (loss)/profit or cash flows from operations as determined
in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards. These measures are not
necessarily an indication of whether cash flow will be sufficient to fund our cash
requirements. In addition, our definitions of these measures may not be comparable

to other similarly titled measures used by other companies.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

INTANGIBLE ASSETS
As at 31 March 2025, the intangible assets of the Group amounted to approximately
HK$19.3 million (2024: approximately HK$16.3 million). Intangible assets mainly

include computer softwares and club membership.

FINANCIAL POSITION AND LIQUIDITY

As at 31 March 2025, cash and bank balances of the Group amounted to
approximately HK$5.5 million (2024: approximately HK$12.7 million) and
the current ratio (current assets divided by current liabilities) of the Group was
approximately 0.5 times as at 31 March 2025 (2024: approximately 0.5 times).
The Group’s gearing ratio, representing total borrowings (including bank and
other borrowings and amount due to a shareholder) divided by total equity, was
approximately 87.9% as at 31 March 2025 (2024: approximately 79.8%). The
increase in gearing ratio was primarily due to the decrease in total equity as at the
end of the Reporting Period. In view of the Group’s current level of cash and bank
balances, funds generated internally from operations and the unutilised banking
facilities available, the Board is confident that the Group will have sufficient
resources to meet its financial needs for its operations. As at 31 March 2025,
the Group had unutilised general banking facilities and loan facilities provided
by a shareholder and executive director of approximately HK$10 million (2024:
approximately HK$40 million) and HK$18 million (2024: Nil) respectively.

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’s objectives in managing capital are to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return
to the shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The
management of the Group reviews the capital structure by considering the cost
of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. In view of this, the
Group will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of dividends,
new share issues as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt
as it sees fit and appropriate. The Group also monitors capital on the basis of the
net gearing ratio. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged throughout the

Reporting Period.

EMPLOYEE INFORMATION
As at 31 March 2025, the Group had 237 employees (2024: 247). For the Reporting
Period, staff costs including Directors’ remuneration were approximately HK$75.5

million (Last Corresponding Period: approximately HK$78.8 million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

o BRI i B 50

REMUNERATION POLICY

The Group’s directors and senior management receive compensation in the form
of salaries, benefits in kind and discretionary bonuses with reference to salaries
paid by comparable companies, time commitment and the performance of the
Group. The Group also reimburses them for expenses, which are necessarily and
reasonably incurred for the provision of services to the Group or executing their
functions in relation to the operations of the Group. In addition, the Company
adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to Directors (excluding independent
non-executive Directors) and eligible participants, the particulars of which are
set out in the sections headed “SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS” to
the report of the directors and in the note 38 to the audited consolidated financial
statements in this annual report. The Group regularly reviews and determines
the remuneration and compensation package of the Group’s directors and senior
management, by reference to, among other things, market level of salaries paid by
comparable companies, the respective responsibilities of the Group’s directors and

the performance of the Group.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group considers its employees the key to sustainable business growth and
also recognises its employees as its valuable assets. The Group considers that it is
crucial to maintain a competitive remuneration package and fringe benefits for our
potential and existing employees. In this regard, the Group provides comprehensive
remuneration package includes salary, discretionary bonuses and other cash
subsidies to attract, motivate and retain appropriate and suitable employees to
serve the Group. In general, the Group determines employee salaries based on
each employee’s qualifications, position and seniority. The Group has designed an
annual review system to assess the performance of our employees, which forms the
basis of our decisions with respect to salary raises, bonuses and promotions. The
Group also provides on-the-job training and development opportunities to enhance

its employees’ career development and learning.

The Group is committed to providing high-quality products and services to its
customers. Through on-site visits and major customers satisfaction surveys,
the Group reaches out for its existing and prospective customers to understand
their needs and collect their feedback for identifying areas of improvement and

advancing the Group to achieve excellence.

The Group values mutually beneficial long-term relationships with its suppliers.
Their steady supply of raw materials and products in high quality are crucial for the
Group. The Group is committed to developing stable and sustainable partnership

among its suppliers.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

OUTLOOK

The Hong Kong retail industry is expected to face various challenges in the
financial year ending 31 March 2026 (“FY2025/26”). With the changing
consumption patterns of local residents and tourists in recent years, the retail
industry is undergoing a transformation, making the business environment continue
to be fraught with challenges. Businesses will therefore need to navigate a complex

landscape marked by intense competition and shifting demand.

To cope with the challenging and complex business environment for retailers in
Hong Kong, the Group will keep pace with the market trends, continue to actively
pursuing new revenue sources, and enhance its market presence in the health and
beauty supplement segment by further expanding its sales channels and launching
new products to cater for the emerging demands for new customers from different
ages and gender. With the aim of embracing our mission of “Being the Guardian of
Your Health” to better serve our customers, our high calibre product development
team will endeavor to conduct research and development to introduce a diverse
range of new and upgraded products to meet the evolving demands of our target

markets.

The Group is proactively preparing to establish a new brand dedicated to premium
health and beauty supplements, which will be launched through a renowned
distribution channel in Hong Kong in FY2025/26. This initiative aims to offer
a diverse range of products that appeal to individuals who are busy in balancing
work and family roles, thereby attracting new customers and generating additional
revenue streams. By developing distinct brand identities, we seek to invigorate
our presence in this challenging business environment. This strategic move
will not only diversify our distribution channels but also enhance the Group’s

competitiveness, positioning us for sustainable growth in the future.

The Hong Kong property market is expected to remain challenging, particularly for
commercial and shop premises, which continue to experience fluctuation in market
demand and rental income. We will continue to focus on prudent approach on
managing the property investment segment in order to enhance the occupancy rates

and sustain stable rental income to the Group.

In this rapid changing business environment with persistent macroeconomic
uncertainties, the Group will maintain a cautious and financial prudent approach,
that is characterized by cost optimization in the coming year. Starting from
FY2025/26, the Group has implemented defensive measures including cautious
cost control on procurement, advertising and back-office expenses. The Group
believes that such cost control measures will mitigate the adverse financial impact

brought by the challenging economic environment.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

o BRI i B 50

Looking forward, the Group will closely monitor the dynamic economic
environment and will be agile and responsive in navigating the changing retail
landscape in Hong Kong. The Group is ready to forge ahead and strive to
consolidate its position in the industry by grasping every new business opportunity

to create higher and long-term value for our shareholders.

MATERIAL DISPOSALS OR ACQUISITIONS

There was no material disposal and acquisition of subsidiaries, associated

companies and joint ventures during the Reporting Period.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

As at 31 March 2025, there was no significant investment with a carrying amount

accounting for 5% or more of the Group’s total assets.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group did not have material contingent liabilities as at 31 March 2025.

CAPITAL COMMITMENT

Save as disclosed in note 31 to the audited consolidated financial statements in
this annual report, the Group did not have significant capital commitment as at 31
March 2025.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

Presently, the Group does not have a hedging policy with respect to the foreign
exchange exposure. The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through sales
and purchases, which give rise to receivables and payables and cash balances that
are denominated in foreign currencies, other than the functional currency of the
operations to which the transactions relate. The currencies giving rise to this risk
are primarily United States dollar and Renminbi. In order to manage and minimise
the foreign currency risk, the Group’s management will continue to manage
and monitor the foreign currency exposure to ensure appropriate measures are

implemented in a timely and effective manner.

CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had secured bank borrowings of approximately
HK$119.0 million (2024: approximately HK$111.0 million). The banking facilities
are secured by the Group’s leasehold land and buildings and investment properties
with carrying amount of approximately HK$7.2 million (2024: approximately
HK$7.5 million) and approximately HK$176.7 million (2024: approximately
HK$207.1 million) respectively as at 31 March 2025.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

There is no significant event occurring after the Reporting Period and up to the

date of this annual report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Based on the Group’s risk management system, the Group has examined all of the
possible risks and uncertainties that might affect the Group and considered that the

most important risks and uncertainties would include:

Regulatory risks

The change in the regulatory policies and laws in respect of the monitoring and
control of food and health supplement products which include Chinese medicinal
ingredients may impact on the future development of health supplements industry.
If the Group fails to keep up and comply with these changes, such factors would

affect the Group’s success.

The Group has closely monitored the regulatory changes, strengthened its
interpretation and analysis capability of regulatory policies and would adjust

strategies in advance to cope with the ever-changing operating environment.

Business risks

The Group’s health and beauty supplements and products business is closely
related to the economic conditions of Hong Kong. Slowing economic growth
or a recession may affect consumers’ preferences and spending which in turn
could have a material adverse effect on the Group’s business, operating results
and financial conditions. In response to these challenges, the Group will closely
monitor the changing economic conditions and also actively implement effective
measures to control the administration and production costs. The Group will also
continue to roll out more new products and open up more distribution channels,

and diversify its business to improve the Group’s overall performance.

The Group’s property investment business depends on the performance of the
property market in Hong Kong. Any downturn in the Hong Kong property market
may materially and adversely affect the financial position, operations, businesses
and prospects of the Group and may lead to fair value loss of the Group’s
investment properties. The property market in Hong Kong can be affected by many
factors, including but not limited to, changes in Hong Kong’s economic, political,
social and legal environment and changes in Hong Kong’s fiscal and monetary
policy, all of which are beyond the control of the Group. The Group will continue
to implement prudent asset management strategies to maintain occupancy levels

and optimise rental returns.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

PN A B

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. Cheung Siu Fai, aged 55, is the chairman of the Board and an executive
Director. Mr. Cheung joined the Group on 24 January 2022. Mr. Cheung holds a
Master Degree in Business Administration from The Chinese University of Hong
Kong and a Bachelor Degree in Electronic Engineering from The Hong Kong
Polytechnic University. Mr. Cheung founded Hammer Capital Group Limited in
2013. Prior to founding Hammer Capital Group Limited, he was the director in
Capital Markets of Merrill Lynch (Asia Pacific) Limited (“Merrill Lynch”). Prior
to his position at Merrill Lynch, Mr. Cheung was the Head of Strategic Equity
Solutions of Asia Pacific of Citigroup Global Markets Asia Limited. Mr. Cheung
had also held key positions in various major investment banks in Asia Pacific such
as Calyon Corporate & Investment Bank (presently known as Crédit Agricole
Corporate & Investment Bank) and Jardine Fleming Holdings Limited (a member
of JPMorgan Chase & Co.). Mr. Cheung is currently the chairman and executive
director of Great Wall Terroir Holdings Limited (stock code: 524) (“Great Wall”),
the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Ms. So Tsz Kwan, aged 43, is the non-executive Director. Ms. So joined the
Group on 14 September 2023. She has 21 years of experience in audit and
investment management. Since 2018, Ms. So has been serving as vice president
at Ruima Hong Kong Limited, a company controlled by Ms. Leung Lisa, a
substantial shareholder of the Company, which provides research and consultancy
services on customized structured financing and corporate solutions. From 2011 to
2018, Ms. So worked as a manager, who was responsible for project management
of the water sector at NWS Infrastructure Management (HK) Limited, a subsidiary
of NWS Holdings Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange) (stock code: 659). She had also previously worked at Grant Thornton
and PricewaterhouseCoopers for over 6 years. Ms. So graduated from the Hong
Kong Baptist University with a Bachelor’s Degree in Business Administration
(Accounting) in 2004 and has been a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants since 2010. Ms. So was an independent non-
executive director of the Company during the period from 24 January 2022 to 23
June 2022 and alternate director of Mr. Cheung Siu Fai, chairman of the Board and
executive Director, for the period from 14 September 2023 to 14 October 2023.
She was also an independent non-executive director of MIE Holdings Corporation
(a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange) (stock code: 1555)
during the period from 31 August 2021 to 4 April 2022.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau, aged 39, is an independent non-executive
Director, the chairman of the audit committee and a member of the nomination
committee and the remuneration committee of the Company. He joined the
Company on 24 October 2016 and was appointed as the chairman of the audit
committee of the Company on 6 December 2016. Mr. Leung is currently a senior
director of Global Business Development at TMF Group, a leading global services
provider of high-value business services to clients operating and investing globally.
Before joining TMF Group, he served as the financial controller of an international
investment management company focusing on the market of the Greater China.
Mr. Leung has worked for different international audit firms including KPMG
and PricewaterhouseCoopers over the past eight years from October 2008. Mr.
Leung obtained a degree of Bachelor of Commerce (Accounting and Finance)
from Monash University in Australia in 2008 and has been a member of the CPA

Australia since 2011.

Ms. Dong Jian Mei, aged 51, is an independent non-executive Director and a
member of each of the audit committee, the remuneration committee and the
nomination committee of the Company. Ms. Dong joined the Company on 1 July
2022. She has approximately 26 years of experience in the field of natural resources
economics and business management. Since January 1996, Ms. Dong has been
working as a researcher at the Chinese Academy of Land & Resource Economics
(9 B B & VR 48 % BF 9T BE ) and was mainly responsible for researching on
the reform and development of the national geological exploration industry and
management of geological data. In 2018, she has received a Certificate of Senior
Qualification issued by the Chinese Academy of Land & Resource Economics. Ms.
Dong obtained a Bachelor of Economics and a Master of Economics from Renmin
University of China (4[] A [& K £) in 2004 and 2011 respectively. Ms. Dong
has also obtained a Certificate of Accounting Professional in the PRC in 1999. Ms.

Dong is currently an independent non-executive director of Great Wall.
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Mr. Lam Chik Shun Marcus, aged 47, is an independent non-executive Director,
the chairman of each of the nomination committee and the remuneration committee
and member of the audit committee of the Company. Mr. Lam joined the Company
on 1 October 2024. He has more than 20 years of experience in the field of finance
industry, with a strong focus on financial management and investment. Mr. Lam
joined the group of Perennial Energy Holdings Limited (a company listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange) (stock code: 2798) (“Perennial Energy”)
from April 2017 to May 2022. He was appointed as executive director and chief
strategy officer of Perennial Energy in March 2018 and April 2019 respectively.
Mr. Lam played a key role in advising the chairman and the board of Perennial
Energy on corporate strategies, mergers and acquisitions, and overall business
direction. He also collaborated closely with the chief financial officer in overseeing
the financial management and planning of the group. From February 2020 to
March 2021, Mr. Lam was an independent non-executive director of Great Wall.
Prior to his tenure at Perennial Energy, Mr. Lam spent over 12 years at TPG
Capital, Limited, specializing in investments across the Asia-Pacific region. He
holds a Bachelor’s degree in Commerce from the University of British Columbia
and a Master of Business Administration (MBA) from Warwick Business School.

Mr. Lam is a Chartered Financial Analyst charter holder.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Yeung Wai Lok Raymond, aged 57, is the chief executive officer of the
Company. He has extensive managing experience in food and beverage business.
Mr. Yeung joined the Company as the deputy chief executive officer on 25
September 2023 and has been redesignated as the chief executive officer of the
Company since 20 January 2024. Mr. Yeung is mainly responsible for the overall
strategic planning and operations of the Group’s business. Prior to joining the
Group, Mr. Yeung has worked as a restaurants manager of a private club managed
by a renowned property developer in Hong Kong from 1995 to 2017. Thereafter,
Mr. Yeung joined another private club as club manager, which was operated by
Darcy & Liz Limited and he worked as a general manager of such company from
2020 to 2024. Darcy & Liz Limited is a company controlled by Ms. Leung Lisa, a

substantial shareholder of the Company. Mr. Yeung is a cousin of Ms. Leung Lisa.
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Ms. Chan Yuk Chi, aged 38, is the chief financial officer of the Group and the
company secretary and authorised representative of the Company. Ms. Chan
joined the Group on 3 April 2018 and being appointed as company secretary
and authorised representative of the Company with effect from 21 October 2021
and chief financial officer of the Group with effect from 1 January 2024. She is
responsible for overseeing the accounting, financial reporting and management,
treasury, corporate governance matters and company secretarial affairs of the
Group. Ms. Chan has over 17 years of professional experience in auditing,
accounting, financial management and company secretarial matters. Prior to joining
the Group, Ms. Chan worked in an international audit firm from June 2008 to
April 2018 and her last position was audit manager. During her time as an external
auditor, Ms. Chan was responsible for various audit of listed companies, merger
and acquisition and initial public offering assignments. Ms. Chan is a Certified
Public Accountant (Practising) registered under the Accounting and Financial
Reporting Council Ordinance (Cap.588), a fellow member of The Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants and an associate member of The Institute
of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales. She is also a Chartered Secretary,
a Chartered Governance Professional and a fellow member of both The Hong
Kong Chartered Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute in
the United Kingdom. Ms. Chan obtained a Bachelor of Business Administration
degree in accounting from Lingnan University in 2008 and a Master of Corporate

Governance degree from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2020.

Mr. Tsang Chi Wai Rock, aged 61, is the chief compliance officer of the Group.
He is responsible for overseeing the compliance function of the Group. Mr.
Tsang joined the Group on 3 May 2022. Mr. Tsang obtained a master degree in
professional accounting from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University in 2001.
Mr. Tsang is an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a fellow member of The Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants. Mr. Tsang has over 30 years’ experience in the accounting and
finance sector including an international accounting firm and companies listed on

the Stock Exchange.

Ms. Wong Suet Yin, aged 45, is the marketing director of the Group. Ms. Wong
joined the Group on 16 May 2022. She specializes in brand management, product
promotion, product design, customer relationship management (CRM), and public
relations, with a strong commitment to enhancing the visibility of the “Royal
Medic” and its affiliated brands. Ms. Wong holds a Master of Arts in Marketing
from Brittany Université (BU) and Universidad Catdlica San Antonio de Murcia
(UCAM). With over 20 years of experience in public relations, she has worked
with several reputable state-owned enterprises and Hong Kong-listed companies.
Her expertise includes planning and facilitating investor and media relations, as
well as coordinating numerous large-scale corporate events. In addition to her
public relations background, Ms. Wong has extensive marketing experience.
She has successfully coordinated and implemented large-scale marketing and
promotional events, brand launches, media campaigns, and online collaborations

with celebrities for various well-known brands, banks, and organizations.
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Ms. Yeung Wun Ting, aged 42, is the commercial director of the Group. Ms.
Yeung joined the Group on 1 June 2022, and she is responsible for key accounts
and developing new and potential business channels. Ms. Yeung worked for a
few well-known and branded department stores for over 13 years, and she has
extensive experience in managing retail business & operations, initiating sales and
marketing campaigns, coordinating a number of broad-scale refurbishment projects
and bringing in new and affordable brands mixes to target customers. Prior to
joining the Group, Ms. Yeung has worked as a Business Development Manager in
a popular food & beverage company which operates as a chain store in Hong Kong
from mid 2019 to mid 2022. She has rich experience in planning and implementing

multiple new business channels and activities for different brands in the Company.

Mr. Fung Chin Yeung, aged 37, is the production & supply chain director of
the Group. Mr. Fung joined the Group on 28 May 2012, and he is responsible
for overseeing and leading all levels of supply chain functions. Mr. Fung holds a
Bachelor of Science in Food and Nutritional Sciences Programme and a Master of
Science in Operation and Supply Chain Management, and he is a member of the
Beta Gamma Sigma, the International Business Honor Society. Prior to joining
the Group, Mr. Fung worked in a well-known food company from 2010 to 2012,
and he was responsible for quality management. Mr. Fung has over 12 years of
experience in research and development, procurement, production and quality

assurance, in food and Chinese medicine industry.

Mr. Yip Ho Kai, aged 45, is the head of product and channel development of
the Group. Mr. Yip joined the Group on 23 April 2025 and is responsible for the
development of new products and sales channels. Mr. Yip has over 20 years working
experiences in sales and marketing, business development and product development
in health supplement industry. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Yip has worked as a
general manager in a global e-commerce company responsible for health supplement
category development. Mr. Yip obtained a Bachelor of Science (Food & Nutrition)
in The University of Hong Kong in 2002 and a Postgraduate Certificate in Chinese
Medicine in HKU School of Professional and Continuing Education in 2005.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

The Directors present the report and the audited consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in the sale, marketing and distribution of health
and beauty supplements and products and property investment in Hong Kong.
There was no significant change in nature of the Group’s principal activities during
the year ended 31 March 2025. The principal activities of its major subsidiaries are
detailed in note 39 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this annual

report.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE

A fair review of the business of the Company and a discussion and analysis of
the Group’s performance during the year ended 31 March 2025 as required by
the Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), including a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Group and indication of likely future development of the Group’s business, the
material factors underlying its results and financial position, are provided in the
“Management Discussion and Analysis” from pages 9 to 19 and “Chairman’s
Statement” from pages 7 to 8 respectively, particulars of important events affecting
the Company that have occurred since the end of the financial year ended 31 March
2025, if any, can also be found in the abovementioned sections and the “Notes to
the Consolidated Financial Statements”, the outlook of the Company’s business is
discussed throughout this annual report including the “Chairman’s Statement” and
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this annual report, all these sections

form part of this report of the Directors.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY

The Group is committed to sustainable development and delivering our high quality
products in a manner that minimal impact is created by our business activities to
the environment. The Company has engaged professional advisers to review and
advise on the environmental, social and governance policies of the Group, and the
Group has committed to formulate, review and evaluate the performance of its
environmental protection policies from time to time. More details on the relevant
policies and the performance of the Group are disclosed in the “Environmental,

Social and Governance Report” from pages 70 to 111 of this annual report.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2025 are set out in

note 39 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this annual report.
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RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025 are set out in the

audited consolidated financial statements in this annual report on pages 118 to 119.

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year
ended 31 March 2025 (2024: Nil) in accordance with the dividend policy of the
Company.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the Entitlement of the Attendance of 2025 AGM

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Friday, 29 August
2025 to Wednesday, 3 September 2025 (both dates inclusive), for the purpose of
determining the eligibility of shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders™)
to attend and vote at the annual general meeting of the Company to be held on
Wednesday, 3 September 2025 (the “2025 AGM”), during which no transfer of
shares of the Company will be registered. In order to qualify for attending and
voting at the 2025 AGM, all completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant
share certificates of the Company must be lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong
branch share registrar and transfer agent, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F,
Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong, not later than 4:30 p.m.
on Thursday, 28 August 2025.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for the past five
financial years is set out on page 220 of this annual report. This summary does
not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements of the Group in this

annual report.

SEGMENT INFORMATION
Segment information of the Group are set out in the section headed “Business
Review” and note 6 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this annual

report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment and investment
properties of the Group during the year ended 31 March 2025 are set out in notes
17 and 16 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this annual report,

respectively.
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TAX RELIEF

The Company is not aware of any relief from taxation available to the Shareholders

by reason of their holding of the shares of the Company.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year ended 31
March 2025 are set out in note 30 to the audited consolidated financial statements

in this annual report.

Pursuant to a written resolution of the Company passed on 24 September 2013, the
Company conditionally adopted a share option scheme, which took effect on 11
October 2013 (the “2013 Share Option Scheme”). In light of the amendments to
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing
Rules”) relating to share schemes of listed issuers with effect from 1 January
2023, a new share option scheme was approved by the Shareholders at its annual
general meeting held on 13 September 2023 and adopted by the Company upon a
listing approval from the Stock Exchange on 27 September 2023 (the “2023 Share
Option Scheme”) in replacement of the 2013 Share Option Scheme.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, no share option was granted, exercised,
cancelled, lapsed or outstanding under the 2023 Share Option Scheme.

A summary of the 2023 Share Option Scheme are as follows:

Summary of the 2023 Share Option Scheme

1 Purpose of the 2023 Share Option Scheme
To enable the Group to grant share options to the eligible participants as
incentives or rewards for their contribution to the Group and/or to enable
the Group to recruit and retain high-calibre employees and attract human

resources that are valuable to the Group.

2. Participants of the 2023 Share Option Scheme
Eligible participants of the 2023 Share Option Scheme include:

(a)  Employee Participants — Director(s) (excluding independent non-
executive Directors) and employee(s) (whether full time or part time)
of the Group (including persons who are granted the share options
under the 2023 Share Option Scheme as an inducement to enter into

employment contracts with any member of the Group);
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(b)

(©

(a)

(b)

(©)

(d)

Related Entity Participants — Director(s) and employee(s) of the
holding companies, fellow subsidiaries or associated companies of

the Company; and

Service Providers — person(s) who provide services to the Group on
a continuing or recurring basis in its ordinary and usual course of
business which are in the interests of the long-term growth of the

Group.

The number of share options available for grant under the mandate of
the 2023 Share Option Scheme as at 1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025
were 310,789,344 and 310,789,344, respectively.

The number of share options available for grant under the service
provider sublimit of the 2023 Share Option Scheme as at 1 April 2024
and 31 March 2025 were 31,078,934 and 31,078,934, respectively.

The number of shares that may be issued in respect of share options
granted under the 2023 Share Option Scheme during the year ended
31 March 2025 divided by the weighted average number of shares of

the relevant class in issue for the year was nil.

As at the date of this annual report, the total number of shares
available for issue under the 2023 Share Option Scheme was
310,789,344 and the percentage of the issued shares that it represents

as was 10%.

Maximum entitlement of each participant under the 2023 Share Option

Scheme

The total number of issued shares which may fall to be issued upon exercise

of the share options and the share options or awards granted under any other

share scheme(s) of the Company (including both exercised or outstanding

options but excluding any share options and awards lapsed in accordance

with the scheme rules of the 2023 Share Option Scheme) to each grantee

in any 12-month period up to and including the date of such grant shall not

exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company for the time being.

Annual Report 2024/2025 4§

(b)) HHEBESEE - ARNFZERA
A~ [ AR PR ] m O N R
KMIEE 5 J&

(c) M HEMERT — A H W K — e ps i fe
Hh R A R Ty A G T B AR B T
AEE R RA R AL -

() MRoFTDUENH—H R R A
ZH=+—H  ZFE AR
HEIFZHE T W] 43 Al % 141 310,789,344 103 K
310,789,344173 S R AEE o

(b)y AT PUFENH—H R E AR
Z“H=E+—H ZE SRR
T 10 s AL 7 0 T R AR W 40
PZ H131,078,934 4% 531,078,934 17 1§ i
@o

© MRE-E-RESAStHILE
B T R N R T R
S FRCHE B 0 T 358 1 4y W Ik LA
R 9645 M 4 47 i 0 T P-4
B -

(d)  AAEHRHEW > — B SAER RS
B R AT BT B B 488 310,789,344
B HT AL B BT E A A
10% o

# B R AR IR R R Al
FEhEzs LR

AT 124 H A J B 2 A4% A B s A
(BFEZH) > SR AT IR LA A
A Al S R RRE 5 ) T A Y S P s B
(BLFE AT R SORAT I IR > AT
MR =5 — AR RERORER T 3 0 = B B 2R
W) A ] S P R 8 iy ) 4% VT REHE AT 1Y 8B AT
R 48 RIS AR A R R IR O AT AR
B91% o



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Period within which the share option may be exercised by the grantee
under the 2023 Share Option Scheme

The share options for the time being outstanding may be exercised in whole
or in part at any time during the period which the option may be exercised
by the grantee, which shall be determined and notified by the Board to the
grantee but in any event shall not be more than 10 years from the offer date

of that share option.

Vesting period of share options granted under the 2023 Share Option
Scheme
The vesting period for the share options shall be determined by the Board

and, in any case, shall not be less than 12 months.

Price payable on application or acceptance of the share option and the
period within which payments or calls must or may be made or loans
for such purposes must be repaid

A non-refundable remittance of HK$1.00 shall be paid by an eligible
participant in favour of the Company on acceptance of an offer of the share
option within such time as may be specified in the offer (which shall not be

later than 21 days from the offer date).

Basis of determining the exercise price of options granted

The subscription price in respect of any share option shall, subject to any
adjustments made in relation to any alteration in the capital structure of the
Company, be at the discretion of the Board, provided that it shall be at least
the highest of:

(a)  the closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the offer date, which must be a

business day;

(b)  the average closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business
days immediately preceding the offer date; and

(c)  the nominal value of the share.

The 2023 Share Option Scheme remains in force for 10 years from 27

September 2023 unless otherwise amended or terminated.
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PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, redeemed or sold
any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31 March 2025 (2024:
Nil).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s articles of
association (the “Articles of Association”) and the Companies Act of the Cayman
Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis

to the existing Shareholders.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Save as disclosed in the above respective paragraph regarding “SHARE CAPITAL
AND SHARE OPTIONS” and others, if any, as disclosed in this annual report,
there was no other equity-linked agreement entered into by the Group during the

Reporting Period.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the
Reporting Period are set out in the audited consolidated statement of changes in
equity on page 122 and note 40 to the audited consolidated financial statements in

this annual report, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2025, the Company’s reserves available for distribution to the
Shareholders, calculated in accordance with the provisions of the Cayman Islands’
legislation, is nil (2024: Nil).

PARTICULARS OF BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank and other borrowings of the Group as at 31 March 2025 are set

out in note 26 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this annual report.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors during the year ended 31 March 2025 and up to the date of this

annual report were:

Executive Director
Mr. Cheung Siu Fai (Chairman)

Non-executive Director
Ms. So Tsz Kwan

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau

Ms. Dong Jian Mei

Mr. Lam Chik Shun Marcus (appointed on 1 October 2024)
Mr. Liu Ying Shun (resigned with effect from 1 October 2024)

The biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 20 to 22 of this

annual report.

DIRECTORS’ ROTATION AND RE-ELECTION

Mr. Cheung Siu Fai and Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau, being the executive
Director and the independent non-executive Director respectively, will retire by
rotation from the Board at the 2025 AGM and being eligible, offer themselves to
be re-elected as Directors by the Shareholders at the 2025 AGM in accordance
with the Articles of Association and the Listing Rules.

Mr. Lam Chik Shun Marcus was appointed as independent non-executive Director
with effect from 1 October 2024. Mr. Lam shall retire from the Board at the 2025
AGM in accordance with Article 83(3) of Articles of Association and, being
eligible, offer himself for re-election at the 2025 AGM.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE AGREEMENTS

The Company has entered into service agreements with each of the Directors for
an initial term of three years and renewed a service agreement with an executive
Director with no fixed term of service unless and until terminated in accordance
with the terms and conditions specified in the service agreement. The terms of
office of all Directors are subject to (i) retirement by rotation from the Board at
least once every three years at the conclusion of annual general meeting; (ii) at
least one-third of the Directors for the time being shall retire by rotation from
the Board at the conclusion of each annual general meeting; and (iii) Director(s)
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy during the year shall hold office
until the conclusion of the first annual general meeting of the Company to be held
and then be re-appointed by the Shareholders at the same meeting in accordance

with the Articles of Association and/or the Listing Rules.
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No Director has a service agreement with the Company which is not determinable
by the Company within one year without payment of compensation (other than

statutory compensation).

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE

The Company received written annual confirmations of independence from all
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau, Ms.
Dong Jian Mei and Mr. Lam Chik Shun Marcus, respectively for the year ended
31 March 2025 pursuant to the Listing Rules. The Board and the nomination
committee of the Company considered and agreed all the current independent non-
executive Directors are independent pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, as

amended from time to time.

CHANGES TO INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS
AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Since the date of publication the interim report for the six months ended 30
September 2024 of the Company and up to the date of this annual report, there is
no change in Directors’ and chief executive’s information, which is required to be
disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the Directors shall be indemnified against
all losses and liabilities which they may incur in connection with their duties.
The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance
coverage for the directors and officers of the Group during the year ended 31
March 2025.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
REMUNERATION AND FIVE INDIVIDUALS WITH
THE HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

Details of the emoluments of the Directors and the five individuals with the highest
emoluments disclosed on a named basis and/or by band respectively, are set out in
notes 10 to 11 to the audited consolidated financial statements in this annual report,

respectively.
Details of the remuneration of the senior management disclosed by band are set

out under the paragraph headed “Remuneration Committee” under section headed

“Board Committees” in Corporate Governance Report in this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES
AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2025, the interests and short positions of the Directors in the
shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”)) which (i)
are required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (ii)
were recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the SFO; or
(iii) were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the

“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules were as follows:
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Notes:
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(C))

The letters “L” and “S” denote the Director’s long and short position in the shares of the

Company respectively.

Based on the public information of disclosure of interests from the website of the Stock
Exchange (http://www.hkexnews.hk/di/di.htm), with reference to the notices of disclosures
of interests of Leading Virtue Holdings Limited (“Leading Virtue”) and Mr. Cheung Siu
Fai filed with the Stock Exchange on 21 July 2023, 723,242,000 shares of the Company are
held by Leading Virtue, a company wholly-owned by Mr. Cheung Siu Fai. As such, Mr.
Cheung Siu Fai is deemed to be interested in the shares held by Leading Virtue by virtue of
the SFO.

Mr. Cheung Siu Fai, the chairman of the Board (“Chairman”) and an executive Director, is

a beneficial owner of 27,252,000 shares of the Company.

Based on the public information of disclosure of interests from the website of the Stock
Exchange (http://www.hkexnews.hk/di/di.htm), with reference to the notices of disclosures
of interests of Hammer Capital Ventures Limited (“Hammer Capital Ventures”) and
Mr. Cheung Siu Fai filed with the Stock Exchange on 21 July 2023, the short position of
723,242,000 shares of the Company represents the shares lent by Leading Virtue as lender
to Hammer Capital Ventures as borrower pursuant to a securities borrowing and lending
agreement. Hammer Capital Ventures is wholly-owned by Mr. Cheung Siu Fai. As such, Mr.
Cheung Siu Fai is deemed to be interested in the interest held by Hammer Capital Ventures
by virtue of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above and the interests as disclosed under the section headed
“DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES AND DEBENTURES” below,

as at 31 March 2025, none of the Directors or the chief executive of the Company

had any interests or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures

of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part
XV of the SFO) which (i) are required to be notified to the Company and the Stock

Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests

or short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions

of the SFO); or (ii) were recorded in the register required to be kept under Section

352 of the SFO; or (iii) were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock

Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES
AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2025, the number of outstanding share options granted by the
Company under 2023 Share Option Scheme for the Directors to subscribe for
the shares of the Company, as recorded in the register required to be kept under
Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code is set out in the sections headed “SHARE
CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS” and in the note 38 to the audited consolidated

financial statements in this annual report.

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the Reporting Period was the Company,
its subsidiaries, its fellow subsidiaries or its holding companies a party to any
arrangement to enable the Directors, their respective spouses and children under
the age of 18 to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or

debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code, as amended from time to time. Having
made all specific enquiry of all Directors, all the Directors have confirmed they
have complied with the required standards as set out in the Model Code throughout
the Reporting Period and there is no event of non-compliance. Employees of the
Group, who are likely to be in possession of unpublished inside information of the

Company, have been requested to comply with the provisions of the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIALS INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in note 37 to the audited consolidated financial statements in
this annual report and under the section headed “CONNECTED TRANSACTION
AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS”, if any, in this report, no Director
or any entities connected with the Director had a material interest, either directly
or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or contract of significance to the
business of the Group to which the Company, or any of its subsidiaries, its fellow
subsidiaries or its holding companies was a party subsisted at the end of the year or

at any time during the Reporting Period.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2025, according to the register of interests kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO, the interest of the persons, other than the Directors
or the chief executive of the Company, in the shares and underlying shares of the
Company which were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and entered in the register maintained
by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, or otherwise notified to the

Company were as follows:

Interests in the shares of the Company

F AR A 2w e Ay B A B I oy
ZHESE SR A

WoERHAEZA = —H > RS LKk
1155 33645 A%/ T BT A7 RO RE 2 B w0 T > AR A+
(A ) 5 2 sl iR AT BN B BR A ) A A 2 7 R4y
TR BB o BEAT AR BERE 55 B B S X VD
552 T 353 B AR A F) B 58 i L B GREAAR S
TR PR 5 B0 B G 58 336 I T s A7 B it > B
COATHE AN MR T

T AR 2 ] B Ay R 4
Approximate
percentage of interest
Number of in the Company’s

Names of Shareholders Capacity/Nature Nature of interests shares held? issued share capital*
RARAH B EATIRA
IR B4 / A /MR A i 1 e 5 I 3 g H 0 HE i B REAY 43 bl
Leading Virtue Beneficial owner Ordinary shares 723,242,000 (L)® 23.27%
Haa A e
Hammer Capital Ventures Other Ordinary shares 723,242,000 (S)® 23.27%
HoAts R
Ms. Leung Lisa Interest of controlled Ordinary shares 746,044,033 (L) 24.00%
corporation
LR LA SR R AR gl
Hammer Capital Consulting Limited Beneficial owner Ordinary shares 27,240,000 (L) 0.87%
(“Hammer Capital Consulting”)  H# A A il
Prosper Rich Investments Limited Beneficial owner Ordinary shares 718,804,033 (L)® 23.13%
(“Prosper Rich”) Hafa A figilile

£
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The percentage has been adjusted, if any, based on the total number of shares of the

Company in issue as at 31 March 2025 (i.e. 3,107,893,440 shares).

Annual Report 2024/2025 4§

* A WEEREALN AR _F - HE=A=1—HE
BT IR AR (R13,107,893,4401%) 75 H g% (lnfy) -



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

Notes:

(1) The letters “L” and “S” denote the substantial shareholder’s long and short position in the

shares of the Company respectively.

2) Based on the public information of disclosure of interests from the website of the Stock
Exchange (http://www.hkexnews.hk/di/di.htm), with reference to the notices of disclosures
of interests of Leading Virtue and Mr. Cheung Siu Fai filed with the Stock Exchange on
21 July 2023, 723,242,000 shares of the Company are held by Leading Virtue, a company
wholly-owned by Mr. Cheung Siu Fai. As such, Mr. Cheung Siu Fai is deemed to be
interested in the shares held by Leading Virtue by virtue of the SFO.

3) Based on the public information of disclosure of interests from the website of the Stock
Exchange (http://www.hkexnews.hk/di/di.htm), with reference to the notices of disclosures
of interests of Hammer Capital Ventures and Mr. Cheung Siu Fai filed with the Stock
Exchange on 21 July 2023, the short position of 723,242,000 shares of the Company
represents the shares lent by Leading Virtue as lender to Hammer Capital Ventures as
borrower pursuant to a securities borrowing and lending agreement. Hammer Capital
Ventures is wholly-owned by Mr. Cheung Siu Fai. As such, Mr. Cheung Siu Fai is deemed
to be interested in the interest held by Hammer Capital Ventures by virtue of the SFO.

4) Based on the public information of disclosure of interests from the website of the Stock
Exchange (http://www.hkexnews.hk/di/di.htm), with reference to the notices of disclosure
of interests of Hammer Capital Consulting and Ms. Leung Lisa filed with the Stock
Exchange on 21 March 2025, 27,240,000 shares of the Company are held by Hammer
Capital Consulting, a company wholly-owned by Ms. Leung Lisa. As such, Ms. Leung Lisa
is deemed to be interested in the shares held by Hammer Capital Consulting by virtue of the
SFO.

(5) Based on the public information of disclosure of interests from the website of the Stock
Exchange (http://www.hkexnews.hk/di/di.htm), with reference to the notices of disclosure
of interests of Prosper Rich and Ms. Leung Lisa filed with the Stock Exchange on 20 June
2022, 718,804,033 shares of the Company are held by Prosper Rich, a company wholly-
owned by Ms. Leung Lisa. As such, Ms. Leung Lisa is deemed to be interested in the shares
held by Prosper Rich by virtue of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, the Company had not been notified
by any persons (other than the Directors or the chief executive of the Company)
who had interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions
of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.
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COMPETING INTEREST

For the year ended 31 March 2025, save as disclosed, the Directors were not aware
of any business or interest of the Directors and their respective close associates
that compete or may compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the
Group and any other conflict of interest which any such person has or may have

with the Group.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within
the knowledge of the Directors, during the year ended 31 March 2025 and up to
the date of this annual report, there is sufficient public float of the Company’s

securities as required under the Listing Rules.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the aggregate revenue attributable to the
Group’s five largest customers and the largest customer taken together accounted
for approximately 56.1% and 54.6% of the Group’s total revenue for the year,

respectively.

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the aggregate purchases attributable to the
Group’s five largest suppliers and the largest supplier taken together accounted
for approximately 42.1% and 16.8% of the Group’s total purchases for the year,

respectively.

As far as the Directors are aware, neither the Directors, their close associates, nor
those Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than
5% of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in any of the

Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Company was entered into or existed during
the year ended 31 March 2025.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTION AND RELATED
PARTY TRANSACTIONS

During the Reporting Period, the Company and Mr. Cheung Siu Fai, the executive
Director and a substantial shareholder of the Company, entered into a loan
agreement pursuant to which Mr. Cheung Siu Fai agreed to provide unsecured loan
facilities in the principal amount of up to HK$18,000,000 to the Company with
interest accruing at the prevailing Hong Kong Dollar Prime Rate of Bank of China
(Hong Kong) Limited less 2% per annum. The principal and interest accrued under
the loan are repayable on demand. The Company had not utilised the relevant loan
facility during the Reporting Period. Since the above loan facility are conducted on
normal commercial terms or better and are not secured by any assets of the Group,
pursuant to Rule 14A.90 of the Listing Rules, these loans are fully exempt from
the shareholders’ approval, annual review and all disclosure requirements under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Details of the Group’s related party transactions are set out in note 37 to the
audited consolidated financial statements in this annual report. The related
party transactions disclosed under note 37 to the audited consolidated financial
statements fall within the definition of connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and are fully
exempt from shareholders’ approval, annual review and all disclosure requirements
under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other transactions which are required to be
disclosed as continuing connected transactions in accordance with the requirements
of the Listing Rules. The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed
and confirmed that all the continuing connected transactions taken place during
the Reporting Period were (i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group; (ii) on normal commercial terms or better; and (iii) in accordance with
the relevant agreements governing the same on terms that are fair and reasonable
and in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole. The Board confirms that the
Company has complied with the applicable disclosure requirements in accordance
with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

STAFF
As at 31 March 2025, the Group had approximately 237 employees. Salaries

of employees and Directors are determined with reference to their duties and
responsibilities in the Group and are maintained at competitive levels and bonuses
are fixed on a discretionary basis. Other employee benefits include provident fund,
insurance, medical protection, subsidised educational and training programmes as
well as the Company’s 2023 Share Option Scheme.
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PENSION SCHEMES

The pension schemes of the Group are primary in the form of contributions to
Hong Kong’s Mandatory Provident Fund and the PRC statutory public welfare
fund respectively. Details are set out in note 15 to the audited consolidated

financial statements in this annual report.

During the year ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, no contributions were forfeited
by the Group on behalf of its employees who left the scheme prior to vesting fully
in such contributions. Hence, no forfeited contributions were used by the Group to
reduce the existing level of contributions as described in paragraph 26 of Appendix
D2 to the Listing Rules.

DONATIONS

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not make any charitable and other
donations (2024: Nil).

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

Compliance procedures are in place to ensure adherence to applicable laws, rules
and regulations in particular, those have significant impact on the Group. The
Board reviews and monitors the Group’s policies and practices on compliance with
legal and regulatory requirements on a regular basis. Any changes in the applicable
laws, rules and regulations are brought to the attention of relevant employees and

relevant operation units from time to time.

During the Reporting Period, to the best of the Company’s knowledge, the
Company has complied with the requirements under the memorandum of
association of the Company, the Articles of Association, the Listing Rules, the
SFO, Companies Act of the Cayman Islands and other law applicable to the
Company. Details of the Company’s compliance with the code provisions set out
in the Corporate Governance Code contained in the Listing Rules are provided in

the “Corporate Governance Report” from pages 42 to 69 of this annual report.

To protect the privacy of its employees and clients of its products and to safeguard
the interests of its employees, the Group has complied with the requirements of
the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance, the Employment Ordinance, the Minimum
Wage Ordinance and ordinances relating to disability, sex, family status, race
discrimination and occupational safety through established internal policies and/or

procedures.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There is no significant event occurring after the Reporting Period and up to the

date of this annual report.
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AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”) resigned as the independent auditor of the
Company with effect from 22 April 2022 and Moore CPA Limited (“Moore”) was
appointed as the independent auditor of the Company on 25 April 2022 to fill the
casual vacancy following the resignation of Deloitte and was re-appointed on 13

September 2023 and 2 September 2024 respectively.

Save as disclosed above, there has been no change in the independent auditor in

any of the preceding three years.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 have
been audited by Moore, Certified Public Accountants, who will retire and, being

eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the 2025 AGM.

On behalf of the Board
Shunten International (Holdings) Limited

Cheung Siu Fai
Chairman
Hong Kong, 26 June 2025
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company recognises the importance of good corporate governance to the
Company’s growth and has devoted considerable efforts to identifying and
formulating corporate governance practices appropriate to the Company’s needs.
The Company has met the code provisions as set out in Part 2 of the Corporate
Governance Code (as amended from time to time, the “Code”) contained in
Appendix Cl1 to the Listing Rules during the Reporting Period and up to the date of

this annual report.

The Company has complied with the memorandum of association of the Company,
the Articles of Association, the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands, the SFO

and the Listing Rules as well as other laws applicable to the Company.

The Board has conducted an annual review of its corporate governance duties in
accordance with the Code, and considered that the Company’s (i) policies and
practices on corporate governance; (ii) the training and the continuous professional
development of the Directors and senior management of the Company; (iii)
policies and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; (iv)
the code of conduct and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
the Directors; and (v) the compliance with the Code and disclosure in this report,
are adequate and appropriate for the Company in light of its current corporate
strategy. The Company did and will review its corporate governance duties in light
of the changing legal and regulatory requirements as well as the Code from time to

time.
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THE BOARD

Board Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises five (5) Directors, all with
professional backgrounds and/or extensive expertise for the direction and oversight
of the Group’s strategic priorities and public responsibilities. During the Reporting
Period and up to the date of this report, the composition of the Board comprises the

following Directors:

Current Directors
Executive Director
Mr. Cheung Siu Fai (Chairman)

Non-executive Director
Ms. So Tsz Kwan

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau

Ms. Dong Jian Mei

Mr. Lam Chik Shun Marcus'

Former Director
Independent Non-executive Director
Mr. Liu Ying Shun’

Notes:

1. Mr. Lam Chik Shun Marcus was appointed as an independent non-executive Director with
effect from 1 October 2024.

2. Mr. Liu Ying Shun resigned as an independent non-executive Director with effect from 1

October 2024.

The composition, experience, balance of skills, qualifications and diversity on
the Board are regularly reviewed by nomination committee of the Company (the
“Nomination Committee”) to ensure that the Board retains a core of members
with longstanding and deep knowledge of the Group alongside new Directors who

bring fresh perspectives and diverse experience to the Board.
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The biographical details of all the Directors are set out under the section
headed “BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT” in this annual report, which demonstrate a diversity of skills,
expertise, experience and qualifications of the Board members. A list of Directors
identifying their roles, functions and titles is available on the websites of the
Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company (www.shunten.com.hk).
The names of all the Directors were and will be disclosed in all corporate

communications of the Company.

Save as disclosed above and other information disclosed in this annual report,
if any, there is no financial, business, family or other material and/or relevant

relationship between the Board members.

Directors’ Rotation and Re-election

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, at least one-third of the Directors for the
time being shall retire by rotation from the Board at the conclusion of each of
annual general meeting of the Company as well as each Director shall be subject
to retirement at the annual general meetings of the Company at least once every
three years under the Articles of Association and the Listing Rules. The Directors
to retire in every year shall be those who have been the longest in office since
their last re-election at the annual general meeting of the Company. Any Director
appointed to fill a casual vacancy to the Board during the year is subject to
retirement at the first annual general meeting of the Company to be held after his/
her appointment by the Board and then re-election by the Shareholders at the same

meeting in accordance with the Listing Rules and the Articles of Association.

Mr. Cheung Siu Fai and Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau, being the executive
Director and the independent non-executive Director respectively, will retire by
rotation from the Board at the conclusion of the 2025 AGM and, being eligible,
offer themselves to be re-elected as Directors by the Shareholders at the 2025
AGM in accordance with Articles 84(1) and 84(2) of the Articles of Association
and the Listing Rules.

Mr. Lam Chik Shun Marcus was appointed as independent non-executive Director
with effect from 1 October 2024 for a term of 3 years. Mr. Lam shall retire from
the Board at the 2025 AGM in accordance with Article 83(3) of Articles of
Association and, being eligible, offer himself for re-election at the 2025 AGM.
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Changes of Board Composition

Mr. Liu Ying Shun resigned as an independent non-executive Director and he
ceased to be chairman of each of the Nomination Committee and the remuneration
committee of the Company (“Remuneration Committee”) and member of the
audit committee of the Company (“Audit Committee”) with effect from 1 October
2024.

Mr. Lam Chik Shun Marcus was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director and he was appointed as the chairman of each of the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee and member of the Audit Committee
with effect from 1 October 2024. On 27 September 2024, he obtained the legal
advice referred to under Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules and confirmed that he

understood his obligations as a director of the Company.

Service Agreements with the Company

The Company has entered into service agreements with each of the Directors for
an initial term of three years and renewed a service agreement with an executive
Director with no fixed term of service unless and until terminated in accordance
with the terms and conditions specified in the service agreement. The terms of
office of all Directors are subject to (i) retirement by rotation from the Board at
least once every three years at the conclusion of annual general meeting; (ii) at
least one-third of the Directors for the time being shall retire by rotation from
the Board at the conclusion of each annual general meeting; and (iii) Director(s)
appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy during the year shall hold office
until the conclusion of the first annual general meeting of the Company to be held
and then be re-appointed by the Shareholders at the same meeting in accordance

with the Articles of Association and/or the Listing Rules.

No Director has a service agreement with the Company which is not determinable
by the Company within one year without payment of compensation (other than

statutory compensation).

For any independent non-executive Director who has served the Company for more
than nine years, his/her further appointment will be subject to a separate resolution
to be approved by the Shareholders at the annual general meeting and the papers
to the Shareholders accompanying that resolution will include the reasons why
the Board believes he/she is still independent and should be re-elected under the
Listing Rules. The respective appointment dates of all independent non-executive

Directors (all have served the Company less than nine years) are set out below:

Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau was appointed on 24 October 2016.
Ms. Dong Jian Mei was appointed on 1 July 2022.
Mr. Lam Chik Shun Marcus was appointed on 1 October 2024.
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Directors’ Responsibilities and Delegation

The overall management of the Company’s business is vested in the Board. The
Board has delegated the day-to-day management, administration and operation
of the Company’s business to the senior management of the Company and the
delegated functions and work tasks have been formalised and periodically reviewed
by the Board. Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to any significant
transactions, arrangements and/or contracts entered into by the senior management
of the Company and the Group. The Board focuses its attention on matters
affecting the Company’s overall strategic policies, corporate governance, finance
and the Shareholders, including financial statements, dividend policy, significant
changes in accounting policy, annual operating budget, certain material contracts,
strategies for future growth, major financing arrangements and major investments,
corporate governance functions, risk management system, treasury policies
and fare structures. The Board has the full support of its senior management to

discharge its responsibilities.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Code provision C.2.1 stipulates that the roles of Chairman and chief executive
officer (“CEQ”) should be separated and should not be performed by the same

individual.

During the Reporting Period, the roles of the Chairman and the CEO were

separately performed by different individuals.

The role of the Chairman was performed by Mr. Cheung Siu Fai during the
Reporting Period. He leads the Board and ensures that the Board works effectively.

Mr. Yeung Wai Lok Raymond, the CEO, is responsible for day-to-day
management of the Group and to implement major strategies and policies of the

Group.

During the Reporting Period, there has been a clear division of responsibilities
between the Chairman and the CEO that the Chairman provides leadership and
is responsible for the effective functioning and leadership of the Board while
the CEO focuses on the Group’s business development, daily management and

operations generally.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors take an active role in the meetings of the
Board and committees of the Board, contribute to the development of strategies
and policies and make sound judgement in various aspects. They take lead when
potential conflicts of interest arise. Independent board committee of the Company
comprising all independent non-executive Directors will be formed to advise the
independent Shareholders on those connected transactions to be approved by the
independent Shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company in
accordance with the Listing Rules. The independent non-executive Directors are
also members of various committees of the Board (the “Board Committee(s)”)

and devote sufficient time and attention to the affairs of the Company.

Ms. Dong Jian Mei holds cross-directorship with Mr. Cheung Siu Fai as they
serve on the boards of the Company and Great Wall since Ms. Dong Jian Mei was
appointed as independent non-executive director of Great Wall with effect from
21 November 2024. However, the Company considers that such cross-directorship
would not undermine the independence of Ms. Dong Jian Mei with respect to
her directorship at the Company given that (i) Ms. Dong Jian Mei is not involved
in any day-to-day operation of the Company as an independent non-executive
director, and (ii) she has complied with and followed the Company’s guidelines on
declaration and conflicts clearances. Meanwhile, Ms. Dong Jian Mei will act with

integrity and exercise objectivity in serving the Company.

Directors’ Induction and Development

The Company provides a comprehensive, formal and tailored induction programme
for newly appointed Directors to enhance their knowledge and understanding
of the key areas of business operations and practices of the Group as well as the
general and specific responsibilities and duties of Directors under the Articles of
Association, the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands, the Listing Rules and

relevant applicable regulatory requirements in the Cayman Islands and Hong Kong.

An induction programme covering the roles of a Director from group structure,
Board procedures, business management and operation of the Company, duties
under the Listing Rules, the SFO, as well as the essence of corporate governance
and the trends in these areas, have therefore arranged for all newly appointed

Directors from time to time.
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Continuous professional development and training of Directors is an ongoing
process to ensure the continued enhancement of their skills and knowledge.
The company secretary of the Company (the “Company Secretary”) regularly
circulates information and materials related to roles, functions and duties of
listed company directors, business research and development, updated rules and
regulations, economic, environmental and social topics to develop and refresh
knowledge and skills of the Directors. All Directors are encouraged to attend
relevant training courses provided by external bodies at the Company’s expense.
During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Directors participated in the following
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trainings:

Training on corporate
governance, regulatory
development and other

relevant topics

REER - BEERRR
Directors #HH - fth R R R 5
Current Directors BUE#E S
Executive Director HITHEF
Mr. Cheung Siu Fai R R e A 4
Non-executive Director FHATEF
Ms. So Tsz Kwan WRIEB L v
Independent Non-executive Directors B IEHATEF
Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau BRI E v/
Ms. Dong Jian Mei wEEL L v
Mr. Lam Chik Shun Marcus (appointed on 1 October 2024)  FRHiAR Jo: Ot =2 14+ H — H ¥ ZT) v
Former Director WL F
Independent Non-executive Director B IEHATEF
Mr. Liu Ying Shun (resigned on 1 October 2024) BN SeA: (ft =22 A — H GHE) v

v reading newspaper, journals and updates relating to the economy, latest changes and

development of the Listing Rules, corporate governance practices, etc.

All Directors are required to provide the Company with their training records on
an annual basis, and such records are maintained by the Company Secretary for
regular review by the Nomination Committee. The training records of the Directors

were reviewed by the Nomination Committee in June 2025.
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Board and Board Committees Proceedings

The Directors attend quarterly Board meetings and meet at other times as and
when required. All Directors have full and timely access to relevant information
of the Company and may take independent professional advice at the Company’s

expense, if necessary, in accordance with the approved procedures.

Notice to regular Board meeting is served to all Directors at least 14 days before
the meeting. For other Board and Board Committee(s) meetings, reasonable notice

is generally given.

The draft agendas for Board and Board Committees meetings are prepared by
the Company Secretary and approved by the Chairman and Board Committees.
Directors are advised to inform the Chairman and Board Committees or the
Company Secretary not less than one week before the relevant Board and Board
Committees meeting if they wish to include a matter in the agenda of the meeting.
The agendas together with Board and Board Committees papers are sent at least
three days before the intended date of the Board and Board Committees meeting.
To facilitate the decision-making process, the Directors and Board Committee
members are free to have access to the management for enquiries and to obtain
further information and have unrestricted access to the advice and services of the

Company Secretary when required.

The Chairman has encouraged all Directors to make full and active contributions
to the Board’s affairs and take the lead to ensure that the Board acts in the best
interest of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole. He has promoted
a culture of openness and debate by facilitating the effective contribution of
independent non-executive Directors and ensuring constructive relations between
executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors. Accordingly, the
Board operates in a functional manner with clearly defined objectives, strategies

and responsibilities.

All Directors are required to comply with their duty to act in the best interests of
the Company and have particularly regard to the interest of the Shareholders as a
whole. Amongst others, all Directors are required to declare the nature and extent
of their interests, if any, in any transaction, arrangement, contract or other proposal
to be considered by the Board at Board meetings. Unless specifically permitted
by the Articles of Association, a Director cannot cast a vote on any contract,
transaction, arrangement or any other proposal in which he/she has or any of his/

her close associates is materially interested.
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Monthly financial and operational information is provided to the Directors by the
Company Secretary to discharge their duties and acknowledge the development of
the Company from time to time. Other regular and ad hoc reports are also prepared
for the Board and Board Committees, to ensure that the Directors and member of
the Board Committees are supplied with all the requested information in a timely

and appropriate manner.

Directors’ Attendance Records at Meetings
The individual attendance record of each Director at meetings of the Board as well

as the general meetings of the Company during the year ended 31 March 2025 are as

N TR 1 R A S R ORI
SEJEAT HIR T B AN T MR AL R 2 B8R o IR
F N HEE g2 B RO ) R R R
VAT (R 8 g J 22 B R AT A T
PERHB G Tl — VRS -

3 R ki gk
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follows: mr
Attendance/Number of meetings during
the Directors’ tenure of office
H R U/ A S R
Annual
general meeting Board
Ji HOB AR K & HEG
Number of Meeting(s) R B 1 4
Current Directors BUE#E R
Executive Director HfrESH
Mr. Cheung Siu Fai RS AR /1 3/4
Non-executive Director FEHfTEF
Ms. So Tsz Kwan #RIEE Lt 1/1 4/4
Independent Non-executive Directors B HATES
Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau RS 171 4/4
Ms. Dong Jian Mei wHERLL 1/1 4/4
Mr. Lam Chik Shun Marcus' AL SR N/A N7 1 212
Former Director iR
Independent Non-executive Director B HATES
Mr. Liu Ying Shun? B S A2 1/1 212
Notes: FRFEE -

1. Mr. Lam Chik Shun Marcus was appointed on 1 October 2024.

2. Mr. Liu Ying Shun resigned on 1 October 2024.
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Directors are expected to devote sufficient time and attention in performing their
duties and responsibilities towards the Company. The high attendance record
at the Board meetings and Board Committees meetings for the year ended 31
March 2025, which was reviewed by the Nomination Committee in June 2025,

demonstrated the Directors’ strong commitment to the Company.

The minutes of Board and Board Committees meetings are currently prepared by
the Company Secretary with details of the matters considered by the Board and
Board Committees and decisions reached, including any concerns raised by the
Director(s) and members of Board Committees or dissenting views expressed
(if any). The draft minutes are circulated to all members of the Board and Board

Committees for their comment within a reasonable time after the meeting.

Statutory Confirmations

The Company has received written annual confirmations of independence from
all independent non-executive Directors for the year ended 31 March 2025 in
accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Nomination Committee has
assessed their independence and concluded that all the independent non-executive
Directors are independent within the definition of the Listing Rules and continues

to consider each of them is independent.

According to the Code, each Director should ensure that he/she can give sufficient
time and attention to the affairs of the Company and make contribution to the
development of the Company’s strategy and policies through independent,
constructive and informed comments. The Chairman held a meeting with the
independent non-executive Directors without the presence of other Directors

during the Reporting Period.

Regarding disclosure of the number and nature of offices held by the Directors in
public companies or organisations and other significant commitments as well as
their identity and the time involved (the “Commitments”) to the Company, all
Directors have agreed to confirm/update their Commitments to the Company in
a timely manner and confirm his/her other directorships, major appointments and

interests to the Company twice a year.

Directors’ Insurance

Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance has been arranged for all Directors,
including company securities, employment practices, regulatory crisis event,
investigation, litigation, tax liabilities and public relation, etc. The Company has
conducted an annual review of the Directors’ and officers’ liability insurance
policy with reference to recent trends in the insurance market and other relevant
factors. The review compared the amount of coverage against other similar policies

purchase by other companies.
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Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3 of the
Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding Directors’ transactions in the
securities of the Company. Upon the Company’s specific enquiry, all Directors
have confirmed that they have fully complied with the required standards as set
out in the Model Code, and there is no event of non-compliance. Employees of the
Group, who are likely to be in possession of unpublished inside information of the

Company, have been requested to comply with the provisions of the Model Code.

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. Chan Yuk Chi is the Company Secretary since 21 October 2021. The
biographical details of Ms. Chan Yuk Chi are set out under the section
headed “BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT?” in this annual report.

The Company Secretary is a full-time employee of the Company and is appointed
by the Board. The Company Secretary reports to the Chairman and CEO of
the Company and is responsible for ensuring sound information flow and
communication among the members of the Board, senior management and the
Shareholders as well as advising the Board on corporate governance matters. All
Directors have access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary to
ensure that Board procedures as well as all applicable laws, rules and regulations

are followed.

Ms. Chan Yuk Chi has confirmed that she has taken no less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules for
the financial year ended 31 March 2025.

BOARD COMMITTEES

As an integral part of good corporate governance, the Board has established a
total of three Board Committees, namely, the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee, to oversee particular aspects of the
Company’s affairs. Each of these Board Committees is governed by its respective
terms of reference (as amended from time to time) which are available on the
both websites of the Company (www.shunten.com.hk) and the Stock Exchange

(www.hkexnews.hk).

All Board Committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge
their duties and are able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate

circumstances, at the Company’s expense, to perform their responsibilities.
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Audit Committee

The Audit Committee has been established by the Board. It comprises a minimum
of three members, at least one of whom is an independent non-executive Director
with appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise as required under the Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules. The
majority of the Audit Committee members should be independent non-executive
Directors. The Audit Committee should be chaired by an independent non-

executive Director in compliance with the Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules.

As at 26 June 2025, the Audit Committee currently consists of three (3) members,
they are all independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Leung Winson Kwan
Yau (chairman of Audit Committee), Ms. Dong Jian Mei and Mr. Lam Chik Shun
Marcus. None of the members of the Audit Committee is or was a former partner

of the Company’s existing external auditor.

Duties of Audit Committee

The primary duties of the Audit Committee, among other things, are to make
recommendation to the Board on the appointment, re-appointment and removal of
the external auditor; review the financial statements and material advice (if any) in
respect of financial reporting system; and oversee internal control system and risk

management system of the Company.

Works Performed by Audit Committee
During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Audit Committee held three (3)

meetings. The attendance of each member is as follows:
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Attendance/No. of
meetings during the
members tenure

of office

ia/e o4

Name of members BB 4 3 AT P Uk B

Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau (Chairman) RRRSAE (F ) 3/3

Ms. Dong Jian Mei wHEL L 3/3

Mr. Lam Chik Shun Marcus (appointed on 1 October 2024) — MAHAE SoE (i = = 04F+ H — H#EZAT) /1
Mr. Liu Ying Shun B NIE Se A

(resigned with effect from 1 October 2024) (BHE B —F ZPUFE+H—HAER) 2/2
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In accordance with its terms of reference, the Audit Committee performed, inter
alia, the following works during the year ended 31 March 2025 and up to the date

of this report:

1. reviewed, approved and recommended the draft audited financial statements
and unaudited financial statements, the interim and final dividend (if any)
and the draft results announcements of the Company, including any changes
in accounting policies and practices; major judgmental areas; compliance
with accounting and auditing standards; and compliance with the listing
requirements on the Listing Rules and legal requirements in relation to

financial reporting prior to recommending them to the Board for approval.

2. reviewed, approved and recommended the report in relation to the evaluation
of the adequacy and effectiveness and of the internal control system and
the risk management system of the Group and the relevant report prior to

recommending them to the Board for approval.

3. reviewed, assessed and commented relationship with the external auditor
and independence and the level of support and co-operation given by the

Group’s management.

4. reviewed, approved and recommended the changes, re-appointment and

remuneration of the external auditor.

5. reviewed, assessed and commented the adequacy of resources, staff
qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of the
Group’s accounting, internal audit, financial reporting function, as well
as those relating to the Group’s environmental, social and governance

performance and reporting.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee has been established by the Board. It should be
chaired by an independent non-executive Director and comprise a majority of
independent non-executive Directors in compliance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing
Rules.

As at 26 June 2025, the Remuneration Committee currently consists of three (3)
members, they are all independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Lam Chik
Shun Marcus (chairman of Remuneration Committee), Mr. Leung Winson Kwan
Yau and Ms. Dong Jian Mei.
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Duties of Remuneration Committee

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make recommendations
to the Board on the overall remuneration policy and structure relating to all
the Directors and senior management of the Group; review performance-based
remuneration; and ensure none of the Directors determine their own remuneration.
The Remuneration Committee also makes recommendation to the Board with
respect to share options granted and to be granted to Director and/or senior
management of the Group under the share option scheme of the Company. When
the remuneration package of an individual Director is under review, such Director
will abstain from voting. The Remuneration Committee also reviews and approves

all matters relating to share scheme under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

Works Performed by Remuneration Committee
During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Remuneration Committee held one (1)

meeting. The attendance of each member is as follows:
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Attendance/No. of
meetings during the
members tenure

of office
Him R/
Name of members BB Wk B B AT A 6 ek Uk B
Mr. Lam Chik Shun Marcus (Chairman for the period from — BAHAR oAz (=2 PI4E A H — H Z 5 1B(F
1 October 2024 to present) (appointed on 1 October 2024) ) (I =ZF =41 H— H ¥Z(T) N/A AN
Ms. Dong Jian Mei HwHELL 171
Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau BRI 1
Mr. Liu Ying Shun (Chairman for the period from BEHNESCAE (B T PYAEPIH —H E
1 April 2024 to 30 September 2024) T PIESLH = A A HHET )
(resigned with effect from 1 October 2024) (BT A —=ZF P14 A H—H2ERL) 1/1

In accordance with its terms of reference, the Remuneration Committee performed,
inter alia, the following works during the year ended 31 March 2025 and up to the
date of this report:

1. reviewed, commented and/or approved the policy and structure for the

remuneration of Directors and senior management of the Group.

2. reviewed, commented and approved the procedures for fixing the

remuneration packages.
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3. reviewed and made recommendation on the remuneration packages with

reference to comparable companies, time commitment, responsibilities
and employment conditions of the respective Directors and the senior

management of the Group and/or other matters.

4. reviewed, approved and recommended the respective Directors’ service
agreement.
5. considered and approved the salary increment and bonus arrangement, if

any, for certain Directors and senior management of the Group.

6. revised, approved and recommended the grant of share options to senior

management/employee of the Group.

Details of the Directors’ and CEO’s remuneration for the year ended 31 March
2025 are set out in note 10 to the audited consolidated financial statements in
this annual report. In addition, pursuant to the Code provision E.1.5, the annual
remuneration of the senior management of the Group (including CEO) by bands
for the year ended 31 March 2025 is set out below:

Remuneration to the senior management by bands

5208 8 281 2 2 e 9 L S
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Number of individuals

A

HKS$1 to HK$1,000,000
HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000

17 7T %.1,000,0005 7T 2
1,000,001 7T % 2,000,000% 7T

During the Reporting Period, there were no material matters relating to the
share option schemes of the Company which required review or approval by the

Remuneration Committee.

Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee has been established by the Board. It should be
chaired by the Chairman or an independent non-executive Director and comprises

a majority of independent non-executive Directors.

As at 26 June 2025, the Nomination Committee currently consists of three (3)
members, they are all independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Lam Chik
Shun Marcus (chairman of Nomination Committee), Mr. Leung Winson Kwan
Yau and Ms. Dong Jian Mei.
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Duties of Nomination Committee

The primary function of the Nomination Committee is to make recommendations
to the Board regarding appointment of Directors and candidates to fill vacancies
on the Board and to assess the independence of each independent non-executive

Director.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy, as amended from time to time,
(the “Diversity Policy”) which sets out the approach to achieve diversity of Board
members. The objective of the Diversity Policy stated that selection of candidates
be based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,

knowledge and length of service, the summary of which are set out below:

(a)  With a view to achieving a sustainable and balanced development, the
Company sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an essential element
in supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives and its sustainable

development.

(b)  In order to provide Board members with diverse views and perspectives,
in designing the Board’s composition, the Company’s policy is to consider
a number of factors when deciding on the appointment and renewal
of Directors, and does not discriminate on the grounds of gender, age,
cultural and educational background, race, professional experience, skills,

knowledge, job title and service term in other listed companies.

(c)  All Board appointments did and would be based on meritocracy, and
candidates did and would be considered against objective criteria, having

due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, to achieve sustainable and balanced
development of the Group, the Board has invited female talents to join the Group.
As at 31 March 2025 and as at the date of this report, the Company has two
female Directors (representing approximately 40% and 40% respectively of the
Board members) and three female senior management members (representing
approximately 50% and 43% respectively of the senior management members) and
as such achieved gender diversity in respect of the Board and senior management

respectively.
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The Company cements its commitment to gender diversity within its business — Z%% &) £E H 05 o i 34 7l 2 oAb i G
so it continues to review and assess the appropriate level of gender diversity and R L 48 A% o5t B A 4 191 22 oAb S A AR ) 788
composition that aligns with the strategies of the Company. The Board is of the /K-> DIfFEARN R MR - ERE SR L > AR
view that it is not necessary to set numerical targets and timeline for Board gender ~— #H HF & fE 8 &8 N DI BAT EF G RLH K > JE
diversity for the time being as it is of the view that all aspects of diversity should — FE#8 % 82 oAb 947 10 > BCE R A& =
be considered as a whole in the selection of suitable candidates for appointment to €1 Il Z2 Sk 2 87 B AZ X Ry [HI 47 »

the Board.

As at the date of this report, the following chart shows the diversity profile of the — A H I » DAN R R 51 /R B8 BLAERA ~ M
Board in terms of designation, gender and age group: RAEBA R 7 T A RS 2 e A

Board Composition

ALK

Designation ED NED INED
A BATEH FPATES WS PATE SR

Gender Male Female

PER F ik Ly

Age 30 to 39 40 to 49 50 to 59
ST 3075 5 395k 40P B 495 500% 2 595%

ED: Executive Director #L{7H# 5%
NED: Non-executive Director FF#117H# 4
INED: Independent Non-executive Directors /. FF #1117 H# 4
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As at the date of this report, the following chart shows the diversity profile of the

senior management in terms of gender and age group:

B G
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LRI T £ 8 7 B P 22 ST AL DL

Senior Management Composition

o A A B AL

Gender
T

Female

i

30 to 39
305% 2 395%

Age 40 to 49

Al

A0BR E495%

50t059 60 to 69
505% 2 595% 605K % 695,

The same approach to gender diversity at the Board level also applies to the
Group’s workforce, including the Board members and senior management. Among
the 237 employees of the Group as at 31 March 2025, 19% are males and 81% are
females, which was in line with the industry norm. Gender distribution in our office
and production lines are more even while for the packing workers and the frontline
promoters stationed at the stores of a distribution facilitator and the special
designated counters, there are more females than males. The Group recognises the
value of gender diversity to promote a diverse and inclusive working environment
and welcomes increased male representation at all levels. However, the Group
currently does not consider it appropriate to set any specific gender target for
its workforce as the selection of candidates should be based on the above said
diversity perspectives instead of setting an express quota or objective. Being an
equal opportunity employer, the Board monitors the gender ratio in our workforce
from time to time. The relevant diversity information in terms of gender and age
group of the workforce of the Group is disclosed in the “Environmental, Social and

Governance Report” on page 78 of this annual report.

We will continue to strive to enhance the balance of gender representation
and achieve an appropriate balance of gender diversity with reference to the
Shareholders’ expectation and international and local recommended best practices.

We will also ensure that there is gender diversity when recruiting staff at all levels.

g JE T PR 2 oAl r B IR T A 4
WMET - EEEHG A KRR - R
FOHFEZA=+ 0 AEETZARER S
19% /5 Sk e 81% £ Lotk > FF AT SEHBI o FoAM
e 2 R AR VR O3 A e 2 T A
TN B SRS I 73 8 A B K5 74 R S A9 AiD
MAES RS > 2t NI RS o AL
BRI Z e L BHEE L So il R A TR
TELME - S DAL A5 80938 AR AQSR o SR > A
4 [ H TR A A B B RO AR TR E MR H
o DR GBS IR k2 e AR - T
I e I AR B A o B B P MEr I R
EREAREE B THMERILLG] - ARA LS R
TR KA AL 0 22 e AL R A AR R 78
WM BRI ~ Ahgr AR P s -

T 16 A A ) SRV T P A o S USRS
B [ 3 B A b 1 el b R MG A 2% B
Z e AL WY BT o FRAM A A DR TR 18 B A A
Il B TR MR 2 Tt

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited JE & B4 B (5 1% ) A R 2 ¥ 59



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BB O

Works Performed by Nomination Committee
During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Nomination Committee held one (1)

meeting. The attendance of each member is as follows:

12428 &GP BT LIE
BEXZ HF=H=T—HILFE > #E8EH
AT T ()RR o &8 B F sk s T

Attendance/No. of
meetings during the
members tenure

of office
Him R/
Name of members BB 244 R B AT A 6k Uk B
Mr. Lam Chik Shun Marcus (Chairman for the period from — BAEAR JeA: (=2 P14+ H — H Z 5 1B(F
1 October 2024 to present) (appointed on 1 October 2024) ) (B =ZF =41 H— H¥EZE(T) N/A AN
Ms. Dong Jian Mei HwHELL 1/1
Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau BRI E 11
Mr. Liu Ying Shun (Chairman for the period from BENESAE (I PYEM A —H &
1 April 2024 to 30 September 2024) S TPYAE LA = A ST )
(resigned with effect from 1 October 2024) (BHT A —=ZF =PI+ H—H2ERL) 111

In accordance with its terms of reference, the Nomination Committee performed,

inter alia, the following works during the year ended 31 March 2025 and up to the

date of this report:

60

reviewed, assessed and commented, inter alia, the policy for the nomination

of Directors.

assessed the independence of each independent non-executive Director.

sourced and recommended individuals suitably qualified, if any, to become

Board members.

approved and recommended to the changes in the Board composition.
identified and recommended those Directors to be retired by rotation from
the Board and then be re-elected as Directors at the annual general meeting
of the Company in accordance with the Articles of Association and the

Listing Rules.

reviewed and assessed the structure, size and composition of the Board and

analysed the diversity of the Board with reference to the Diversity Policy.
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Nomination Policy

The Company adopted the policy for nomination of Directors (including the

nomination procedures and criteria for selection and recommendation of candidates

for directorship) in accordance with the Code.

Selection Criteria

The factors listed below would be used as reference by the Nomination Committee

in assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate:

reputation for integrity;

accomplishment, experiences and/or knowledge in the principal business of

our Group;
commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest; and
diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to gender, age (18 years

old or above), cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional

experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.

These factors are for reference only, and not meant to be exhaustive and decisive.

The Nomination Committee has the discretion to nominate any person, as it

considers appropriate.

Nomination Procedures

L.

The Company Secretary shall call a meeting of the Nomination Committee,
and invite nominations of candidates from Board members, if any, for
consideration by the Nomination Committee prior to its meeting. The
Nomination Committee may also put forward candidates who are not

nominated by Board members.

For filling a casual vacancy, the Nomination Committee shall make
recommendations for the Board’s consideration and approval. For proposing
candidates to stand for election at a general meeting, the Nomination
Committee shall make nominations to the Board for its consideration and

recommendation.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the accounts of
the Company and of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025. The accounts
are prepared on a going concern basis and give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31 March 2025, and of the Group’s
financial performance and cash flow for the year then ended. In preparing the
accounts for the year ended 31 March 2025, the Directors have selected appropriate
accounting policies and, apart from those new and amended accounting policies
as disclosed in the notes to the accounts for the year ended 31 March 2025, have
applied them consistently with previous financial periods. Judgments and estimates
have been made that are prudent and reasonable. The reporting responsibilities of

the external auditor are set out on pages 112 to 117 of this annual report.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT
Internal Control System and Risk Management System

The Board is responsible for maintaining and reviewing the adequacy and
effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal controls and risk management
(the “Systems”), which are designed to meet the Group’s particular needs and to
minimise the risks to which the Group is exposed, and are designed to manage
rather than eliminate the risks to achieve business objective and can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against misstatements or losses. The Group’s
internal control framework covers (i) the setting of objectives, budgets and targets;
(i1) the establishment of regular reporting of financial information, in particular, the
tracking of deviations between actual performances and budgets/targets; (iii) the
delegation of authority; (iv) the establishment of clear lines of accountability; and

(v) review and evaluation of the Systems.

On behalf of the Board, the Audit Committee has reviewed the report prepared
by external independent professional firm, and reviewed the adequacy and
effectiveness of the Systems of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025,
including the reliability of financial reporting, effectiveness and efficiency of
operations, compliance with applicable laws and regulations, effectiveness of risk
management functions and the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and
experience, training programmes and budget of the Company’s accounting, internal
audit and financial reporting function, as well as those relating to the Company’s
environmental, social and governance performance and reporting. This is achieved
primarily through approving the scope of the annual internal audit plan, reviewing
the findings of internal audit work, the annual and interim financial statements,
and the nature, scope of work, and report of the external independent professional
firm. Based on the results of the annual review by the Audit Committee, the Board
considered that the Systems are effective and adequate. There is no significant
change in the nature and extent of risks and the Company’s ability to respond to

changes in its business and the external environment since the last annual review.
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Process Used to Identify, Evaluate and Manage Risks

The Board monitors the Group’s business risks, operating risk management and
internal controls. The Group has engaged an external independent professional
firm to undertake the internal audit functions to ensure proper compliance with
the internal control systems and risk management system to identify the potential
risks which may arise in the operation and financial of the Group’s business for
implementation of appropriate measures and policies on a continuing basis. The
scope of review and the audit programme of external independent professional
firm, which are formulated based on a risk assessment approach and focus on areas
with relatively higher perceived risks, are approved by the Audit Committee at
the end of the preceding financial year in conjunction with the management. The
external independent professional firm executes their functions based on a yearly
plan and prepares reports for their assignments. These reports are submitted to the
management, the Board and the Audit Committee for review on a regular basis.

Such reports are also circulated to the external auditor on an annual basis.

Handling and Dissemination of Inside Information
The Board has approved and adopted an Inside Information Disclosure Policy (the
“Disclosure Policy”) for the Company for monitoring inside information to ensure

compliance with the Listing Rules and the SFO.

The Disclosure Policy sets out the obligations, guidelines and procedures
for handling and dissemination of inside information to all Directors, senior
management and relevant employees. These guidelines and procedures to ensure
that the inside information of the Company is to be disseminated to the public in
equal and timely manner in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations.
The inside information should remain confidential until the disclosure of such
information is appropriately approved, and the dissemination of such information
is efficiently and consistently made. Disclosure must be made in a manner that the
public can have an equal, timely and effective access to the information available
through the websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company

(www.shunten.com.hk).

Anti-Corruption Policy

The Group has adopted the anti-corruption policy (the “Anti-Corruption Policy”)
which sets out the principles and guidelines for the Group to promote and support
anti-corruption laws and regulations. The Anti-Corruption Policy sets out the basic
standard of conduct which applies to the employees of the Group at all levels
and external parties doing business with the Group. It also provides guidance to
all employees on, among other matters, acceptance of advantage and handling of

conflict of interest when dealing with the Group’s business.

B G

FHTA P8 ~ AFAG B A B E B 4 12

2 S AR AR ) S SRy ~ g A B
TS B o AR 2 [ L WS s SN S TS R AfE
TR P AL IR - e DR 2 35 TS A T B AR A I
B AR AT - LAl A R [ S 2 I A T T
A RE S AR VB AE SRR DA AT 0 i R
R o HNIEE S SE 0N T A B A K A Y
AR5 TR A 2 1 R B O A BB g Y T L B 114
a7 3 > FL PR o A e ] L S A B A
JEE A RIRFALTE o SIS J8 57 5 3 2 ) AR YR AF B w8
JEAT I RE R A SRS AR o RS R 2
BTG - EREREFENE B G LeERN -
%SRS I AR BE YRR 8% T SIS AL AT o

Vg T % A P9 R R
S O S PR A R W] R R R R BUR
(e @EBOR ) M BEFE RN - DARELRBESF iy
R Rt B S B e ol

Pl R ORI 3 S ) A E T S AR K
B E B N FHE N ET - 155 MR - %
LA5 5| KR P T AR AR PR AR SR > A K
7 eyt ) N R B AR A RN EE R » WETHE
JEE AR 3 DY R A B B L > AR
T R AT R R — B Oy SO A TR - SRR L
] RN I R I 22 T A8 b (www . hkexnews.hk) & A%
N ) 483 (www.shunten.com.hk) > A1 ~ @ R )2 A
AT B AR B 2 RAE -

R ETTBUOR
AR S5 EOR (R ETGBOR])
I A G I N SR BT TR T Sk B i
W B AET] o BCETS BOR RS Y HEA T HE )7 )
TSR 45 B Al B DA R BELAS B T AT 2685 A 3R Y
SRR o HIR R BT R B PR 5] - o a R
T e FLAS S [ S5 IR 42 52 ) 2 T e B ) i o 28 468
HIH -

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited JE & B4 B (5 1% ) A R 2 ¥ 63



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
e SRR g

Whistleblowing Policy

The Group has adopted the whistleblowing policy which sets out, among other
matters, the reporting and investigation procedures for the employees of the Group
to raise concerns, in confidence and anonymity, about possible improprieties in

matters related to the Group.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company’s annual general meeting is one of the principal channels of
communication with its Shareholders. The Board and the management are
committed to use of annual general meetings of the Company as a forum to meet
with the Shareholders and to hear their views and answer their concerns about the
Group and its business. The Chairman, and each Board Committee’s chairman or
his alternate attended and will attend annual general meetings of the Company with

the external auditor to answer Shareholders’ concerns.

All Shareholders are encouraged to attend annual general meeting and exercise
their right to speak and vote in accordance with paragraph 14(3) of Appendix Al
to the Listing Rules. Shareholders who are unable to attend annual general meeting
can appoint proxies to attend and vote at annual general meeting. Completion
and return of the form of proxy will not prevent Shareholders from attending and

voting in person at the annual general meeting, if Shareholders so wish.

A notice of general meeting will be given to Shareholders at least 21 clear days for
the annual general meetings of the Company and at least 14 clear days for other
general meetings. Shareholders are invited to raise concerns on the business of the
Company. Apart from usual business at the annual general meeting, the Board will
propose general mandates for the repurchase of shares and the issue of shares of

the Company at each annual general meeting.

Further details of business to be conducted at the annual general meeting did
and would be set out in the circular to the Shareholders to be sent together with
annual report and posted on the websites of the Company (www.shunten.com.hk)
and the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk). All resolutions will be passed by
way of a poll conducted and verified by the Company’s Hong Kong branch share
registrar and transfer agent, Tricor Investor Services Limited, as an independent
scrutineer. The poll results of each of the proposed resolutions to the Shareholders
will be published on the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company’s
websites (www.shunten.com.hk) in due time after annual general meeting and

extraordinary general meeting of the Company held.
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Shareholders’ Communication Policy

The Company has adopted the shareholders’ communication policy (the
“Shareholders’ Communication Policy”). With the objective of ensuring that
the Shareholders and potential investors are provided with timely access to
information about the Company, the Company has established several channels
to communicate with the Shareholders and solicit and understand the views of
Shareholders. The Company reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
Shareholders” Communication Policy and considered the policy has been effective
for the Company to communicate with the Shareholders through available channels

during the Reporting Period.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
Dividend Policy
The distribution of any dividend by the Company is subject to the discretion of the

Board, which normally did/will take into account of the following factors:

. The financial results of the Companys;

. Interests of the Shareholders;

. General business conditions and strategies;

. The capital requirements of the Group;

. Contractual restrictions on the payment of dividends by the Company to the

Shareholders or by the subsidiaries to the Company, if any;

. Taxation considerations;

. Possible effects on creditworthiness of the Company;
. Statutory and regulatory restrictions; and

. Any other factors the Board may deem relevant.

There is no assurance that any particular dividend amount, or any dividend at all,

will be declared and paid in the future.
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Procedures for making enquiries to the Board
Shareholders should direct their enquiries about their shareholdings to the
Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer agent, namely, Tricor

Investor Services Limited, whose contact details are as follows:

Tricor Investor Services Limited

Address . 17/F, Far East Finance Centre,
16 Harcourt Road,
Hong Kong
Telephone :  (852) 2980 1333
Fax : o (852) 28108185
E-mail : is-enquiries @vistra.com
Website : http://srhk.vistra.com
Attention :  Board of Directors/Company Secretary

Shareholders and the investor community are welcome to send their enquiries to

the Board and the Company Secretary as follows:

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited

Address : Unit D, 7/F, KC100
100 Kwai Cheong Road
Kwai Chung
New Territories
Hong Kong
Telephone :  (852) 3700 7300
Fax : o (852) 3700 7301
E-mail :  ir@shunten.com.hk
Website : www.shunten.com.hk
Attention : Board of Directors/Company Secretary

Shareholders may at any time make a request for the Company’s information to the

extent such information is publicly available.
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Procedures for convening extraordinary general meeting on
requisition

One or more Shareholders holding, at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less
than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written
requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary (the “Requisition”) to require
an extraordinary general meeting of the Company to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in the Requisition; and such meeting shall be

held within two (2) months after the deposit of such Requisition.

The Requisition shall be made in writing to the Board or the Company Secretary at
the principal place of business in Hong Kong and registered office of the Company

in the Cayman Islands as follows:

Principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong
Address . Unit D, 7/F, KC100

100 Kwai Cheong Road

Kwai Chung

New Territories

Hong Kong

Attention : Board of Directors/Company Secretary

Registered office of the Company in the Cayman Islands
Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Address . Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman
KY1-1111, Cayman Islands

Attention :  Board of Directors/Company Secretary

Procedures for Shareholders to put forward proposals at general
meetings

Shareholders who wish to put forward proposals for the Company’s consideration
at the general meetings can send their proposals to the Company Secretary at the

principal place of business in Hong Kong as specified above.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

In order to develop and maintain a continuing investors’ relationship programme
to enable Shareholders and investors better understand the Group’s business,
the Company has established various channels of communication with the

Shareholders and the investor community:

1. Shareholders can raise any comments on the performance and suggestion
on future directions of the Company to the Chairman at the annual general

meeting.

2. The Company may arrange press and analysts’ conferences in relation to
the results announcements, at which the Chairman and/or the Directors
are available to answer enquiries regarding the Group’s operational and

financial performances.

3. The Company’s website at www.shunten.com.hk contains important
corporate information, annual and interim reports, as well as announcements
and circulars issued by the Company to enable the Shareholders and the
investor community to have timely access to updated information about the

Group.

4. The Board has established a Shareholders’ Communication Policy and

reviews it on a regular basis to ensure its effectiveness.

5. The Company has uploaded its memorandum and articles of association of
the Company on the Company’s website at www.shunten.com.hk and the

Stock Exchange’s website at www.hkexnews.hk.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company adopted the second amended and restated Memorandum of
Association and Articles of Association of the Company by way of special

resolution passed on 1 September 2022, to comply with the Listing Rules.

A copy of the second amended and restated Memorandum of Association and
Articles of Association of the Company is posted on the Stock Exchange’s website

at www.hkexnews.hk and the Company’s website at www.shunten.com.hk.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, there has been no change in the

constitutional documents of the Company.
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EXTERNAL AUDITOR

The Company engages Moore CPA Limited (“Moore”) as its external auditor. The
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2025 were audited by Moore;
they hold office until the conclusion of the 2025 AGM and a resolution of the re-
appointment of Moore as auditor of the Company for the forthcoming year by the
Shareholders would be proposed at the 2025 AGM.

In order to maintain Moore’s independence and objectivity and the effectiveness
of the audit process in accordance with applicable standards, the Audit Committee
reviewed all audit services to be provided by Moore and discusses with Moore the

nature and scope of their audit and reporting obligations.

The Audit Committee also reviewed and approved the engagement of Moore to

provide any non-audit services for complying with relevant legal requirements.

The fees paid/payable to Moore, the Company’s auditor, in respect of audit
services and non-audit services for the year ended 31 March 2025 are analysed

below:
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Fees paid/ payable
Type of services provided by the external auditor A A B R 4 A3 =2 R 2 et/ HEf 2
HK$’000
Tt
Audit services T s
— audit fee in respect of annual audit — S 1,008
Non-audit services I F R
— review of interim results — A 180
— review of final results announcement — TR NS 30
Total HaEr 1,218
By order of the Board HRIE g
Shunten International (Holdings) Limited gL R 1B B (452 5% ) A R 2 W)
Cheung Siu Fai LA TEF
Chairman and Executive Director iR A i

Hong Kong, 26 June 2025
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ABOUT THE REPORT

The Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”) Report (the “ESG Report”)
published by Shunten International (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) presents
the efforts and achievements made in sustainability and social responsibility by
the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group” or “we” or “us” or
“our”). The ESG Report details the performance of the Group in carrying out
the environmental and social policies and fulfilling the principle of sustainable

development.

Both the English and Chinese versions of this ESG Report are available on
the Company’s website at www.shunten.com.hk and the website of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). If there is any conflict

or inconsistency, the English version shall prevail.

REPORTING PERIOD

The ESG performance as discussed in the ESG Report covers the period between 1
April 2024 and 31 March 2025 (the “Reporting Period”).

SCOPE OF THE ESG REPORT

The ESG Report only covers the core business segment of the Group, namely
the health and beauty supplements and products business, which accounts for
approximately 97.5% of the Group’s total revenue in aggregate during the
Reporting Period. As for the information regarding corporate governance, please
refer to the Corporate Governance Report of the Company’s 2024/2025 annual

report.
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REPORTING STANDARD

The ESG Report was prepared in accordance with the “Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide” (“ESG Reporting Guide”) under Appendix C2
to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange and has
complied with the mandatory disclosure requirements and the “comply or explain”

provisions of the ESG Reporting Guide.

REPORTING PRINCIPLES

Materiality:

The content of the ESG report is determined through stakeholder engagement and
materiality assessment process, which includes identifying ESG-related issues,
collecting and reviewing the management and stakeholders’ opinions, assessing the
relevance and materiality of the issues and preparing and validating the information
reported. Please refer to the section “Materiality Assessment” for details. The ESG

report has covered all key issues that are concerned by different stakeholders.

Quantitative:

Quantitative environmental and social key performance indicators (“KPIs”) are
disclosed in the ESG report so that stakeholders are able to have a comprehensive
understanding of the Group’s ESG performance. Information of the standards,
methodologies, references and source of key emission of these KPIs are stated

wherever appropriate.

Balance:
The Group follows the principles of accuracy, objectivity, and fairness to report its

achievements and challenges in sustainable development.

Consistency:

To enhance the comparability of the ESG report, the Group adopts consistent
reporting format and methodologies for calculating KPIs as far as practicable
unless otherwise stated. In case of any changes, explanation will be provided in the

ESG report to facilitate information interpretation.
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DATA COLLECTION AND CONFIRMATION

This ESG Report is prepared based on the official documents, statistical data and
management and operation information of the Group. The Group has internally
reviewed the disclosed information to ensure its accuracy, completeness, and
compliance with the ESG Reporting Guide, so that this ESG Report can fairly
reflect the overall situation. This ESG Report was reviewed and approved by the
board of directors of the Company (the “Board”) on 26 June 2025.

INFORMATION AND FEEDBACK

Your opinions on the Group’s ESG performance are highly valued. If you have any

advice or suggestions, please feel free to contact the Company through:

Address: Unit D, 7/F, KC100
100 Kwai Cheong Road
Kwai Chung
New Territories
Hong Kong

Tel No.: 3700 7300

Fax No.: 3700 7301

E-mail: ir@shunten.com.hk

ABOUT THE GROUP

Headquartered in Hong Kong, the Group primarily focuses on the health and
beauty supplements and products business and property investment which has
been developed in a professional and attentive way. With strong backup and
authentication by experts, we uphold our core value in improving customers’ well-
being by launching quality-guaranteed and effective health supplements. New
elements and ideas, including modern scientific research technology and modified
formulations, are infused into the manufacturing processes of traditional Chinese

medicine.
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BOARD GOVERNANCE

The Group believes that well-established ESG principles and practices will
increase investment value and provide long-term returns to stakeholders. In order
to ensure the establishment of appropriate and effective ESG risk management
measures and internal control systems, the Board is directly responsible for the
oversight of the Group’s ESG-related issues, including assessing and reviewing
ESG-related strategies and reporting, evaluating and determining ESG-related risks
and monitoring the overall ESG performance of the Group. The executive directors
of the Company are responsible for formulating ESG management policies,
strategies, goals, and annual reporting and promoting related implementation.
They also identify, evaluate, review, prioritize and manage material ESG issues,
risks, and opportunities; while other departments of the Company are responsible
for organizing, promoting, and implementing various ESG-related tasks under
the Group’s ESG management policies and strategies. All tasks and the progress
made against the ESG-related goals and targets will be reported to the Board
regularly in order for the Board to review and re-formulate the policies and plans
for achievement of goals and targets. Relevant emission reduction targets and
corresponding strategies are established and sustainable development factors have
been incorporated into the Group’s strategic planning, business model and other
decision-making processes. The annual ESG report is also reviewed by the Board

to ensure it meets the Board’s requirements and the Group’s strategies.

The Board understands the importance of prioritising ESG issues of the Group,
therefore has assigned an independent consulting firm to conduct materiality
assessment on ESG issues. Stakeholder surveys have been carried out, and directors
have also participated in the engagement exercise and provided constructive
opinions in determining the material ESG issues. The Board is well informed about
the results and will keep reviewing the engagement channels and exercise to ensure

effective communication between the Group and stakeholders.

In order to motivate the Group in pursuing better ESG performance, the Board will
continue to keep track of the latest development of the ESG reporting requirements
in Hong Kong. The Board will keep overseeing the coordination and management
of ESG-related work and reviewing the plans and execution regularly with respect

to the goals set.
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

Understanding and taking actions towards stakeholders’ concerns and expectations

is essential towards our sustainability development. The engagement of

stakeholders helps us recognise our sustainability performance, therefore we have

established appropriate communication channels so that comments and feedback

from major stakeholders are effectively and timely addressed. The Group will

continue to deepen the breadth and depth of communication with stakeholders in

the future.

The following table sets out our key stakeholders, their requirements and

expectations for the Group, and the corresponding response and communication

channels.

Stakeholders
&

Requirements and Expectations

SR ALY

R ERE A

TR 2 B S R 22 L )
HTME T R EE - HH 2B
BT T ARG T R B - R E 2
SR IR DG B A A T S 0
H R SURIEIE © A > A S M A VR B
{53 TR 0 B IR o

TRIVH NN EER O E > B AL 2"
SRANHAER > DB B 1 ] B AN 8 B0

Responses Management/

Communication Channels

ol A B/

Government and Regulators

B B

Shareholders

Je

Partners

B

*  Compliance with national policies, laws
and regulation

e Contribution in local employment

e Tax payment in full and on time

e Production safety

o SR ZRBUR RIERER

o AR

o IR RAMB

. EEAERE

*  Returns
*  Rise in company value
*  Transparency and effective

communication

o i L
o RIMAFMEE
o EAEY RmsinE

*  Operation with integrity
*  Equal rivalry

e Performance of contracts
e Mutual benefits
.

. ATEF
LRI

o HHHRF

¢ Regular information reporting

o EME A ER

¢ General meetings

*  Announcements

e Email, telephone communication and
company website

e Dedicated reports

o BORKE

NS

o R SRR S A IR

o R

*  Review and appraisal meetings

e Business communications

e Discussion and exchange of opinions
¢ Engagement and cooperation

o A RGTAN R

o EFRHE

- hikATE
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Responses Management/
Stakeholders Requirements and Expectations Communication Channels
& ZEORELY Il R 2/
Customers *  Outstanding products and services e Customer service center and hotlines
*  Health and safety *  Social media
e Performance of contracts
e Operation with integrity
®F o PRELE R ERIRES o R oM
o fREREZE o ARTIEE
o MHIEHEH
. WERE
Environment e Compliance with emission regulations e Communication with local environmental
e Energy saving and emission reduction department
e Environmental protection ¢ ESG Reporting
B o R o B HBERIE AR M A
. HiREwWE +  ESGHE#H
o PREEERIE
Industry *  Establishment of industry standards e Participation in industry forums
(TS o HlETSEEE o ZEATEHRM
Employees *  Protection of rights *  Meetings with employees
*  Occupational health *  House journal and intranet
*  Remunerations and benefits *  Employee mailbox
e Career development e Training and workshops
*  Humanity cares ¢ Employee activities
BT o {REENELD - ALg®

Community and the public

IR B 2 55

o THSEfERE
o HNERAR A
o MeRERE
o ASCBHEE

e Enhancement of community environment
e Participation in charity

e Transparency

o UM BRI

o  ZHIZEE

E iy

o HAABREY

o INERTIM KA A
. HTEHH

o AN TAREY

- HTIEH

e Company website

. Social media
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In view of the relevance and validity of this ESG report with the Group’s
environmental and social performance, the Group has commissioned an
independent third-party consultant to assist the Group in conducting a materiality
assessment to identify ESG issues that are material to the business of the Group and
its stakeholders. The assessment is based on stakeholder surveys, materiality maps
provided by well-known external institutions, as well as professional opinions
from the independent third-party consultant. Through the assessment processes,
the Group has identified 12 material ESG issues which are fully discussed in the

corresponding sections.

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s materiality matrix is as follows :
High

1=
A

0o e

®© e

Materiality to Stakeholders
HFR Oy 0

Y

Low Materiality to the Group
i S B 1 T 5
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SUSTAINABILITY APPROACH

In an attempt to achieve corporate sustainability, the Group always takes our
products, customers, community and the environment into consideration during

business development.

The Group’s operations are comparatively simple and straightforward with offices,
warehouses, vehicles and a packaging plant. Although we are not a heavy pollutant
producer, we have exerted our commitment towards environmental sustainability
by strengthening our employees’ awareness of environmental protection and

implementing environmental policies in our offices.

It is our conviction that employees are a crucial element to sustain our business.
Thus, in order to attract and retain talents, the Group has adopted a responsible
operation and human resources strategy, providing our employees with competitive
remuneration and benefits, on-the-job training and opportunities for career
development. The Group and its passionate employees also organise and participate

in charitable activities regularly, showing our dedication to community investment.

In terms of operation, as a health and beauty products provider on one hand, we
are devoted to maintaining a high standard of product quality while addressing
healthcare challenges, especially in Asia, through the adoption of effective
strategies and devoting efforts in research and development and a strong talent pool

of employees with doctor and master degrees.

In summary, the Group will continue to support environmental and social
development, aiming to achieve sustainable development in both our business and

the environment.

OUR TALENT

Human resources act as the pillar of the Group, thus we always put the rights
and well-being of our employees in first place. The Group stringently abides
by relevant laws and regulations, including but not limited to the Employment
Ordinance of Hong Kong (Chapter 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong), to formulate
the policies relating to recruitment, promotion, remuneration and dismissal of
employees. As a way to attract and retain talents, in addition to providing a
competitive remuneration package, the Group also offers a range of welfare and
benefits, a safe and healthy working environment, as well as training, development

and promotion opportunities.
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During the Reporting Period, the Group is not aware of any material violations
of laws and regulations relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment
and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-

discrimination and other benefits and welfare that have a significant impact on the

Group.

As of 31 March 2025, the Group has employed a total of 237' (31 March 2024:

247) employees.

Total workforce by gender in 2025
R TR 3 43 i IR B AR

Male
itk
45
(19%)

Female

T

192

(81%)

Total workforce by age group in 2025
R AR A B L 20 43 1 0 L

18-29
185295
21
9%)

Above 50

505% LAk

122 30-50

(51%) 307 505k

94
(40%)
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Female
feglis
205
83%)

Above 50
500 Lk E
129
(52%)

T ST TR > A S O 7 0 3 A A (o] [ e PO S
A7 BTN S R - RIS BT - AR (KB
R~ P E - Zooil » OB R K
HRA B L A R 52 3 R

BMEF-HAE=A=+—H  AEHELENT
WBIH(CFEPUE=ZH =1 —H : 247%)H T »

Total workforce by gender in 2024
LR T PUAE T 3 0 AR

Male

4
(17%)

Total workforce by age group in 2024
TR T PUAER AR B AL 43 0 0 B AR

18-29
18ZE2955%
14

(6%)

30-50
30Z505%
104
(42%)
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Total workforce by geographical region in 2025
TR TR b H) 4 1 IR B AR

i
Hong Kong
237
(100%)

Total workforce by employment type in 2025
L T A SR ) 4 v A A

Part time
ek
71
30%)

Full time
e
166
(70%)

Note:

1. The total employee number covers full-time and part-time employees in health and beauty 1.

supplements and products segment.

B~ g KBRS

Total workforce by geographical region in 2024
TR AR b ) 43 v O B AR

il
Hong Kong
247
(100%)

Total workforce by employment type in 2024
LR U A SR 8 0 v M L AR

Part time
ek
82
33%)

Full time
X
165
(67%)

Wi -

1 5L AR B A ek S 52 Al i T it 7o 2 Ak e e
T AR 5 -
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2024/25 2023/24
Employee Turnover Rate HITwRE RN/ RARE SR/ TR
By gender T3
Male FE 58% 41%
Female poglica 30% 50%
By age group FRAE S AL ) 73
Below 30 &R 305% 29% 115%
30-50 30ZE 505 47% 47%
Above 50 1R A S 073 26% 41%
By district i Hb [ 1) 4
Hong Kong il 35% 48%

EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES

As a fair employer who supports anti-discrimination, the Group advocates equal
opportunities during recruitment. We are committed to recruiting people with
suitable qualifications, experience, skills, potential and performance, regardless of
sex, marital status, family status or disability, by following laws and regulations,
including but not limited to the Sex Discrimination Ordinance, the Disability
Discrimination Ordinance, the Family Status Discrimination Ordinance and the
Race Discrimination Ordinance of Hong Kong. The Group commits to providing a
wide range of internship and employment opportunities to fresh graduates and the
minority groups in society including ethnic minorities, retired persons and people
with disabilities, so as to build an inclusive and harmonious working environment

and society.

The Group strictly prohibits the use of child labour in accordance with the
Employment of Children Regulations of Hong Kong. We ensure that no
child labour is employed by verifying the identity of new employees before
commencement of work. In order to prevent forced labour, work venues and
periods are clearly defined in the employment contract. In general, overtime work
is not encouraged by the Group unless under terms of mutual agreement. Once
such practice is discovered, the Group would investigate thoroughly and dismiss

relevant employees immediately.
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During the Reporting Period, we did not identify any issues relating to child labour

or forced labour that had a significant impact on the Group.

Whenever an employee offers to resign or is being laid off, an exit interview
questionnaire is required to be completed and management will conduct an exit
interview to discuss through and evaluate business problems. This is done so that
important opinions could be collected for future improvement of the Group’s

policies, as well as lessening the turnover rate.

HEALTH AND SAFETY

Employee’s health and safety are of paramount importance to the healthy and
sustainable development of the Group. Therefore, we always put priority on

employees’ health and safety during our business operation.

Employees working in the packaging plant are provided with personal protective
clothing which not only prevents the products from contamination, but also ensures
the health and safety of workers. Guidelines and standard operating procedures
specifying the potential hazards of machinery and equipment are provided to
employees in order to prevent any potential dangers and hazards during operation.
The Group has also adopted occupational health and safety related guidance
published by the Occupational Safety and Health Council in the workplace, such
as the Safe Manual Handling Operations, Electrical Safety and Fire Prevention
and Emergency Plan. During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of
any material non-compliance with health and safety related laws and regulations
including but not limited to the Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Chapter
509 of the Laws of Hong Kong), that would have a significant impact on the
Group. Moreover, we have formulated procedures for handling emergency such
as fire and power failure in an effort to minimise the possibility of injuries and
casualties in case of accidents. In the meantime, regular safety training, such as fire
drills, control of chemicals, personal health and hygiene, and emergency handling
are also provided to employees in order to enhance their safety awareness. The
Group has established an internal management team responsible for monitoring the
implementation of the aforementioned occupational health and safety policies and

measures.

In the past three years including the Reporting Period, there were no work-related
fatalities. During the Reporting Period, there were no work-related injuries and lost
day resulted (2023/24: Nil; 2022/23: Nil).
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TRAINING AND DEVELOPMENT

The Group’s business success highly hinges on the continuous improvement in
employees’ performance and productivity, thereby the Group has established a
comprehensive training system. We aim at building a continuous professional
development culture by providing employees with both corporate and individual
training opportunities. In general, we provide tailored training programmes to
our employees in accordance with the business needs and in an effort to facilitate
the personal development of our employees while maximising the effectiveness
of the training programmes. We invite experts to deliver trainings for employees
from different levels in various aspects. For example, safety training, production
procedures, machine operation, quality control, food safety and substandard food
handling training are provided to staff working in the packaging plant. Also,
training on product knowledge, marketing skills, customer services, business and
brand data analysis as well as communication skills are provided to promoters and

customer service staff.

For directors, professional and managerial staff, subsidies were provided to
encourage them to attend various knowledge-based training or management skills
training in an attempt to facilitate the improvement of the Group’s management
performance. Furthermore, the Group values employees’ personal development.
We encourage employees to join as many training programmes as they need to

within the annual training budget set.

For newly recruited staff, an orientation training, including the introduction of the
Group’s products, is provided to acquaint them with basic operation skills. After
familiarising with daily operations, employees will be assigned to receive more
specific and in-depth training, such as courses and workshops on risk management,

on an on-going basis, so as to develop their professional knowledge and skills.
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Average training hours per employee (hrs)

Percentage of employee trained (%)

B4 08 B T3 2 I () ZilfE B H 4 (%)
2024/25 2023/24 2024/25 2023/24
CTEON/CHAEE  SEROS/CIEE S RN/ THEE SRS/ g
By gender HeHER

Male B 2.87 1.39 9% 13%
Female gdid 3.12 2.06 91% 87%
Total st 100% 100%

By employee category AR BRI
Senior =54 0.57 248 2% 11%
Middle i 1.00 1.92 2% 5%
Junior MR 7.83 0.91 14% 10%
Other Hith 7.20 3.81 82% 74%
Total Mgt 100% 100%

Note: FftEE -

1. The relevant data is recalculated according to Appendix 3 “Reporting Guidance on Social 1.
KPIs” to “How to prepare an ESG Report” issued by the Stock Exchange to calculate
percentage of employees trained. The formula used for the restatement is as follows:
Percentage of employees trained in the relevant categories = T(x)/T x 100, T(x) = Number

of employees who took part in training in the specified category, T = Number of total

employees who took part in training.

While education and training act as the foundation for improvement of employees,
the various opportunities of promotion provide motivation to employees to strive
for the Group and enable a long-term development of employees together with
the Group. Annual performance appraisal is conducted based on employees’
professional skills, work performance and efficiency, independence, personal
quality and attitude, as well as learning and cooperation ability so that employees

who have outstanding performance will be taken into consideration for promotion.

HAH -

We hope that every employee will be able to find their position and future by

working in the Group.
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REMUNERATION AND BENEFITS

As a way to deliver care to employees, and at the same time stimulate their
working initiative, the Group offers all employees attractive remuneration and
a wide range of welfare and benefits. The Group’s salary structure is reviewed
annually to ensure that fair and competitive remuneration is offered to employees
according to external and internal benchmark. To assure employees of sufficient
time to rest, the Group adopts five-day working weeks to office staff and our
employees are entitled to a number of statutory leaves and special leaves such as
birthday leave and study leave. Other fringe benefits also include discretionary
bonuses, medical and dental insurance, maternity leave pay and price discounts
on of the Group’s products. Besides, we also organise employee gatherings, such
as lunch parties, Mid-Autumn Festival gatherings, Christmas parties, and Spring
Festival celebrations, so as to provide employees with time for relaxation as well as
foster better communication between each other. The Group endeavours to create a

happy working environment, so as to raise the happiness-at-work of the employees.

BUSINESS OPTIMISATION

As the Group is principally engaged in the manufacture and sales of health and
beauty supplements and products, it is our long-term goal to develop innovative
health products that are affordable and improve the accessibility of health
supplements for consumers in Asia. To achieve this goal, it is vital to optimise our
operation to maintain the high quality of products and services, to properly manage
our supply chain and to behave ethically in the market. On the other hand, we also
endeavour to achieve a high customer satisfaction in terms of our service-based

businesses.
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SAFEGUARDING PRODUCT QUALITY

Since our health and beauty products are directly related to people’s health, we
spare no effort in the pursuit of excellence in product quality and the health and
safety of all our products. The Group strictly complies with all the requirements
of relevant laws, regulations and standards, including but not limited to the Public
Health and Municipal Services Ordinance (Chapter 132 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) and Sale of Goods Ordinance (Chapter 26 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
of Hong Kong, by establishing and implementing a quality management system
to monitor and inspect the quality of products, as well as the environment and
hygiene of our packaging plant. An experienced quality management team has
been set up responsible for overseeing the implementation of a number of quality

control measures, including:

1. Formulating a series of quality check procedures for raw materials,
intermediates and finished products, which set out the items to be checked,
criteria for qualified products, as well as the acceptable quality level and

reject level for different sample sizes, etc.;

2. Formulating standard operation guidelines for handling raw materials to
ensure their proper receipt, storage and delivery and hence the prevention of

contamination;

3. Requesting suppliers to provide certificates of analysis and/or lab test
reports prepared by independent testing centers in the relevant jurisdiction

when delivering raw materials/intermediates to the Group;

4. Cooperating with well-known universities or their authorised organisations
to conduct testing and accreditation on products, such as clinical trials, to

ensure the safety and effectiveness of products;

5. Appointing third-party independent testing agencies accredited under the
Hong Kong Laboratory Accreditation Scheme to perform safety testing on
traditional Chinese medicine and health supplement products, such as heavy
metals, pesticide residues and microbial counts, etc., before launching into

the market;

6. Conducting microbiological tests in the packaging plant to ensure that the

production environment meets the relevant safety standards;

7. Applying and outsourcing the latest testing and technologies to enhance
quality control, such as High Performance Liquid Chromatography, DNA
fingerprinting for herbs and Thin-Layer Chromatography.
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In case of large-scale product safety issues, procedures for product recall will
be triggered to minimise the impacts brought by the products and to respond
to the public and our customers in a timely manner. Our food safety team will
inform the Food and Environmental Hygiene Department of Hong Kong and
the public of product recall once health and safety issues are discovered in our
products, and we will stop selling the nonconforming product immediately. The
nonconforming product which is still in production or storage will be segregated
and on site inspection will be conducted to reconcile the quantity of suspected
material or product. The food safety team is responsible for ensuring the accuracy
of all reconciliation and carry out the handling of the nonconforming materials or
product afterwards. The reason of nonconformity will be identified via thorough
investigation and data analysis. Corrective actions will be taken accordingly to
prevent the recurrence of health and safety issues. In order to make the product
recall team conversant with the product recall procedures, a product recall drill is
conducted at least once per year. During the Reporting Period, the Group was not

subjected to any cases of product recall due to safety and health reasons.

The Group’s commitment to the highest quality standard has been reflected by
the accreditation of ISO 22000 Food Safety Management System and Hazard
Analysis and Critical Control Points certification for its packaging plant. To satisfy

customers’ demand, we are devoted to developing new products.
During the Reporting Period, there was no reported case of non-compliance of

relevant laws and regulations relating to health and safety of products and services

provided.
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PROVISION OF QUALITY SERVICES

The Group places high priority on customers’ satisfaction and hence endeavours to
address the needs of customers by providing professional, customised, responsive
and caring services. Our customer service departments or sales and editorial teams
are responsible for maintaining a constant communication with clients in order to
understand their feedback about our products or services. Staff in the department
is also responsible for handling complaints from customers so as to address their
needs and provide suitable responses timely. A clear set of procedures for handling
customer complaints have been set out for various business divisions of the Group,
in order to keep clear record of the complaints and its outcome after handling, as
well as ensuring that customer complaints are handled professionally and with
high quality. Once relevant complaints are received, the responsible staff will
investigate the cases and help work out the solutions in an appropriate and timely
manner. Customers can also contact our customer service staff via service hotline
or email to arrange for product returns and refund. During the Reporting Period,
the Group received a total of 12 (2023/24: 7) cases of product and service related

complaints.

ADVERTISING AND LABELLING

Advertising and labelling are particularly important to health and beauty products
as impacts can be critical if inaccurate information and messages are conveyed
to customers. Therefore, the Group always ensures that the advertisements and
labels of our products are in compliance with the requirements of relevant laws
and regulations of Hong Kong, including but not limited to the Trade Descriptions
Ordinance (Chapter 362 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Undesirable Medical
Advertisements Ordinance (Chapter 231 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Food and

Drugs (Composition and Labelling) Regulations (Chapter 132W of the Laws of

Hong Kong), the Chinese Medicine Ordinance (Chapter 549 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), and the equivalent and relevant laws overseas. We undertake to truthfully
present all necessary product information, especially ingredients information, to
customers in order to achieve transparency and provide customers with sufficient
knowledge on our products. Also, we ensure all advertising and labelling materials
are checked by the quality assurance team and legal advisers before releasing
to the market. In the meantime, we keep abreast of any updates or development
of relevant laws and regulations to ensure the compliance with latest legal

requirements.

During the Reporting Period, there was no reported case of non-compliance of

relevant laws and regulations relating to advertising and labelling.
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CUSTOMER PRIVACY PROTECTION

With regard to customer privacy, the Group is committed to protecting the personal
data of all our customers by complying with relevant laws and regulations,
including but not limited to the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Chapter 486
of the Laws of Hong Kong) of Hong Kong. We have also formulated policy on
customer privacy and data protection. Minimal personal data of customers are
collected only for normal business operation, such as goods delivery, conducting
customer surveys and anonymous data analysis, which may help us improve our
business relationships. The collected data will not be used without the consent of

the related persons.

To ensure the personal data or other confidential information of our customers are
properly stored, we have a management protocol of IT system in place to regulate
the storage of information, under which only related staff can have the access to
confidential information. Also, employees are required to be at all times alert to
the importance of protecting customer confidential data, especially those stored in
portable electronic devices. Besides, terms of confidentiality are clearly listed in
our employment contract that all employees are prohibited to divulge any restricted
information, including the personal data of our customers, to any parties during or

after employment.

During the Reporting Period, there was no reported case of non-compliance of

relevant laws and regulations relating to privacy matters.

PROTECTING INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY
RIGHTS

The Group has shown continuous support for innovative Chinese medicine by
collaborating with several universities to carry out researches on innovative
products. One of the launched products is “Bone Enhancement” developed together
with the Chinese University of Hong Kong. Although a number of our products
are generic, we strive to protect our brand and products’ uniqueness from other
similar products while not infringing the rights of others. In order to better protect
our product inventions and innovations from potential plagiarism and protect the
benefit of the Group, the Group actively applies for trademarks for our newly

developed products and product lines.
We have established the policy on marketing and advertising. It monitors whether
the products and advertisements have caused infringements of intellectual property

rights, and forbids those in violation to advertise on online platforms.

During the Reporting Period, there was no reported case of infringement of

relevant laws and regulations relating to intellectual property rights.
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ANTI-BRIBERY AND CORRUPTION

Unethical behaviour is a potential source of risk that not only tarnishes the image
of an enterprise, but also weakens the stability of its business. A stable and healthy
development of the Group depends on the integrity of our employees, thus we
strictly comply with the laws and regulations related to anti-corruption behaviour,
including but not limited to the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Chapter 201 of
the Laws of Hong Kong) of Hong Kong.

In view of the Group’s focus on anti-bribery and corruption behaviour, we have
subsequently formulated the Code of Ethics as internal guidelines for guiding
employees’ behaviour regarding various aspects such as personal benefits, conflicts
of interest and relations with suppliers and contractors. The Code of Ethics has also
provided guidelines to the methods for handling any breach of the Code of Ethics,
which includes disciplinary actions, termination of employment and reporting to
the Independent Commission Against Corruption (“ICAC”). The Group has also
implemented a Whistleblowing Policy where employees are encouraged to report
any existing or potential breach of the Code of Ethics and suspected misconduct.
The policy acts as a peer-monitoring mechanism to prevent any corruptive

behaviour.

During the Reporting Period, the Group actively shared the anti-corruption
information from relevant authorities with directors through email circulations.
These training materials were sourced from ICAC. To strengthen awareness and
understanding around integrity and compliance among staff, we will keep relaying
relevant updates and training opportunities. During the Reporting Period, 10 staff

members completed a one-hour training session on anti-corruption.

During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any breach of laws
and regulations on the Group in relation to bribery, corruption, extortion, fraud
and money laundering, and there was no legal case regarding corrupt practices,

extortion and money laundering brought against the Group or its employees.
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RESPONSIBLE SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT

A proper and responsible management of the supply chain is essential for
maintaining the high quality and stability of products as well as the sustainable
development of the Group. In the health and beauty supplements business, the
Group mainly engages suppliers to provide us with raw materials. In order to
ensure product quality, we have established a comprehensive mechanism for
selecting suitable suppliers in a fair and reasonable way and we consider suppliers
from all over the world, such as New Zealand, Australia, Malaysia, Taiwan, Japan,
USA, PRC and Hong Kong. The major suppliers by geographical location is as
follow:

Major Suppliers by Geographical Location in 2025
ZR TR AR SRR B 4y 1) 2 SR v

fi £
Taiwan Taiwan
10 8
(16%) 15%)

HoAth Tk HoAth,

Others Hong Kong Others

12 28 11

20%) (46%) 21%)
Gl i
PRC PRC
11 10
(18%) 19%)

During the selection of suppliers and subcontracting manufacturers, factors in a
variety of aspects are taken into account including business scale, financial status,
production capacity, production process and environment, quality control system,
product safety and delivery performance. Suppliers are required to provide quality
check certificates and/or product analysis reports, or provide samples for laboratory
testing, before the delivery of raw materials/intermediates. Preference is usually
given to suppliers who have obtained certifications such as Hazard Analysis
and Critical Control Point, Good Manufacturing Practices and International
Organization for Standardization. During the Reporting Period, the Group had 61
(2023/24: 53) major suppliers within the reporting scope, which are all subject to

supplier engagement practice.
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Environmental and social risks along the supply chain are always considered
by the Group. We give priority to suppliers that comply with national, regional
and industrial environmental standards, and follow internationally recognised
standards. We also value the employment compliance of suppliers. To ensure that
suppliers have adopted sufficient occupational health and safety policies, we take
into consideration whether suppliers comply with all relevant local and national
health and safety laws and regulations. We will terminate the cooperation at once
with suppliers who are found to be incompliant with relevant laws and regulations

regarding anti-bribery, anti-corruption and any other unethical business practices.

Upon engagement, our procurement team will cooperate with the quality assurance
team to evaluate the suppliers based on the procurement procedures, after-sales
services and product safety. Moreover, site audits on selected suppliers should be
also conducted regularly in an effort to ensure their committed quality standards
are maintained. Furthermore, we endeavor to select environmentally-friendly
products and services during procurement. For example, we prioritise local
suppliers to reduce the carbon footprint caused by procurement, and prefer eco-
friendly products which are energy-efficient or made of recyclable materials such as

refillable pens and recycled paper.

OUR ENVIRONMENT

Along with the rising awareness of and concern over environmental issues
triggered by businesses nowadays, the Group has recognised the environmental
impacts, which are not seriously detrimental though, resulted from our
business operations and has attached great importance to the implementation
of environmental protection policies. As a responsible corporation, we have
carried out measures covering emission control, waste management and resources
conservation by following relevant laws and regulations, including but not limited
to the Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 311 of the Laws of Hong Kong)
and the Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter 354 of the Laws of Hong Kong) of
Hong Kong. During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of any non-

compliance with relevant laws and regulations relating to environmental issues.
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AIR EMISSION CONTROL

As our operation is mainly concentrated in offices, warehouses and the packaging
plant, no heavy air and water pollution are associated with our business. The
majority of air pollutants, including nitrogen oxides, sulphur oxides and particulate
matter, are produced during the use of light goods vehicles for supporting our daily
operation. As a measure to control the emission of pollutants, the Group performs

maintenance and repairs on the vehicles so that high efficiency can be maintained.

Emission of air pollutants from the use of vehicles during the Reporting Period and

the corresponding period:

ZE SR P )

B TR A S P A - A
T - PR i S A Y 7 S
HKIEY o KHA ISR - AR A AL -
B P ABDRLA - 3402 B 0 0 LA
A IR o 2L o PR A 0
HEATHE MRS L - 1 1 P 5 e B B0 406 -
50 0 8%

TR S 5 U ) 2 R SO ey 8 ) S 2 2 9 22 S5
el PRt -

2024/25 2023/24
Types of emission’ HE il PR TR/ TR SEF /IR
Nitrogen oxides (kg) REALY) (T 50) 183.5% 48.5
Sulphur oxides (kg) el (T352) 0.3 0.3
Particulate matter (kg) TR (F52) 15.42 2.7
Notes: 5L -
1. The calculation of pollutant emissions is based on the “Reporting Guidance on 1. T5 G R 0TS AR BRI 58 T T8 2 R T S SR A

Environmental KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange.

2. The increase in nitrogen oxides and particulate matter emissions during the Reporting Period
is attributed to a higher number of light goods vehicles in operation, leading to elevated

emissions.

The topic of climate change has sparked heated discussions in recent years across
the globe and has drawn the attention of enterprises. The Group is no exception
and has increased its awareness towards the causes and impacts of climate change
ever since. The sources of our greenhouse gas emission include combustion of
fuels in vehicles, use of purchased electricity, electricity used for water and sewage
treatment, business air travel by employees and disposal of waste paper to landfills.
The Group has planned to replace existing vehicles with electric vehicles in the
coming years to achieve environmental friendliness. Also, efforts have been put on
the control of greenhouse gas emission by exerting ourselves in the implementation
of a series of measures such as paper recycling, energy saving and resources

conservation (for details, please refer to “Resources Conservation”).
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Greenhouse gas emissions during the Reporting Period and the corresponding

period:

B~ g KBRS

R S0 T B A I 3 ] 2 S R PR A

2024/25 2023/24
Greenhouse gas emissions! 152 SR e B RO/ RARE SR/ TR
Total emissions (tonnes of CO,e) APk (W A bR =) 196 212
Scope 1: Direct emissions? 1 - B 59 50
Scope 2: Energy indirect emissions? 2 - BRUR PR 137 162
Scope 3: Other indirect emissions* 3 - HoA P 0.4 0.3
Intensity (tonnes of CO,e)/million HKD R (M AR
of revenue) (TN TR &) 0.79 0.91

Notes: [ 5E -

1. The Group’s greenhouse gas inventory includes carbon dioxide, methane and nitrous oxide, 1. ARG F i A S M A ULk~ W R — L
and the greenhouse gas emissions data is presented in carbon dioxide equivalent. The TR o By B A > R SR PR L R
calculation of greenhouse gas emissions is based on the reporting requirements of “Reporting LB 5 R o U2 SR R ROTS B 7 T 52 T 1) 8 1)
Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange. CHR I B S SR R R A6 5 | DI R 5 B8 15 o

2. Scope 1 includes direct emissions from the consumption of vehicle fuels of the Group. 2. 8 571 16 435 A 4 [ ER R ORORERE ) 2 LR D o FH B
The emission factors used for calculating emission is based on the “Reporting Guidance BT A R Y P AR 7% T 2 41 % 1 B 5 D e
on Environmental KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange. The increase was mainly due to a BRI TEMERRAE 51) o 30 32 B IR AT b 0 B
higher number of light goods vehicles in operation. HLECRHN o

3. Scope 2 includes indirect emissions from purchased electricity of the Group. The emission 3. i (7 26,475 A 4 8] S o g 1) R PR o RS PO
factors used for calculating emission is based on the “Reporting Guidance on Environmental {68 FR 00 B DR 0 35 A W 2 T P 2 1 B R S A
KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange. The decrease in electricity consumption during the FEERMEHRIE 1) o RS WM - B IHFER D T
Reporting Period resulted from the implementation of energy-saving measures. R i 1Y B o

4. Scope 3 includes other indirect emissions from waste paper disposal to landfills, electricity 4. [ 30 455 5 B L Y R AR~ K TG K R B

used for water and sewage treatment and business air travel by employees. The calculation
of greenhouse gas emissions from waste paper disposal is based on the “Reporting Guidance
on Environmental KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange. The Group does not have record in
accessing the data of waste paper disposal due to the item is determined by the Group to be
insignificant to our business operation during the Reporting Period. The emission factor used
for calculating water and sewage treatment is provided by the Water Supplies Department
and Drainage Services Department of Hong Kong. The calculation of greenhouse gas
emissions from business air travel by employees is based on the International Civil Aviation

Organisation Carbon Emissions Calculator.

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited JE & B4 B (5 1% ) A R 2 ¥
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TS A )R SR I T R A T 5 T T B ) BRI
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LA MR AR S MR 2 RO Bk o TR T K R BT
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WASTE MANAGEMENT

Proper handling of waste is another aspect the Group has laid emphasis on, adding
to air emission control. During the Reporting Period, the Group was not aware of
any material non-compliance with waste management related laws and regulations
including but not limited to the Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter 354 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) and the Hazardous Chemicals Control Ordinance (Chapter
595 of the Laws of Hong Kong), that would have a significant impact on the
Group.

During the Reporting Period, no hazardous waste was generated. The Group is
always keen to ensure that all hazardous waste is handled and treated in a legal and

appropriate way so as to avoid negative impacts on the environment.

The vast majority of non-hazardous waste is generated from expired food waste.
All non-hazardous waste is collected by qualified parties arranged by the office

building management.
The Group is keen to launch new package with thinner size and cancel unnecessary
materials such as product insert, so as to minimize the generation of paper and

plastic waste.

Waste generated during the Reporting Period and the corresponding period:

J5% 5 P 4 B

o 42 1l 22 ST e RO > AR SR B IR A Y
B Z 3% R o JRMRAE I > AR S e A
0] Ji% T AN S 8% SE ) 4 HIRE B ik A vk BRI
AR 5 L KRB B AR IR Y
J&E EROYD (75705 5535425 ) B # AL B4 2 )
RO (Bl 51555957 -

TR A T S S A R o AR - H S
TIREGR BT A A B S 2 LB T RE R Y 07 S
MR > DA SR BRI A TR

RZ W F B A A B TR o T AT
I % R b W O R TR TR T R B B AR A
AR -

AR IR At ROT R e AEBUH A
BRAORL > I AR > DU R D AR AN B
JEFM A

PR 0T B A IR 3 TR A ) B )

2024/25 2023/24
Waste disposal EREREE RO/ RARE SR/ TR
Hazardous waste (kg) HERBEY (T7%) - -
Intensity of hazardous waste HE B
(kg/million HKD of revenue) (F50/H H E ool - -
Non-hazardous waste (kg)" e E FEEY) (T 50) ! 9,013* 2,800
Intensity of non-hazardous waste T R A
(kg/million HKD of revenue) (Fo/H A EBITI ) 36.05 11.91
Notes: FRFEE -
1. Emissions data related to non-hazardous waste results from health and beauty supplements 1. PETSCBCR B E BRI A B > TR Eh A R I A A ek
that have become unusable due to expiration. {7 DRAER AN SE 25460 i o
2. Non-hazardous waste was increased due to a higher volumes of expired health and beauty 2. Fl 7 A R S 5 T 7 R - S RS

supplements and products.
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In order to uphold and underpin the principle of “Reduce, Reuse, Recycle and
Replace”, the Group has actively pushed forward various measures to reduce
waste generation. In terms of paper consumption, we disseminate information
by electronic means, such as electronic bills, electronic posters, etc., whenever
possible to reduce the usage of paper. We have also set the printers and computers
to default duplex and economical modes and encourage our staff to use both sides
of paper before disposal. The use and procurement of disposable items, items with
low durability and items with excessive packaging are avoided and replaced with
ones that could be reused as far as practicable. Our employees are encouraged
to recycle all waste paper, metal and plastic, and purchase products that can be
effectively reused, recycled or repaired to reduce waste. We also evaluate the usage

of material on a regular basis to avoid overstock and wastage.

RESOURCES CONSERVATION

As the Group is operating a small-scale packaging plant under our health and
beauty supplements and products segment, packaging materials, which can be
classified into paper products, plastic and aluminum paper, are beyond dispute the
major resources used by the Group. To reduce the use of packaging materials, the
Group advocates the adoption of simple packaging and encourages consolidated
package for bulk purchase of 6 to 24 bottles of our products. In the meantime, we
also take measures to reduce unnecessary packaging materials, such as reducing
the use of manuals inserted into products and using generic boxes to improve

material efficiency and reduce waste.

Packaging materials used during the Reporting Period and the corresponding

period:

B~ g KBRS

ALEUUTBA A - WA - JEEREE > R
6 2 L) > R AT 45 T B > DASR D R
PR o ARARTHFE DT AT > FAM S AT AEAE A R 17 S
RAEE S IR TR SR TR U AR
SRR o FRAM TSI BN A 78 S T v A
R > 7 MY B T E S8 ARk 2 il T ARl
WM o FE AT ATROIE LT > B T o e 5 i 1)
0GRS — U o Sl AT ST R el B AR
AR A L) A8 L ELE R ) o FRAM B0 B
Tl A REAR > A Sl R AR A O
EEAA - e R E S IR IR -
ARG 7 SET A AR (A L - DU S A7 B
ZARE -

i &0 DR

R A A S T 1) % (0 55 25 A i D 728 iy 70 9 L 8 4
NI T GRS RHINAR R b - B M AR
S 2 A S T {6 1 ) T B R o D i A A
PRk > A G2 AR BR T B o Oy 5 R s At A
HEANE IR ARG B DU A &R o Bt
]I > FRAM TR R BURS it LAk D A b 22 1 L 4 )
HE o AN TE T i A B (o
L2 G LABR S bR 2 B D BE ) -

T S5 FHD oA 300 o 1) B0 e ol T 4

2024/25 2023/24
Packaging materials usage A2 PR TR/ THEE  F =/ IR
Total consumption (tonnes): HEVHFER (M) -
Paper products' AR 94.9 112.9
Plastic! P2y 30.9 37.0
Aluminum paper SRAR 0.5 0.5
Intensity (g/piece of finished products): R (E/ R
Paper products i 64.95 67.70
Plastic g 21.14 22.19
Aluminum paper FR AR 0.33 0.30
Notes: Ui
1. The decrease in consumption of paper products and plastic was mainly due to the decrease in 1. AR T B IBJR  T RE  Be  EEJR eh  R H  E

the total number of products sold during the Reporting Period.

RO TR -
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In addition to packaging materials, water and energy are also resources consumed
by the Group. The energy and water consumption during the Reporting Period and

the corresponding period are as follows:

B &L B PR Ak - oK K RE YR IR 2 A% SR [ R 10
R o TA S T TR B AR E A ] > K R BE IR A T AE
e

2024/25 2023/24

Energy and water consumption AR IR B K WY FE B RO/ HAEE  F T/ TR
Total energy consumption (mWh) HLRBIR I FE R CR L) 597 634

Fuel combustion for vehicles' AR R 228 198

Purchased electricity? S 772 369 437
Energy consumption intensity RE TR T FE2 E

(mWh/million HKD of revenue) (JKFUIRE /A5 B B Tk as) 2.39 2.70
Total water consumption (m?3)? HFEKE (ST J7K)3 285 295
Water consumption intensity FEKT

(m*/million HKD revenue of health (3775 K /A B 55 25 A8 ity B

and beauty supplements and HEBE R E A TR )

products segment) 1.14 1.28

Notes:

1. The consumption of vehicle fuels is calculated based on the energy conversion factor from

the “Reporting Guidance on Environmental KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange.

2. The consumption of purchased electricity is calculated based on the actual amount of
purchased electricity. The decrease in electricity consumption during the Reporting Period

resulted from the implementation of energy-saving measures.

3. The water consumption is calculated based on the actual amount of water consumption.

The Group is aware of the possible impacts resulted from the use of energy such as
the emission of greenhouse gases and other air pollutants, therefore we shoulder the
burden of emission reduction and have dedicated considerable efforts to reducing
energy consumption in our office operation. To meet the energy consumption
target, the Group took measures of purchasing new machines with higher
productivity. In addition, we turn off lighting when not in use and maximise the
use of natural light to the greatest extent wherever possible. We have also installed
energy-efficient light tubes to conserve energy. Besides, employees are required to
turn off electronic appliances completely when not in use in order to avoid energy
wastage. For the air-conditioning system, we carry out cleaning regularly so as to
maintain its efficiency, and ensure that the air-conditioned room temperature is
maintained at 24-26 degrees Celsius. To reinforce our carbon-reduction initiatives,
we encourage our employees to use video conferencing to substitute business trips.
For unavoidable trips, direct flights and economy class are preferred to minimise

carbon emission.
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Water is also a type of resources used by the Group. The Group endeavours to
reduce water consumption in daily usage as far as possible. We always encourage
our employees to save water and avoid wastage wherever possible. During the

Reporting Period, there was no issue in sourcing water that is fit for purpose.

REDUCTION TARGET

Recognising the importance of sustainability issues, the Group has set ESG
performance targets to evaluate the effectiveness of our ESG policies and
measures. We have identified energy, water, and waste as our key ESG areas by

setting performance targets accordingly. Details are as follow:

B~ g KBRS

KTRSR A P A — TR o A SR B0 3
B B KR o FRAM AR SOl B T A ] AE
A TR B G R 2 o TP it 0 0 SR IO K D
7 A T

WHEIFE H

FRER B T FRA s R M EEE > AREESE T
ESGHALHHE » ARTAL FAMESGBURE K 45 it 14 1k
B o FRAME S RETR ~ 7K % A 2 2 FRAM 1 B
HEESGAEI, - e THER AR AR  FEFI T ¢

Environmental KPI Reduction Target Baseline Year Status
BRUE R S B R AR Wk H AR FLgpaE HEJE

Air Pollutant Intensity Reduce 1% by Year 2025/26 Year 2020/21 In progress
ZE SRS YW TR/ TN 1% “ROF/CFE TP
Greenhouse Gas Emission Intensity Reduce 1% by Year 2025/26 Year 2021/22 In progress
L = S O TR/ TN 1% TR/ TR TR
Hazardous Waste Intensity Reduce 2% by Year 2025/26 Year 2022/23 In progress
A B TR/ TN ERTR 2% TR/ AR T
Non-Hazardous Waste Intensity Reduce 2% by Year 2025/26 Year 2022/23 In progress
I R ) TR/ TN 2% TRCT/ TR TR
Energy Consumption Intensity Reduce 1% by Year 2025/26 Year 2021/22 In progress
REIRIH AR ZE N/ ZNEERTE 1% e S/t o S
Water Consumption Intensity Reduce 1% by Year 2025/26 Year 2020/21 In progress
FEAK o BE TR/ TN 1% TERCE/CAEE T

CLIMATE CHANGE Y 4|4

Climate change is rapidly emerging as one of the most significant issues across
countries and is closely related to all businesses regardless of their nature. The
Group is no exception, taking into consideration the potential impacts on the
Group from risks brought by the changing climate. The Group has identified
several climate-related risks that may adversely impact the Group’s operations and

development of the health and beauty supplements and products business.

SRS IE A R Sy AR % 2 I B 2
— o BAAT NS AR o AR TR YIS >
TR SRR 528 AL i e 24 J o 3 A 4 T 9 TR A S 28 -
AR Tl ) 8 T B SRR B - Sl B AR SR
T R A B 5 2 o B o 2 TR A A £ T
R o
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Physical Acute Risk

The Group has identified extreme weather such as typhoons, heavy rain, thunder
and lightning and flooding that can cause physical acute risk. These extreme
weathers affect the normal operation of our production equipment, hinder and
harm our employees’ health and safety and disrupt the Group’s supply chain,
thereby disrupting or even interrupting the operations of the Group and damaging

the Group’s assets.

The above potential consequences will cause economic losses and increase

operating costs to the Group.

The Group has established different measures as below to prevent and minimize

the negative effect of extreme weather.

B S B

7 S ) G T AR T S LB ) B 3 R
S DI meE - BT~ TR EAK S o %5
ik s R SR R AN A 7 A ) I R > SRS
B LR % 2 > 36 T AR 5 F Y A
B fE AL 2 P BT A R M IR
SR B E -

VL _E VBT AR I S B R 18 % T T B AR 43 T 1 &8
BAS o

ARG F ) E LLR AR A5 > LABY 1k b 3 i
D Wi i R SR T 2

Physical Acute Risk
B T
Extreme weather Preventative and mitigation measures
H i R 58, e Bl B 45 fR 4 i
Typhoons, Heavy rain and Flooding -  Monitor local weather conditions
Thunder and Lightning - BB R SR

i~ FEFBOK S~ TR RN

—  Move materials and equipment to safety areas in advance, or covered with a tarp

- TASCH AR RSO RS B e i o S B

—  Reinforce equipment and components that may be blown/washed away

— I AT BERRGE /I E R B R A

—  Control travel and outdoor work before the arrival of lightning

—  TEPYEERUHEEN AT RS A TAR

—  Provide flexible work arrangements with precautionary measures in place

- HEHETEREG - RN TR L

—  Remind employees to save data and turn off computers

- PREE B TR RE X B

—  Clean up trash and make sure drains unblocked

— BRI TEORIRIE N E

—  Keep good conditions of earthing devices

- R B R

—  Improve emergency plans and upgrade equipment

- BEE G T
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Physical Chronic Risk

The Group has identified extreme weather such as extremely hot weather can cause
physical chronic risk. The potential consequences include an increased chance of
getting heatstroke for employees working outdoor or in the workshop, increasing
turnover rate and work-related injuries. The demand for cooling for the working
environment will be increased, which may lead to an increase in power demand

and operating costs to the Group.

The Group has established different measures as below to prevent and minimize

the negative effect of extreme weather.

Physical Chronic Risk
BTN P B
Extreme weather Preventative and mitigation measures
i 5 R SR e B % A% 45 it

B~ g KBRS

RS 1 B

7% 52 9 2 ) T S R o ) s RS (A
ik R AR SR o AT REE A PO AR A BLETE P AR T
B TARR) B T B i wl BEVERE I - R R T A
ETb e TARBRIBE R A 7 ROR B 1 m A el e
HEHOACSE B 19 5 ) R A A

T TR e i 2 Wik oy KSR S RS2 28 > ACAE
il E AR A5 T I

Arrange outdoor work time wisely

W 22 P 5 Ah AR IR )

Extremely hot weather -
kS 98 AR -

—  Open windows to allow the air to circulate

- THEF > KN

—  Keep a First-aid kit convenient
- HzERE

—  First aid training for heat stroke or other relevant conditions

— B AR B LAY SR

—  Keep cold water available 24 hours a day

- RR24/NFHILRES K

Transition Risks

The Group may also face transition risks such as policy risks due to increasingly
stringent policies and enhanced emissions-reporting obligations, which may result
in higher compliance costs, higher risks of claims and lawsuits and increasing needs
of climate-related capital investment to lower greenhouse gas emissions. Besides,
corporate reputation may decline if we fail to meet the compliance requirements
for climate change or transit to a more sustainable and environmentally friendly

corporation, which in turns leading to a decreased demand of our products.

8 0 J it

A S F 7 T T B A0 O SR o 0 e R RO H AR
SRR T B ke 2 S iR T A ) BOR AR - TE
]RSO R A A RS ~ TR A R R A
B o LA B 2 ek AR 2 S A BB T 3 o 1 S A B
EARBCETOR o WA > B AR RE T A2 SRR L
B REEOR - BN REAE P A S AT R AR S BROR Y
N RSEREATREE T > AR E ECE AN
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The Group has established different measures as below to prevent and minimize

the negative effects of transition risk.

Transition Risk

AR ] KR H 5 LT S [e] i il A 8 Bl 2% 2 T 98
7D I R 1) R TR S o

Preventative and mitigation measures

Regularly review the Group’s climate-related policies and

I )l B
Climate-related risks description
S 1A B8 1 L B i Bl & 4% fR 45 1
Legal risk
B

Exposure to litigation risk. We have to adapt the tightened law
and regulations imposed by the local government due to climate
change, as well as bear the risk of potential litigation once we
fail to obligate the new regulations

TE AR R0 JRBRE o A 20 0 G 5 ISP TR S 68 L T B i P s
FANERER  MORYE— B3R ARBEIEATHTA AL 0 55 T
HEE A2 19 iR s SR

Supply Chain risk
AR By

Climate change may cause species to decline or become extinct,
especially Chinese herbal plants, which may affect the supply of
raw materials for related products

SRS L T REE B D SR > FRRR R e - iE
I RER AR B 2 0 4 R R R

measures to ensure that we stay up to date with the latest
government policies, regulatory updates

S ) A /A B T Y SR A R RO B A G > D B T P
INEOR ~ B8 B R e 20

Continue monitoring of the ESG reporting standards of the Hong
Kong Listing Rules
BB U B TR ES G T 1 e

Inform relevant departments about the regulatory updates relevant
to climate change in time, where necessary, to be prepared to
comply with new policies

A 85 IR e FRF ) A I 340 10 0 S BEL S 9 5 £ L R B ) i AR S
VAR 7% 88 ST 007 ISR A YR A

Regularly review the condition of supply chain

S 1 A AL IR L

Make alternative plans in advance for raw materials and
corresponding products that are significantly affected by climate
change

Shp 2 SR AL S B A P B AR B 8 b 2 T Al R A K

il

To mitigate the aforementioned climate-related risks, the Group follows market
trends regarding climate-related risks to keep itself up to date with the latest

development in climate-related issues, so as to identify and evaluate the Group’s

climate-related risks.

OUR COMMUNITY

As a socially responsible organization, the Group recognises the importance of
community well-being and looks forward to growing our business in partnership
with local communities. We are dedicated to participating in charitable activities

and volunteer services in order to provide support to the needy in society.
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The Group actively puts great effort into caring for the elderly and the vulnerable
groups in society by organising and participating in different volunteering services.
During the Reporting Period, we have donated a total of 52 pieces of iron pans,
446 pieces of spoons to Chinese Christian Workers’ Fellowship Limited Wah Hei
Elderly Home (Comet Mansion), 100 boxes of masks, 80 pieces of toy boxes and a
carton of hand fans to Hong Kong Sheng Kung Hui Welfare Council Blessed Food,
and sponsored 150 boxes eye health supplements to St. Stephen’s Girls’ Primary
School for elderly visits. We aim to help the elderly and the people with disabilities

as well as cultivating a caring culture in the community.

In appreciation of our efforts put into community involvement and dedication to
corporate social responsibility, our subsidiaries have received the following awards

and recognition during the Reporting Period:

Awarded Subsidiary
HERE I 2w

Awarding Organisation

AR A

B~ g KBRS

A 4 180 908 o A A S 22 AN [ ) o RS AR 58
BB G R RIS B o PRSI > FAM
GRS ~ 446 AL T B & 2E A T
T g B e (405 ) X 1% > 1006 05 ~ 801
R G R — M TR T & U Gt R o & B
> SR 150G ot R T B A PR
JE/NRAEER R A 2 o MM B B R #H T
PN o [ IREAE I v 2 7 B 3% Sl o

Ry R TAM B AL 15 2 BT AT 09 55 ) B A AL
EEAL TR AR - FRA 0 B 2> w1 #7301
M1 SEHELL T SE TR R AT

Award and Recognition

BEIE AT

CULegend Company Limited

Tl ZE 5 sk P 2R DR A IR A A

Royal Medic (Holdings) Limited

T (25 AT BR A )

RM Group Holdings Limited

il 2 5 42 PP SBOAT BR A )

Royal Medic (Holdings) Limited
g () A IRA T

Royal Medic (Holdings) Limited

A (R0 AT BR A )

Royal Medic (Holdings) Limited

R (20 A BR A A

Royal Medic (Holdings) Limited
THZES (FE) A BR A F]

Hong Kong Brand Development Council

s i R S SR

Hong Kong Brand Development Council

s A B S

The Hong Kong Council of Social Service

A R R

GS1 Hong Kong
v B A

Hong Kong Consortium for Medical,

Nursing and Healthcare Development

s R T B W

Focus Media Hong Kong

HKO1 Company Limited
FHOIA MR

Hong Kong Top Brand Mark (Top Mark) under
Hong Kong Top Brand Mark Scheme
2 RS ) 70 42 R A (TOPE)

Hong Kong Top Brand Mark (Top Mark) —
Ordinary & Premier Mark under Hong Kong
Top Brand Mark Scheme

AU 44 R A 3 7 44 R B (TOPIE ) —
W - AR

10 Year Plus Caring Company
AR O4F sl DA A 7 S FrR Rl

10+ Years Award under Consumer Caring Scheme
LA S R B 1 04F+

Medical Choice — Health Brand Achievement
Award 2024
R 2 % — (R RR T UL K 582024

15th your choice @ focus award 2024 — Most
Preferred “Cordyceps Health Supplement” Brand
Award Among Hong Kong White-collar workers
B 0 A U S R A R 2024 —

N ER e Al LN TN

Popular NMN Brand Award 2024 by HKO1
T HEO LI A 305 i WK IR B K 482024 —
NSENMN G i
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APPENDIX: CONTENT INDEX OF ENVIRONMENTAL, Fif &% : (3R¥E - 4L & R R ER

SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORTING GUIDE SIHNA R 5
ESG Indicators Summary Sections Page
ESGHiEE Tt i i HX
Environment
B
A1 Emissions
Al $E
General Disclosure Information on: Our Environment 91
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
— R A BB S BB~ 1K R i R - FRAMAOER S 91
A T BRI R AR
(a) BUOR ;s K
(b) BESFEFEAT A AT B A B s A A
R o
KPI Al.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions  Air Emission Control 92-93
data.
KPI Al1 PR AR KA B HE ) B - 22 SRR FE 92-93
KPI A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2)  Air Emission Control 93
greenhouse gas emissions and, where appropriate,
intensity.
KPI A1.2 T (BRI 1) KRR e (BRI R R R 22 e i 93
Ko (B J1)) % B o
KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced and, where Waste Management 94-95
appropriate, intensity.
KPI A1.3 JITE A A E R AR e (B ) 4 JEEFE) A B 94-95
KPI Al.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced and, where =~ Waste Management 94-95
appropriate, intensity.
KPI Al.4 ST AR A A R (I ) JBE FE) I 94-95
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ESG Indicators Summary Sections Page

ESGH& Bk Fi b HK

KPI A1.5 Description of emissions target(s) set and steps  Air Emission Control 92-97
taken to achieve them. Resources Conservation

KPLALS T TR SL A PR B AR R B s S BT R 2 SRR 92-97
T2 B - [iEON<¢/d

KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous = Waste Management 94-95
wastes are handled, and a description of reduction
target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

KPIA1.6 Tt g A T I BRI i RO RTRT R SR 94-95
7 R R N 7y B 7 26 BRI R I 2B R

A2 Use of Resources

A2 B

General Disclosure Policies on the efficient use of resources, including  Resources Conservation 95-97
energy, water and other raw materials.

— AR AR AR (AT RETR - K B HABE A R B B4 &R 95-97
o

KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type  Resources Conservation 96
in total and intensity.

KPI A2.1 PR B 43 0 e K/ R R AR R ARE B S ETAO IR 96
JE o

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity. Resources Conservation 96

KPI A2.2 HFEK R R - i 4 B IR 96

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set Resources Conservation 96-97
and steps taken to achieve them.

KPI A2.3 TR ITET LA R IR G B AR S B E s B HiZ BT 96-97
KRR R 2L B -

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing  Resources Conservation 97
water that is fit for purpose, water efficiency
target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

KPI A2.4 R IR MK IR L AT AL > DLR BT S AT R 97
B4 7K 0 2 B R B Ay 2 3] 4 A T SR R 25
3

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished products  Resources Conservation 95
and, if applicable, with reference to per unit
produced.

KPI A2.5 SR BT LSRR R A B T (I ) R EE . B A 95
fiflite -
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ESG Indicators Summary Sections Page

ESGHR 1 1Bt i HX

A3 The Environment and Natural Resources

A3 BRE R RREWR

General Disclosure Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant ~ Our Environment 92
impact on the environment and natural resources.

— iR TAREEAT N BT T KR B W RO B SRR BR S 92
% o

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities  Our Environment 92
on the environment and natural resources and the
actions taken to manage them.

KPI A3.1 Mt SEB A BB BRI R R R BRI R B R D MBS 92
PREUCE B B BN AT ) -

A4 Climate Change

Ad Fr5Eb

General Disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of Climate Change 97-100
significant climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer.

— A EE A B e O RS KT RE B AT A A SR AL 97-100
IESRARAR B S EL A BOK

KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues ~ Climate Change 97-100
which have impacted, and those which may impact,
the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them.

KPI A4.1 fifit O A8 T T R S B EEAT N AR SR SRR SUREE AL 97-100

AHBHSE > REEATE) o
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ESGHi# LR Fi b HK
Social
PN
Employment and Labour Practices
1 00 B2 55 T L
B1 Employment
B1 fi&fi
General Disclosure Information on: Our Talent 77-80
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment
and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and other
benefits and welfare.
— s A BB R WR - B RET - LAEREC R MRS 78-80
) PR - 2ol - RO DA HA RS K
fEME -
(a) BUOR s K
(b) BESFEFEAT A AE G B A B s A R
R o
KPIBI.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type, age  Our Talent 78-79
group and geographical region.
KPIBI.1 FRVER - RMEEAY SRR T B R E R A 78-79
A
KPIBI1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and  Our Talent 80
geographical region.
KPIBI.2 FEPER ~ AFERALA Bl ) A9 IR B R o BRI 80
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B2 Health and Safety
B2 f# R %4
General Disclosure Information on: Health and Safety 81
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the issuer
relating to providing a safe working environment
and protecting employees from occupational
hazards.
— A EE AR 2 TARBRIE AR B et e (EiRBilZ & 81
FH
(a) BOR : &
(b) BESFENEEAT AAT IS B AR B VA 1 AR 451
O ERL ©
KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred ~ Health and Safety 81
in each of the past three years including the
reporting year.
KPI B2.1 2 = AF (R REHRAE D) AR Lol N R R B2 4 81
HeA o
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Health and Safety 81
KPI B2.2 R TAGHE S TAE H e filt B B2 2 81
KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and safety Health and Safety 81
measures adopted, and how they are implemented
and monitored.
KPI B2.3 L T R A 0 A R B A - DAORHBRL B A 81
1T BB ITi% o
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ESGH#i# i i HK

B3 Development and Training

B3 & K3l

General Disclosure Policies on improving employees’ knowledge and  Training and Development 82-83
skills for discharging duties at work. Description of
training activities.

— R A R THE BB AT AFRT A A MR B Bl B g 82-83
Ko MR ING B -

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by gender and  Training and Development 83
employee category.

KPI B3.1 FePE I B A B B3 1 52 I Mg B P B | S 83

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per employee  Training and Development 83
by gender and employee category.

KPI B3.2 VRN B A B B0 > AR B S ZANT HBEER 83
HIRFH -

B4 Labour Standards

B4 55 THEH

General Disclosure Information on: Employment and Labour Practices 80-81
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations

that have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to preventing child and forced labour.

— e A BRI (- T sl i 45 Y AR B 55 T 3 80-81
() BUE 5 &
(OF-SE:E GUNEPNSZ UL b eyies iy

9 E0RL ©

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment Employment and Labour Practices 80
practices to avoid child and forced labour.

KPI B4.1 LA w091 1 e DA S B T RCGR SRR S AR 80
T o

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such Employment and Labour Practices 80
practices when discovered.

KPI B4.2 Tl E B BUE R DURH R B DURT SR 25 R e 55 T o 80
3 o
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Operating Practices
B
BS Supply Chain Management
BS 3t g 4 PEL
General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks ~ Responsible Supply Chain 90-91
of the supply chain. Management
— AR 7 B R Y BRI A R R o BT AR A 90-91
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. Responsible Supply Chain 90
Management
KPI B5.1 Hetth I B ) BRERT BH - A FAT R e Sl 90
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging Responsible Supply Chain 91
suppliers, number of suppliers where the practices Management
are being implemented, and how they are
implemented and monitored.
KPI B5.2 A GRS  BERER RO L - i HRT A BRG] A SRR B 91
AL RERTROE > LLRAH BIRAT R B ik -
KPIB5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental ~ Responsible Supply Chain 90-91
and social risks along the supply chain, and how Management
they are implemented and monitored.
KPI B5.3 Tl R T A R S I BR B () R BT e B R BT (e A B 90-91
B DA RN B AT B B 8T i
KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote Responsible Supply Chain 90-91
environmentally preferable products and services Management
when selecting suppliers, and how they are
implemented and monitored.
KPIB5.4 RAE OB (R P R (R 2 P BRPRZE i BOIRES 19 BLSAE I (UM B B 90-91

B > LA RAHB AT R BTk
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ESGHi# LR Fi b HK
B6 Product Responsibility
B6 ZE fh B AT
General Disclosure Information on: Safeguarding Product Quality 85-88
(a) the policies; and Provision of Quality Services
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations  Advertising and Labelling
that have a significant impact on the issuer Protecting Intellectual Property
relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling Rights
and privacy matters relating to products and services  Customer Privacy Protection
provided and methods of redress.
— A e AR AL SR IRBS Y (e B2 2~ gl - B MEE G EE 85-88
R RARE S DL R RO IR SRR s
(a) BOR; K J % RARER
(b) BESFHEITEAT ANA E I BN B TR DR R
AL TRAER LR
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject — Safeguarding Product Quality 85-86
to recalls for safety and health reasons.
KPI B6.1 O B O A i A R 2 S R i ARl LR 85-86
EECGENER A
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints  Provision of Quality Services 87
received and how they are dealt with.
KPI B6.2 MR B  E  BIRB I SRR DL R T o SRR 87
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and  Protecting Intellectual Property 88
protecting intellectual property rights. Rights
KPI B6.3 ool BRLAEHE DR R e 2 A TR A4 DR J T 2 HE 88
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall — Safeguarding Product Quality 85-87
procedures. Provision of Quality Services
KPI B6.4 iR AR E A % i (R SCRE o A S E R 85-87
PR AL IR B
KPIB6.5 Description of consumer data protection and  Customer Privacy Protection 88
privacy policies, and how they are implemented and
monitored.
KPI B6.5 T e 2 ORI R BB IBOR - LURARBEAT IR S RLRE 88
KTk -
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ESGHith ik ] HK

B7 Anti-corruption

B7 R &5

General Disclosure Information on: Anti-Bribery and Corruption 89
(a) the policies; and
(b) compliance with relevant laws and regulations

that have a significant impact on the issuer

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering.

— A EE A RART LR ~ BE - TR st B R J52 e e R 89
(a) BUR 5 K
(b) BESFEFEAT NAE I B A B s A A

R o

KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt  Anti-Bribery and Corruption 89
practices brought against the issuer or its employees
during the reporting period and the outcomes of the
cases.

KPIB7.1 S IR AT NSO R BER I R A A RO SR 89
TGRRRARIF R BE SR s R -

KPIB7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-  Anti-Bribery and Corruption 89
blowing procedures, and how they are implemented
and monitored.

KPI B7.2 Tl By T M S B T - DA MAHBRAT B SR SR 89
ik o

KPIB7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to  Anti-Bribery and Corruption 89
directors and staff.

KPIB7.3 it ) 2 o e 5 TR R B B - J i )68 B 89
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Community

PNy

B8 Community Investment

B8 ihE &

General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand  Our Community 100-101
the needs of the communities where the issuer
operates and to ensure its activities take into
consideration the communities’ interests.

— A EE A BRI [ 2 LA | s i A E R ARG FRAM AR 100-101
HCEBHE B & 25 AL [ A 45 R BUOR -

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution. Our Community 100-101
KPI BS.1 SO Rk R o FRA A A I 100-101
KPI B8.2 Resources contributed to the focus area. Our Community 100-101
KPI BS.2 TE ST WO 0T ) 1R - FA 4 a8 100-101
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K| MOORE

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF SHUNTEN INTERNATIONAL
(HOLDINGS) LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Shunten International
(Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collective referred to
as “the Group”) set out on pages 118 to 218, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 March 2025, and consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and
notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of material

accounting policy information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2025, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong

Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
(“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of
most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,

and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

3 7 A% il e

[oH s 2 w2 IR

B 1 SE R AR TR P SRR - R A
0 BB YRR O R TR S < s
ELRAE T A A 4 RS 4 L LI
HEATHEFING o F A A L SER (Ot M 25
o

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
B 2 =5 JH FRAMY i 7 w3 B8] S 2 2 SRR AT R P

Valuation of investment properties

idsE BT

We identified the valuation of investment properties as a key audit matter ~ Our procedures in relation to valuation of investment

due to the key source of estimation uncertainty and the significant assumptions  properties included:

and judgments involved in the valuation. A AL &Y A E TR T 245

FRAM R 4% L A (8 1% PR S e oL RUERL 2% o il (B 5 il st AN 2 R Y
B Y S AER Y EDN -GS o

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties were determined by
adopting the valuation techniques with significant unobservable inputs,
assumptions of market conditions and judgments on appropriate valuation
techniques and inputs adopted. The Group also worked closely with the -«
independent qualified valuer, to establish and determine the appropriate
valuation techniques.

AR T £ G 2E R P (ET AE BR T B R B A S Y A (B
FAT ~ T BLAB R AN I R 0 A (B R A R R HI e i g o o
7 P I BB 57 4 A PO A (BT 0 A1 DA ST E T A (B

iy o

As disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial position, the Group’s
investment properties as at 31 March 2025 amounting to HK$176,700,000.
MANER A BRI R TR > BEMR - F - HFE=A=T—H&KE -
W21 B AHIE 176,700,00095 7T ©

Reviewing the valuation report from external
independent qualified valuer and holding discussion
with management and external independent qualified
valuer to understand the valuation basis, methodology
used and underlying assumptions applied;
TR A1 B8 S Al L R )l (B > Sl B
g AN SN LA AR A B AT R a > T R TR
B (B AR YE ~ I FEEAREL 5

Understanding and evaluating management’s process
in respect of reviewing the valuation performed by
external independent qualified valuer;

1 A A R S S A ST AR A (B AT
B ) 2 AT

Evaluating of the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of external independent qualified valuer;
and

R SNBSS G B AR AR E R H R ~ A A& 8L
s R

Obtaining the underlying data including comparables
of market transactions and capitalisation rate being
used by the external independent qualified valuer and
assessing whether they are appropriate.

TRAGAH B B - LA SIS I 57 S A Al (i T BT 2
B A] LTI 5 22 5 R AL > MR A A B
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information included in the annual report, but does

not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other

information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report

that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether

due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible
for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis
of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease

operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s

financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions

of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment

and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional

omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

0 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s

internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the

directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause

the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a

manner that achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit
evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business units
within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the group financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of
the audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain solely

responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other

matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,

including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our

audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have

complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to

communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably

be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to

eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

116

Annual Report 2024/2025 4E

A BB 7w B S R AR TR Y
HAL (%)

. ST S PR T A A e R B A 1A B AR
A o AURPTHERUN A R HER MRS
7 B T A DUA B 9 Bl E 1 > 1T
A REEECE S A M R AR R AR R
BENE o QAR AAAAEERATEE - [
A BAERZ BTG, RS N B A
SABSHER P IR BR B ER - (B A BRI 4R A
AL BIFRAM e B R MR B R o MY
SRR TR, F R BT S  E RHE
i o RTM > RS IH S DL AT REE EO AL

RREFFAE -

 PEAATEAEN SRR - G
P - LR o AR A B 7
IR WS 5 R o

. FEHIGBAT AR ARt o DA A P A
SEH AL B BT ~ BE R
Wil JI AR S R R R
M A - BEME AR
MGUAT A2 st LAE o A5 B Rt R 4
HREAT: o

BRILA R TESL > FRAM BRI v T RE R e st
HOE -~ R PR - KRR B o AR RMAE
AT e S A R A A A AT R BA

FRAM 2R 1735 2R PR 22 W TR E AR S A B
8 S A A ) SRS PR Sl Bt ) A A T
RE 2 B b 45 58 20 R TR AM 8 S A 9 B A R A
FOATR IR o LA K /% T B 3 188 S Ak ) B BT BRI
FTEY BT R e () -



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the

public interest benefits of such communication.

Moore CPA Limited
Certitied Public Accountants
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditors

Kong Shao Fung
Practising Certificate Number: P07996

Hong Kong, 26 June 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
o By 18t B L il 2 v W i

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #%E —F _F4FE=H =+—H [L4FE
2025 2024
TR B~ 111 =
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
M SE Tt THTT
REVENUE W g 5 205,048 235,586
Cost of sales BH A AR (47,095) (51,374)
GROSS PROFIT EH 157,953 184,212
Other income, gains or losses HAUA ~ Wicss SR 7 941 1,643
Selling and distribution expenses B K EH B (53,131) (54,499)
Administrative expenses ATHBA % (102,002) (103,802)
Reversal of/(impairment loss) under expected  TEIAfE SRR T BEMUIR L
credit loss model on trade and other HC At R SR T 43 [ Dol s 18/
receivables (A EE) 202 (203)
Fair value change of investment properties VS S LT/E DN IEL Tl 16 (30,400) (15,000)
Finance costs PRl AR 8 (6,931) (7,777)
(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION B BE T O #5) /6 9 (33,368) 4,574
Taxation BiIE 12 (2,875) (4,056)
(LOSS)/PROFIT FOR THE YEAR N ) /6 A (36,243) 518
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (EXPENSE)/  HAi 21 (B 3% ) /W4
INCOME
Item that will not be reclassified to profit AEHEPSBEHELEWIEA :
and loss:
Change in fair value upon transfer from W - Fis Mkl E8E
property, plant and equipment to investment WA A ) A TESEE)
properties - 27,770
Item that may be reclassified subsequently to ] fiBBE % EHi 0 MR
profit or loss: JHH :
Exchange differences on translation of SRR SES A S k2 R Y R 01,
financial statements of foreign operations ZEHA (20) (141)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE (EXPENSE)Y  4F Py H Aty 2 i (P 3% ) /W4
INCOME FOR THE YEAR (20) 27,629
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE (EXPENSEY  4F i 21 (P 3% ) /W4 4838
INCOME FOR THE YEAR (36,263) 28,147
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
o By 18 it B L il 2 v W i

For the year ended 31 March 2025 % —F _FFE=H =+ —H IEFE
2025 2024
ST T
Notes HK$°000 HK$°000
i Tt THETT
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to: FEAGAE N (G 4R) /B F
Owners of the Company R/NGIE ZEDN (36,243) 571
Non-controlling interests FEFE I i - (53)
(36,243) 518
Total comprehensive (expense)/income DL A4 2 v (B S ) /
attributable to: We s A8
— Owners of the Company — ARAFEHER N (36,263) 28,144
— Non-controlling interests — IR - 3
(36,263) 28,147

(Loss)/earnings per share attributable to A w) BEA N AL A 9 1
owners of the Company for the year: () /ZA -
Basic and diluted (HK cents) FEA B (A1) 14 1.17) 0.02
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

IR RE B INY IS

As at 31 March 2025 A —F " HE=A=+—H

2025 2024
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
i T#x THT
Non-current assets I B & A
Investment properties ta<¢/E 16 176,700 207,100
Property, plant and equipment W ~ W7 B 17 10,961 12,719
Right-of-use assets 15 RE 5 18 9,362 11,551
Intangible assets LS vE 19 19,345 16,325
Prepayments and deposits TAAT I S b 4 21 2,358 10,671
Deferred tax assets IEFER T & 29 62 13
218,788 258,379
Current assets T
Inventories e 20 24,893 25,880
Trade and other receivables, JEE A B R B L Ath M Wi I
prepayments and deposits TART R S 4 21 37,100 45,033
Tax recoverable AT [ B IH 2,591 2,342
Cash and cash equivalents B4 RBlE&SEY 22 5,532 12,700
70,116 85,955
Current liabilities i B £
Trade payables, other payables and accruals JEATRRER ~ HLA R K
RESTHE 23 20,930 21,094
Contract liabilities HHAk 24 51 36
Amount due to a shareholder AT — 22 B FHIE 25 - 25,909
Bank and other borrowings SRAT B FH A A 3K 26 118,955 110,965
Lease liabilities CiEN =N~ 27 4,234 4,754
Refund liabilities BRAE 28 1,339 1,260
Tax payable JEAFLIH 48 1,482
145,557 165,500
Net current liabilities i B £ i (75,441) (79,545)
Total assets less current liabilities HERE i T B AL 143,347 178,834
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

i IR DL 2R

As at 31 March 2025 R —F _HHFE=H=+—H
2025 2024
Notes HK$°000 HKS$’000
B &E T#x T
Non-current liabilities Ik By £ 4
Lease liabilities iEN=S =i 27 5,730 6,460
Deferred tax liabilities iATT RN =L 29 2,272 766
8,002 7,226
Net assets B REE 135,345 171,608
Equity HE#2
Share capital JieAs 30 7,770 7,770
Reserves fiti i 128,854 165,117
Equity attributable to owners of the Company A< Al A A MENGHERS 136,624 172,887
Non-controlling interests IE P2 e 2 (1,279) (1,279)
Total equity HE 2 2848 135,345 171,608

The consolidated financial statements on pages 118 to 218 were approved and
authorised for issue by the Board of Directors (the “Board”) on 26 June 2025 and

are signed on its behalf by:

Cheung Siu Fai
R KR
Director

#=H

FUSE28HME A MBI FEN —F _HHFENH
TN H RS e AR RE T > N T A
wHAREE

So Tsz Kwan
BREH
Director

#HH
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

o

For the

it 52 B %

year ended 31 March 2025 #&E & _H4FE=H =+—HILF%

Attributable to owners of the Company

AR A NN
Property Non-
Share Share Merger  Statutory Translation revaluation Accumulated controlling Total
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests Equity
EE R ERcle
B REEE  AGERE RERE BOTR Wi RihEs w5t s B
HK$000  HK$000  HK$°000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HKS$000
T T T T T T T T#7 Tk Tk
(note a) (note b)
(k) (HzEp)

At 31 March 2023 MZEZ=E=A=+—H 7,770 424,497 (10) 462 584 - (287,296) 146,007 (2,597 143410

Profit for the year Wi = = = = = = 571 571 (53) 518

Other comprehensive income/(expense): Hh R/ (%) -

Change in fair value of investment A AR R
properties through other comprehensive EMA TR
income - - - - - 21,170 - 21,170 - 21,770
Exchange differences on translation of SN TS R FE A
financial statements of foreign operations T %% - = = = 197) = = (197) 56 (141)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) ERAETEL/ (W) %
for the year - - - - (197 21,170 571 28,144 3 28,147
Increase in subsidiary interest through capital ¥ & (M B 0 Al (i 4
injection i . . . 308 %0 W) 1319) 1315 i,

Disposal of subsidiaries HE A = = = = = = 51 51 = 51

At 31 March 2024 REFZWE=A=+—H 7,770 424,497 (10) 710 627 21,170 (288,537) 172,887 (1,279) 171,608

Loss for the year EREE - - - - - - (36,243) (36,243) - (36,243)

Other comprehensive (expense)/income: Hb A (B3 /g -

Exchange differences on translation of HCRTE LS 8 ]
financial statements of foreign operations TR - - - - (20) - - (20) - (20)

Total comprehensive expense for the year AT - - - - (20) - (36,43) (36,263) - (36,263)

At 31 March 2025 WoZE-HFE=A=+—H 7,770 424497 (10) 7 607 21,170 (324,780) 136,624 (1,279 135,345

Notes: FH&E -

(a) Merger reserve represents the difference between the nominal values of the ordinary shares  (a) A BT A A R B T IR 2 T E BB B AR R A
issued by the Company and the share capital of subsidiaries acquired through an exchange o 7 A T A s B 28 5 BT A BR A R GEMLE T i 2
of shares pursuant to the group reorganisation prior to the listing of the Company’s shares on A 18 AL ST R O S PR JB A ) 2 IR AR 2 R o
GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

(b)  Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company’s subsidiaries established in the  (b) R e 3 BN ([ o8 ) BT A 2R 20 ) 2 B
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) and relevant PRC laws and regulations, these DT 2 AR TEARAN ) e b B A VA e o RS SR I
subsidiaries are required to transfer at least 10% of their profit after taxation, which is JE N I ZEAG P R S R R SO > B R D IR BRBLAA
determined in accordance with the PRC accounting rules and regulations, to a statutory It ) 14 109 1F By 125 78 fith 5 5 42 O b L 96 — T 5 %
reserve fund (including the general reserve fund and enterprise expansion fund, where RS WEA) > BEZIAERMARED E
appropriate). Transfer to this statutory reserve fund is subject to the approval of the S8 I 2 7 G M AR 1 509% IR T 1% S B o e 2
respective board of directors, and is discretionary when the balance of such fund has reached TRE R A T A A 2 A g 2 L - R e A
50% of the registered capital of the respective company. Statutory reserve fund can only be B4 FUR] FARSH B F PR s E A -
used to offset accumulated losses or to increase capital.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
fi i Bl B AR

For the year ended 31 March 2025 % —F _FFE=H =+ —H IEFE
2025 2024
R TR ZE A
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
B &E Tt THETT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES itaE 30
(Loss)/profit before taxation BRI (E518) /3 A1) (33,368) 4,574
Adjustments for: LA 25 JE AR R
Finance costs Tl & A 8 6,931 7,777
Written down of inventories, net of reversal AT > FuBREE 85 422
Depreciation of property, plant and W~ RS SR AT
equipment 17 2,112 4,172
Depreciation of right-of-use assets R T 8 18 5,899 3,843
Amortisation of intangible assets TV 5 B 19 3,780 1,100
(Reversal of)/impairment loss on trade and JRRE A R A A 3k
other receivables (i E R ) / @Zﬁﬁﬁ #H (202) 203
Bank interest income SRAT AU A 12) (57)
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries L0 B B R I e 1R - 50
Reversal of impairment loss on property, W2 - R Bk 2 e
plant and equipment e HE A% [m] 17 - (948)
Fair value change of investment properties BCEW A THES) 16 30,400 15,000
Operating cash flows before movement R ST BB B
in working capital iy 15,625 36,136
Changes in working capital BHEE LB
Decrease/(increase) in inventories &/ (Bahn) 902 (2,485)
Decrease in trade and other receivables, R AT R 35 e S At R ATk T
prepayments and deposits TEAS R S e 42 i) 9,630 15,791
Increase/(decrease) in trade payables, other JREAT RS ~ oAb REAT S
payables and accruals W?nf%ﬁﬁi‘ﬁﬂ/ 5 0) 868 (4,153)
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities AR AR/ () 15 (48)
Increase/(decrease) in refund liabilities BB AN/ (8) 79 (14)
Cash generated from operations REREEFHNIE 27,119 45,227
Hong Kong Profits Tax refunded R 3B 2,576 2,329
Hong Kong Profits Tax paid AN B (5,677) (8,779)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING 2R I #EE SRS I B
ACTIVITIES 24,018 38,777
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

o BenER

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #%E —F _F4FE=H =+—H [L4FE
2025 2024
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
M SE Tt THETT
INVESTING ACTIVITIES WEES)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment WEE WIS ~ WU G 17 (354) (4.972)
Direct costs attributable to the purchase of WA 0 R A T MRS L AR
right-of-use assets - (€29)
Bank interest received EL U ERAT LB 12 57
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING 15 B B A B R A
ACTIVITIES (342) (4,946)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES il 35 )
Repayment of bank borrowings TEEIRATIE X (24,610) (10,772)
Repayment of other borrowings B 7R HAAE K - (18,000)
Repayment to a shareholder fE R T — 2 R (25,909) (54,000)
New bank borrowings raised B SRAT R 32,600 60,000
Repayment of lease liabilities R A6T (5,459) (4.815)
Interest paid EATFLE (7,464) (6,512)
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING il % 0 e P A B i A
ACTIVITIES (30,842) (34,099)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND CASH B RBEFHY WA FH
EQUIVALENTS (7,166) (268)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes [T 256 588 ) ) 5 2 2) (140)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS EVMBL SR B E%HEY
AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 12,700 13,108
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ERNBIERBEEHEY
AT END OF YEAR 5,532 12,700
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7 S 05 o B

For the year ended 31 March 2025 % —F _FFE=H =+ —H IEFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited (the “Company”) is a public
limited company incorporated and domiciled in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability on 5 December 2011 under the
Companies Act of the Cayman Islands. The Company’s shares are listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The addresses of the registered office and principal place of
business of the Company are disclosed in the Corporate Information section

of the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as, the “Group”) are principally engaged in the sale,
marketing and distribution of health and beauty supplements and products

and property investment in Hong Kong.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars

(“HKS$”), which is also the functional currency of the Company.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following amendments
to HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) for the first time, which are
mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual period beginning on 1 April
2024 for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current and related amendments to
Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7

Supplier Finance Arrangements

The application of the amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards in the
current year has had no material impact on the Group’s financial positions
and performance for the current and prior years and/or on the disclosures set

out in these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B A 25 A B

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #% — &~ LAE=H =+—H [H 4

126

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards in
issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments

to HKFRS Accounting Standards that have been issued but are not yet

effective:
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Amendments to the Classification and
and HKFRS 7 Measurement of Financial Instruments?
Amendments to HKFRS 9 Contracts Referencing Nature-dependent
and HKFRS 7 Electricity?
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
and HKAS 28 Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture'
Amendments to HKFRS Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting
Accounting Standards Standards — Volume 113
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial

Statements*

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026.

o Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027.

Except for the new HKFRS Accounting Standard mentioned below,
the directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all other
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards will have no material impact

on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7 S 05 o B

For the year ended 31 March 2025 % —F _FFE=H =+ —H IEFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards in
issue but not yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 18 “Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements”

HKFRS 18 “Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements”,
which sets out requirements on presentation and disclosures in financial
statements, will replace HKAS 1 “Presentation of Financial Statements”.
This new HKFRS Accounting Standard, while carrying forward many of the
requirements in HKAS 1, introduces new requirements to present specified
categories and defined subtotals in the statement of profit or loss; provide
disclosures on management-defined performance measures in the notes to
the financial statements and improve aggregation and disaggregation of
information to be disclosed in the financial statements. In addition, some
HKAS 1 paragraphs have been moved to HKAS 8 “Accounting Policies,
Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors” and HKFRS 7 “Financial
Instruments: Disclosures”. Minor amendments to HKAS 7 “Statement of

Cash Flows” and HKAS 33 “Earnings per Share” are also made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027, with early application
permitted. The application of the new standard is expected to affect the
presentation of the statement of profit or loss and disclosures in the future
financial statements. The Group is in the process of assessing the detailed

impact of HKFRS 18 on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION

3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the
HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements, information is considered material if such information is
reasonably expected to influence decisions made by primary users.
In addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B A 25 A B

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #% — &~ LAE=H =+—H [H 4

3.

128

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

31

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements (Continued)

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for investment properties that are
measured at fair values at the end of the reporting period, as explained

in the accounting policies set out in Note 3.2.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group incurred a net loss
of approximately HK$36,243,000 and, as of that date, the Group
had net current liabilities of approximately HK$75,441,000. The
Group’s bank balances and cash as at 31 March 2025 amounted to
approximately HK$5,532,000 as compared to the Group’s bank and
other borrowings of totaling approximately HK$118,955,000, of
which contained repayable on demand clause. The directors of the
Company have given careful consideration to the future liquidity
of the Group when preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Taking into account the ongoing availability of finance to the Group,
including (i) the cash flows generated from its operations; (ii) the
compliance with the bank borrowings’ covenants which had no
indication that the bank will require immediate repayment of the
outstanding bank borrowings in the coming twelve months since the
Group has always complied with those covenants with pledged assets
of the Group’s leasehold land and buildings and investment properties
of approximately HK$7,174,000 and approximately HK$176,700,000
respectively; together with (iii) the undrawn loan facilities provided
by a shareholder and executive director of the Company of
HK$18,000,000, the directors of the Company are of the opinion that
the Group has sufficient working capital to meet in full its financial
obligations as they fall due for at least the next twelve months from
the end of the reporting period and accordingly these consolidated

financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 % —F _FFE=H =+ —H IEFE
BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HRER S AT A R
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Rt BORE B4
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
3.2 Material accounting policy information 32 HAGGEBRER
Basis of consolidation AR B AL
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial LR A MBS R B AR B AR F A
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company LA mlHE il 2 TS 2 PAS R o
and its subsidiaries.
. has power over the investee; C HREHSIARET
. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its . [R] 2 BiL 43¢ Y b 2 2 38 1] 7K 3% 1]
involvement with the investee; and 5 ] it 2 Ja\ B 5 A RERE AT 7] 4
Wl 5 K
. has the ability to use its power to affect its returns. C A Be L FRE TR B -
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts M8 BOR L BUR > b SO g = f £
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of TR 40 e rh — TR Bk 22 TE A P A )
the three elements of control listed above. il e s R U SRR A kg < g2
% o
Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control RIS A ) 2 S AR AR AR B S A
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control of the 5] Bf o A ) 2 P U RE AR B iy > A AR
subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired SR J AT B B I A ) 2 e IR IR ¢
or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated 1E o BRI - AR A Ao alc it &
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the B JB8 A ] 2 MR A B S T B AR A [
date the Group gains control until the date when the Group ceases to THPEHIRE 2 HREFE A LS A48 48 S A
control the subsidiary. W EER - B EAE AR A

B AT 2 H 0k o

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income are PR A S A% TE HoAth 2 i Wi 4 T B
attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling AN FIHEA NI IR B A o A
interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to ) 2 A T AL i K REL S A AR A R
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests even N B R hESS > BIHE A R B I
if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. Bt 4Rt Bk Al &5 B o

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements of AT - I JE A R 2 BB HaR
subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the Group’s P FA%E > DU S 51 BUOR BLAR 4R 3]
accounting policies. Z etk —% -

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and J A BRUAS 5 [ A B W [H] 22 28 5 A T
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group are ZHEFNEE KA - RS U -
eliminated in full on consolidation. B S % B4 Tt 2 4 R MR H IR AR B
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3.

130

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented separately
from the Group’s equity therein, which represent present ownership
interests entitling their holders to a proportionate share of net assets

of the relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group’s interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s interests in subsidiaries that do not result in
the Group losing control over the subsidiaries are accounted for as
equity transactions. The carrying amounts of the Group’s relevant
components of equity and the non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries,
including re-attribution of relevant reserves between the Group and
the non-controlling interests according to the Group’s and the non-

controlling interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted, and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners of

the Company.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interest (if any) are
derecognised. A gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss and is
calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value
of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest
and (ii) the carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary attributable to the owners of the Company.
All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities of the subsidiary
(i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category
of equity as specified/permitted by applicable HKFRS Accounting
Standards). The fair value of any investment retained in the former
subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair
value on initial recognition for subsequent accounting under HKFRS
9 “Financial Instruments” or, when applicable, the cost on initial

recognition of an investment in an associate or a joint venture.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance obligation
is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or services underlying

the particular performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a bundle
of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of distinct goods or

services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised over time
by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of the

relevant performance obligation if one of the following criteria is met:

. the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the Group

performs;

. the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the

customer controls as the Group performs; or

. the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an
alternative use to the Group and the Group has an enforceable

right to payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer

obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer
goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received
consideration (or an amount of consideration is due) from the

customer.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
Sale with a right of return
For a sale of products with a right of return, the Group recognises all

of the following:

(a) revenue for the transferred products in the amount of
consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled
(therefore, revenue would not be recognised for the products

expected to be returned/exchanged);

(b)  arefund liability; and

(c)  an asset (and corresponding adjustment to cost of sales) for its
right to recover products from customers and are presented as

right-of-return assets.

Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or services to a
customer, the Group determines whether the nature of its promise is
a performance obligation to provide the specified goods or services
itself (i.e. the Group is a principal) or to arrange for those goods or

services to be provided by the other party (i.e. the Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified good or service

before that good or service is transferred to a customer.

The Group is an agent if its performance obligation is to arrange for
the provision of the specified good or service by another party. In
this case, the Group does not control the specified good or service
provided by another party before that good or service is transferred to
the customer. When the Group acts as an agent, it recognises revenue
in the amount of any fee or commission to which it expects to be
entitled in exchange for arranging for the specified goods or services

to be provided by the other party.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease based
on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception of the contract. Such
contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and conditions of the

contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or more
additional lease or non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis
of the relative stand-alone price of the lease component and the

aggregate stand-alone price of the non-lease components.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate non-lease
components from lease component, and instead account for the lease
component and any associated non-lease components as a single lease

component.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option. Lease
payments on short-term leases are recognised as expense on a

straight-line basis or another systematic basis over the lease term.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:
. the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability; and

. any lease payments made at or before the commencement date,

less any lease incentives received;

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities. Depreciation is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the

lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the definition
of investment property as a separate line item on the consolidated

statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS 9 and
initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial
recognition are considered as additional lease payments and included

in the cost of right-of-use assets.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises and
measures the lease liability at the present value of lease payments
that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group uses the incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not

readily determinable.
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3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
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3. HRER S AT A R
Rt BORE B4

32 HEAGHBORER (4)

Leases (Continued) M

The Group as a lessee (Continued) AREE B L ARFAN (7))

Lease liabilities (Continued) T £ (4)

The lease payments include: FAEAT LS -

. fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less C [E] 7 A5 0 (645 B2 A 00

any lease incentives receivable; and

. payments of penalties for terminating a lease, if the lease term .

reflects the Group exercising an option to terminate the lease.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted by interest

accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes a corresponding

adjustment to the related right-of-use assets) whenever:

BT REVCH B 5 R
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. the lease term has changed or there is a change in the assessment .

of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the related
lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised

lease payments using a revised discount rate at the date of
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reassessment. RN R
. the lease payments change due to changes in market rental FHE AT 3K 52 B T5 i s T 8 A 4

rates following a market rent review/expected payment
under a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the related
lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease

payments using the initial discount rate.

. a lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not
accounted for as a separate lease (see below for the accounting

policy for “lease modifications”).

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the

consolidated statement of financial position.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

. the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the

right to use one or more underlying assets; and

. the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the increase in
scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone price

to reflect the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease,
the Group remeasures the lease liability, less any lease incentives
receivable, based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate

at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities by

making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-of-use asset.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance
or operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an
underlying asset to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance

lease. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in profit or loss on
a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial direct
costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term

except for investment properties measured under fair value model.

Rental income which are derived from the Group’s ordinary course of

business are presented as revenue.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits received are accounted for under HKFRS
9 and initially measured at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at
initial recognition are considered as additional lease payments from

lessees.

Lease modification

Changes in considerations of lease contracts that were not part of the
original terms and conditions are accounted for as lease modifications,
including lease incentives provided through forgiveness or reduction

of rentals.

The Group accounts for a modification to an operating lease as a new
lease from the effective date of the modification, considering any
prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to the original lease as part

of the lease payments for the new lease.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group entity,
transactions in currencies other than the functional currency of that
entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates of exchanges
prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items
carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value
was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of

historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or

loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial statements,
the assets and liabilities of the Group’s operations are translated into
the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong Dollar) using
exchange rates prevailing at the end of each reporting period. Income
and expenses items are translated at the average exchange rates for
the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that
period, in which case the exchange rates at the date of transactions
are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under the
heading of translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as

appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal involving
loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation), all
of the exchange differences accumulated in equity in respect of that
operation attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified

to profit or loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 % —F _FFE=H =+ —H IEFE
BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HRARA MBS ROk
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 7 atBORE R4
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued) 3.2 HAEFBORE R (4F)
Borrowing costs 15 B A
Borrowing costs which are not capitalised to qualifying assets are S A0 G A T R A AN 2 A
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred. T RA BT A A AR AR N AR o
Government grants B8
Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable TE G T O 785 A 42 [ 8 28 S BOR )
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to A BEE A A0 4 DA Bt e A5 2 A B 4% B
them and that the grants will be received. I B 77 T ARERR o
Government grants related to income that are receivable as RS B 10 EXRS A J 2 R 7 A
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the H 32 B THER B R4 T AR [ A B
purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no Rp B 155 S 4 (T IR AR A B R AR ) - I
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in 7 R A B 20 R A 3 T A R
which they become receivable. Such grants are presented under “other HERR o A B B IA T H AU A JTE R
income”. e
Employee benefits 1 B #a A
Retirement benefit costs BIRKTFI A
Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are Te] 5 A OB AR et s T AR AR
recognised as an expense when employees have rendered service fiE B $ AL IR 5 45 A WE 2 A w% 5 Lk vy
entitling them to the contributions. filERR Ay B 3 -
The Group operates a defined contribution retirement benefit plan A A AR 45 5 o A R 4 R 3R A6k 4
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (the (MmfEaatd ) &1L rE & s 28
“MPF Scheme”) for all of its eligible employees who are eligible to TR B ET B A A IR B 2 B it
participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a HORRAR T #1 o fLk R B 2 A 3
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries. PP BEA Fr 43 B AR o
For LSP obligation, the Group accounts for the employer MPF MEMIRESEEMNS > RIEESE
contributions expected to be offset as a deemed employee contribution FHHE IS 19.93(a) 6 - AR 4 18 #1852
towards the LSP obligation in terms of HKAS 19.93(a) and it is SRR > FEAE LA RIIR
measure on a net basis. The estimated amount of future benefit is BB EAL Z AR B KT LAESY -
determined after deducting the negative service cost arising from iR AR ME R o RAAE AR FH
the accrued benefits derived from the Group’s MPF contributions SRR AN A T O O A B
that have been vested with employees, which are deemed to be Tk 4 R (RIS 2 AR R AR B 22 B3 Jor
contributions from the relevant employees. 7 A 1Y A R i A 1) BUIRBS AR
TRREIE -
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Employee benefits (Continued)

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when employees
rendered the services. All short-term employee benefits are recognised
as an expense unless another HKFRS Accounting Standards requires

or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees (such as
wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after deducting any

amount already paid.

Share-based payments

Equity-settled share-based payments transactions

Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of the equity

instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments determined
at the grant date without taking into consideration all non-market
vesting conditions is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting
period, based on the Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will
eventually vest, with a corresponding increase in equity (share option
reserve). At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its
estimate of the number of equity instruments expected to vest based
on assessment of all relevant non-market vesting conditions. The
impact of the revision of the original estimates, if any, is recognised
in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised
estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the share option reserve.
For share options that vest immediately at the date of grant, the fair
value of the share options granted is expensed immediately to profit

or loss.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised
in share option reserve will be transferred to share premium. When
the share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not
exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in

share option reserve will be transferred to accumulated losses.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 % —F _FFE=H =+ —H IEFE
BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. WMELGTUMBEREERERER

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable

and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from (loss)/profit before taxation because of
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or

substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets
are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available
against which those deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other than
in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a transaction
that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit and
at the time of the transaction does not give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences. In addition, deferred tax liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial

recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, except where
the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in
the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments and interests
are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will
be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in the

foreseeable future.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of
each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or

part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled or
the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have been

enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax
consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Group
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the

carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for investment properties
that are measured using the fair value model, the carrying amounts
of such properties are presumed to be recovered entirely through
sale, unless the presumption is rebutted. The presumption is rebutted
when the investment property is depreciable and is held within a
business model whose objective is to consume substantially all of the
economic benefits embodied in the investment property over time,
rather than through sale, except for freehold land, which is always

presumed to be recovered entirely through sale.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing transactions
in which the Group recognises the right-of-use assets and the related
lease liabilities, the Group first determines whether the tax deductions

are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable
to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12 “Income Taxes”
requirements to the lease liabilities and the related assets separately.
The Group recognises a deferred tax asset related to lease liabilities
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary difference can be utilised and

a deferred tax liability for all taxable temporary differences.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 % —F _FFE=H =+ —H IEFE
BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HRER S AT A R
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Rt BORE B4
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued) 3.2 HAEFBORE R (4F)
Taxation (Continued) BidE (7)
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally R SE B TE 7 I B A A PR EE AT
enforceable right to set off current tax assets against current tax R R HE 815 RV HA R T 5 7 B R AR T &
liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied to the same 12 A R A0 S0 A TR e S A R S p A
taxable entity by the same taxation authority. (v 5 A4 ] 1) A () R AL T Al 1)

JIASBLIRF 5 o

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss. RTHA 1 % QB IE A 18 4 ffE o o
Property, plant and equipment W¥ ~ W7 K ik i

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are held for use W ~ BRI O B R A AR B
in the production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative HEHE & 5 B IR SATBUR R IR TE &
purposes. Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated FE o WIS - WRE B IR SR A A B IR
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated W2 N A U AR 2 TR I AR
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any. REHBE R (a) F1HR -

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of AR A A O ) S A R
properties which includes both leasehold land and building elements, A AETH T L ST AR
the entire consideration is allocated between the leasehold land and ) 1 e R IR A 3 2~ B A0 A 7 B
the building elements in proportion to the relative fair values at initial b B A AR Ay 2 TR A0 T o A AR BR A
recognition. To the extent the allocation of the relevant payments can FRET] SE43 T > FIAH & - HhRE 26 7E 45
be made reliably, interest in leasehold land is presented as “right-of- G BRI R P F AT A REEE | o
use assets” in the consolidated statement of financial position. When 7 AR A e 2 FE AR B AS T 40 S A
the consideration cannot be allocated reliably between non-lease BAAR & L i R W] o EIRE £ 2 [ m] 58
building element and undivided interest in the underlying leasehold SITLIE > HIRETEY)SE R B 3 -
land, the entire properties are classified as property, plant and 5 B et o

equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of assets less P8 T LA SR H A R (o R A
their residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the 5 B G E A O R AR E (R -
straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values flEEr AR ~ R S IRy
and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting RS SR HEAT 2R B o AT A A
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a FIARE) 1 5 B AT IS R E AL o

prospective basis.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

If a property becomes an investment property because its use has
changed as evidenced by end of owner-occupation, any difference
between the carrying amount and the fair value of that item (including
the relevant leasehold land classified as right-of-use assets) at the
date of transfer is recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in property revaluation reserve. On the subsequent sale
or retirement of the property, the relevant revaluation reserve will be

transferred directly to accumulated losses.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment
is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the

carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Investment properties
Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or for

capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including any
directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are measured at fair value, adjusted to exclude

any prepaid or accrued operating lease income.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of investment
properties are included in profit or loss for the period in which they

arise.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future
economic benefits are expected from its disposal. Any gain or loss
arising on derecognition of the property (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset) is included in profit or loss in the period in which the property is

derecognised.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets with finite useful lives (i.e. computer software)
that are acquired separately are carried at costs less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation
for intangible assets with finite useful lives (i.e. computer software)
is recognised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives
(i.e. 5 years). The estimated useful life and amortisation method
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period, with the effect
of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective
basis. Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are acquired
separately are carried at cost less any subsequent accumulated

impairment losses.

Internally-generated intangible assets — research and development
expenditure
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the

period in which it is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development
activities (or from the development phase of an internal project)
is recognised if, and only if, all of the following have been

demonstrated:

. the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so

that it will be available for use or sale;

. the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;
. the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;
. how the intangible asset will generate probable future

economic benefits;

A L5 17 A B i A R Y e K
Rt BORE B4

3.2
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Intangible assets (Continued)

Internally-generated intangible assets — research and development

expenditure (Continued)

. the availability of adequate technical, financial and other
resources to complete the development and to use or sell the

intangible asset; and

. the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to

the intangible asset during its development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible
asset is the sum of the expenditure incurred from the date when
the intangible asset first meets the recognition criteria listed above.
Where no internally-generated intangible asset can be recognised,
development expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in the period

in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible
assets are reported at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses (if any), on the same basis as

intangible assets that are acquired separately.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future
economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains and
losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is

derecognised.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HRARA MBS ROk

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 7 atBORE R4

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued) 3.2 HAEFBORE R (4F)
Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets W ~ Wi )7 R i ~ 16T RE B R A
and intangible assets JE B 7 WA
At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying RS IR > A e g T Al AR
amounts of its property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, WA R W2 - W R skl ~ A
intangible assets with definite useful lives to determine whether there B KA B R RRTE A > DA RS
is any indication that these assets have suffered an impairment loss. If R BT AT A RS B 5 o il
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset FAHATATRZSE RS RSG5 AH B &
is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss JEE A AT i T 4 R DA R R ek s 1R (A
(if any). Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for A ) AR - HLERR T8 A AR A ) R
impairment at least annually, and whenever there is an indication that B 2 DR LN B S B HoAT g
they may be impaired. TRAE IRF A T I (B R
The recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, right-of- W ~ WRPE B~ I RE A X
use assets, and intangible assets are estimated individually. When it TV 1 18 T oA o <5 B 0 4 s At
is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the AR A A R ] A - RIAREE
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit V9] A % 7 O o 4 E A B Y
to which the asset belongs. EELqEE S
In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporate assets are AT B 2 A AT ) U AELIRE > A T
allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit when a reasonable and RENL A B R — By A3 A AE o 20
consistent basis of allocation can be established, or otherwise they SN0 T AR R B 4 A LA - Bl
are allocated to the smallest group of cash generating units for which GaN MER T - X VAN VA= 2 L3
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be established. The — B05 T HEHE Y S /N o T i ] 4
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit or B ) I e 3L 4 E A LA Y
group of cash-generating units to which the corporate asset belongs, 45 7 A= AL A I 7 o ST BEUA B B
and is compared with the carrying amount of the relevant cash- e AR L7 BB 4 A L A AN 7 R
generating unit or group of cash-generating units. [IREY AR 3
Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal AT (] 4 4 27 1 (W A s Bt
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash FEE R E PR S o 5Pk
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount {ELIRE > Al FH AR B 4B I & £F FA PR B Al
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of RGBS A5 B 2 B - 100 % SR B i I
money and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) T 23 J e <5z 8 IR (] (BL 1) BRLAT T 057
for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted. il R AR B 4 U A R A AR 1

FE (BB 7 AR B ) O B
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Impairment on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets
and intangible assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount
of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate assets which
cannot be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-
generating unit, the Group compares the carrying amount of a
group of cash-generating units, including the carrying amounts of
the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to that
group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable amount of the
group of cash-generating units. In allocating the impairment loss, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the
group of cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is not
reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if
measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount
of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to
the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit or the
group of cash-generating units. An impairment loss is recognised

immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount
of the asset (or cash-generating unit or a group of cash-generating
units) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount,
but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss
been recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group of
cash-generating units) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss

is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HRARA MBS ROk
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 7 atBORE R4
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued) 3.2 HAEFBORE R (4F)
Cash and cash equivalents Be R EFHY
Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated statement of B4 BB S B IR 5 AR L3R
financial position include: 25 > [
(a)  cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand deposits, (a) Bl o HAHF B E KOG
excluding bank balances that are subject to regulatory FERR o ANELEE 2 B A ol T 25
restrictions that result in such balances no longer meeting the A B &5 RN FRAT & Bl E 71
definition of cash; and SRAITEEER s &
(b)  cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term (generally (b)  BIESEY KA CaY
with original maturity of three months or less), highly liquid JREHE A 2 =8 H 80E R -
investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of ] B R 2 O R R B H
cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes i {1 56 58 JRU S AR A Y e O ) 4
in value. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting B o B EW RN E
short-term cash commitments rather than for investment or B G RS - T IR R AR 5
other purposes. HAiH /-
For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash MEGABERERN T - BaLBie
and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined SE AT b SCE 20 Bl K B 4
above. (=70
Inventories Pty
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. A7 DA {1 B ] 5 3L V(L T P 1Y
Costs of inventories are determined on a first-in, first-out method. Net BARE S o F7 & BUARYR SoiE e ik
realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories FHA o IERBLHE TS AR B RO AL EHE E
less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the 2 B A Al s o8 LA B s s B B
sale. T B BEAS o
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.
All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised
and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of
assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention

in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts with
customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS
15 “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”. Transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial
assets and financial liabilities (other than financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)) are added
to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial

liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised
cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of allocating interest
income and interest expense over the relevant period. The effective
interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts and payments (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life
of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate, a

shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial recognition.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. MELGEMEIREEEREKR

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are subsequently

measured at amortised cost:

the financial asset is held within a business model whose

objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest on the

principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value.

@

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at amortised
cost. Interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently become
credit-impaired. For financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by
applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset from the next reporting period. If the credit risk
on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income
is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset from the beginning of
the reporting period following the determination that the asset is

no longer credit-impaired.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected credit
loss (“ECL”) model on financial assets (including trade receivables,
other receivables and deposits and bank balances) which are subject
to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is

updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since

initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all possible
default events over the expected life of the relevant instrument. In
contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date. Assessments are
done based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, and
factors that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions

and an assessment of both the current conditions at the reporting date

as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition, in which case the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime

ECL should be recognised is based on significant increases in the

likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 £ _F _FF=H =1—H ILFE
BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. GG WBHEREE RE R
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS Rt BORE B4
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued) 3.2 HAEFBORE R (4F)
Financial instruments (Continued) SHh T A (4)
Financial assets (Continued) EAAE (FE)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued) S T P (A (4
[6) Significant increase in credit risk @) 15 S5 GK  38 Jin
In assessing whether the credit risk has increased significantly ARG S BB B ) b R LA
since initial recognition, the Group compares the risk of a A& A KRG NI A
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting AR B A g TR A
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial # Jm\ B BL) sl RR H ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁﬂl
instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making T %A YR A R AT
this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and W o AHEATRZFPAN IR > A SR @
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable, % e A H B PR E &
including historical experience and forward-looking PEE R ELS MZE AT O 2 AL
information that is available without undue cost or effort. A5 %% RV RT A 1Y) il 1 4% B

In particular, the following information is taken into account BHEME - 76 E SRR ET

when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly: TR s € & LA R B R

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the © Sl T A AR (An g ) g%
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal AR A B T AR ) B R B TE
credit rating; CE RS (e

. significant deterioration in external market indicators . AR T B0 R e A 1
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit R PlafE AR
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor; R WG I f 505 N 015 £

XA

. existing or forecast adverse changes in business, J TAFHE SRS A\ ME R 2R
financial or economic conditions that are expected to VPN PN SINE 27
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to TS B AR R 0 1) B B
meet its debt obligations; TR FI 28

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the . TS N SR8 S0 B P o
operating results of the debtor; THHABEE AL

. an actual or expected significant adverse change in the © i ?%]\Tﬁﬁ/ﬁé%i%
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of VPN RN SRS DN
the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the - z@i@?jﬁﬁm}mfﬁﬂ’ﬂﬁ
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations. % Bl TE I B ORI S ) o
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

()

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

(i)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group
presumes that the credit risk has increased significantly since
initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30
days past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable

information that demonstrates otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the
criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in credit

risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers an
event of default occurs when information developed internally
or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor
is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group, in full

(without taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that default has
occurred when a financial asset is more than 90 days past due
unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information
to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more

appropriate.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF 3. HRARA MBS ROk
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 7 atBORE R4
AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued) 3.2 HAEFBORE R (4F)

Financial instruments (Continued) SHh T A (4)

Financial assets (Continued) EAAE (FE)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued) S T P (A (4

(iii)  Credit-impaired financial assets (i) [FEWEESMEE

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events S RVE A A — TEHE A e (3

that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash 7 4 LV R A R R R B R

flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a T BRI 5 288 ) 35 A IR R B

financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data TRAE o 4 fl e LS S RE

about the following events: 1 R IR LS A B DA AR T

B

(a)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the (a) HATABERALBIEXR
borrower; S IR 8

(b)  abreach of contract, such as a default or past due event; (b) XY > BN R sl 5

%

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or (c) EE N ON RN L
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s O HH B B 55 IR e 14 42 07
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a B A IR T 1) RO
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise HERARG AITHE RN
consider; and B K

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter (d) RN = S YN 3
bankruptcy or other financial reorganization. HAb B E A o

(iv)  Write-off policy (iv)  IMEHBUR

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information BEURHEUR T R A i = B

indicating that the counterparty is in severe financial difficulty 5 IRt % B % i 1m0 BT e (491

and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, for example, T 3 T 07 1 B O A E R

when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation or has J7) > AN A BB 4 R o

entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets written RERRBEEREZER)

off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the T B <5 il 7 T e AT ZE A AR

Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice A B g [ 2 ) 2 A7 o ) LA T O

where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a derecognition By o HCEH A% LA E HERR B IH o

event. Any subsequent recoveries are recognised in profit or AT LA W R E 4R 45 N BERR o

loss.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

)

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss given default is based on
historical data and forward-looking information. Estimation
of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-weighted amount
that is determined with the respective risks of default occurring

as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all contractual
cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with the
contract and the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at the effective interest rate determined at initial

recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables are considered on a
collective basis taking into consideration past due information
and relevant credit information such as forward looking

macroeconomic information.

For collective assessment, the Group takes into consideration

the following characteristics when formulating the grouping:

. Past-due status;
. Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
. External credit ratings where available.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(0]

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to ensure
the constituents of each group continue to share similar credit

risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset is credit-
impaired, in which case interest income is calculated based on

amortised cost of the financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or
loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount, with the exception of trade and other receivables
where the corresponding adjustment is recognised through a

loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights

to the cash flows from the asset expire.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the

difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the

consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.
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3.

158

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial liabilities
or as equity in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity

instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest
in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity
instruments issued by the Company are recognised at the proceeds

received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Financial liabilities including trade payables, other payables, amounts
due to a shareholder and bank and other borrowings are subsequently

measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when,
the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in

profit or loss.

For non-substantial modifications of financial liabilities that do not
result in derecognition, the carrying amount of the relevant financial
liabilities will be calculated at the present value of the modified
contractual cash flows discounted at the financial liabilities’ original
effective interest rate. Transaction costs or fees incurred are adjusted
to the carrying amount of the modified financial liabilities and are
amortised over the remaining term. Any adjustment to the carrying
amount of the financial liability is recognised in profit or loss at the
date of modification.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 % —F _FFE=H =+ —H IEFE
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 4. MEIAHEEEFEEZ FERE

UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described
in Note 3, the directors of the Company are required to make estimates
and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that
are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and underlying
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are

considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-going
basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in
which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the
period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current

and future periods.

The following is the key assumption concerning the future, and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period that
may have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying

amounts of assets within the next financial year.

Valuation of investment properties

Investment properties are stated at fair value based on the valuation
performed by an independent professional valuer (the “Valuer”) not
connected with the Group. The determination of the fair value involves
certain assumptions of market conditions. In determining the fair value,
the Valuer has based on a method of valuation which involves certain
unobservable inputs including, among other factors, capitalisation rate,
monthly market rent and price per square foot used in the valuations as set
out in Note 16.

In relying on the valuation report, the directors of the Company have
exercised their judgements and are satisfied that the assumptions used in
the valuation are reflective of the current market conditions. Changes to
these assumptions would result in changes in the fair values of the Group’s
investment properties and the corresponding adjustments to the amount of
gain or loss reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income.

As at 31 March 2025, the carrying amount of the Group’s investment
properties are HK$176,700,000 (2024: HK$207,100,000), and detail of
which is disclosed in Note 16.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B A 25 A B

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #%E —F _F4FE=H =+—H [L4FE
5. REVENUE 5. Wis
An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows: AL BRI ATANR
2025 2024
TEB A e~y 111t
HK$°000 HK$’000
T T
Revenue from contracts with customers sk align
Revenue from health and beauty supplements R A B S5 254 i B i SRS
and products business Wi i 199,918 230,580
Revenue from other source AR H A sk P W A
Revenue from property investment business VEX € S E 5,130 5,006
205,048 235,586
Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers from health and A R K A I T EE IR F A4
beauty supplements and products business are detailed as follows: IS BHAH DT -
2025 2024
B TAE R PYLE
HK$°000 HK$’000
F#x T
Timing of revenue recognition: WA e R IR ]
Point in time IR ] B 199,918 230,580
Principal ELiUN 199,918 230,580
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 % —F _FFE=H =+ —H IEFE

REVENUE (CONTINUED)

Health and beauty supplements and products business
Revenue from health and beauty supplements and products business is
recognised at the point in time when control of the asset is transferred to the

customer, generally on delivery of the goods.

Certain contracts for the sale of health and beauty supplements and products
business provide customers with rights of return. The rights of return give
rise to variable consideration. For contracts which provide a customer with
a right to return the goods within a specified period, the expected value
method is used to estimate the goods that will not be returned. Revenue is
recognised for sales which are considered highly probable that a significant
reversal in the cumulative revenue recognised will not occur. For goods that
are expected to be returned, a refund liability is recognised. The Group’s
right to recover the product when customers exercise their right to return
products is recognised as right-of-use assets and corresponding adjustment

to cost of sales.

The Group operates a customer loyalty program where customers
accumulate reward points for purchases of certain products which entitle
them to exchange certain products and cash coupons. A contract liability
for revenue relating to the reward points is recognised at the time of sale.
Revenue from the reward points is recognised when the reward points are
redeemed or expired. Since the reward points expire on 31 March each year,
there are no contract liabilities as at 31 March 2025 and 2024.

All goods provided by the Group are for contracts with originally expected
duration of one year or less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction

price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

Property investment business
Revenue from property investment business is arisen from the operating

leases with fixed lease payment.

SEGMENT REPORTING

Information reported to the Board of the Company, being the Chief
Operating Decision Maker (“CODM?”), for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of segment performance focuses on types of

goods or services delivered or provided.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 17 S 205 e B

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #%E —F _F4FE=H =+—H [L4FE

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED) 6. gk (48)
Specifically, the Group’s reportable segments under HKFRS 8 “Operating BRI AR AR RS U B i I A
Segments” are as follows: SHR[ ARAE 3 EB 1R BRI T
. Health and beauty supplements and products business: development, o PRAdk F S50 ity S e i 2E 5 - B
manufacturing and sales of health and beauty supplements and R R B IR B 250 it B i
products.
. Property investment business: leasing of investment properties. o WY - EREWE -
The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as the KL 73 BRI € B B R 3 3.2 i 7t AR 4 (3]
Group’s accounting policies described in Note 3.2. & FHBORAHR] o
(a) Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities (a) ZriEbues - 4 BEKAMK
Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments as provided BE_LZ - RFER FPEZH
to the Group’s CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and = BRSO UR R A
assessment of segment performance for the years ended 31 March o3 BRI T B A T A 4 1 T B R
2025 and 2024 are set out below: TR 2 AR AR AT 243 FOAE B R
HIAE
(i)  Segment revenue and results i) b s R KA
For the year ended 31 March 2025
BECZCHEEAZHILEE
Health and
beauty
supplements Property
and products investment
business business Total
R4 B A
YT AE 7 L/ES dcE 37 i
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000
T T Tt
Segment revenue Vg e
Revenue from external customers e B AN B iR 199,918 5,130 205,048
Segment results vigi £ 3 20,142 (29,648) (9,506)
Unallocated other income, gains or KB HAA ~ diegs
losses B il 1
Unallocated finance costs 3T A P (2,419)
Unallocated corporate expenses RO EAR SR (21,454)
Loss before taxation PRBL R 1R (33,368)
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 % —F _FFE=H =+ —H IEFE

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

(a) Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities

(Continued)

(i)  Segment revenue and results (Continued)

6. JrikHE (4H)
(a) Zrabids - 68T BEKAAM
(#1)
i) AR R ()

For the year ended 31 March 2024
WEZTNE= R =1 —H IR

Health and
beauty
supplements Property
and products investment
business business Total
PRAE I S5
TR i 2T YISEHEE T st
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THIT T TH#T
Segment revenue 7 R
Revenue from external customers B INBE P IS 230,580 5,006 235,586
Segment results i E S 52,140 (15,425) 36,715
Unallocated other income, gains or For B HARUA ~ s
losses kR 766
Unallocated finance costs A3 T Rl R A (3,284
Unallocated corporate expenses For B =2 (29,623)
Profit before taxation Bl Al 34 A1) 4,574
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Ao B A 25 A B

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #%E —F _F4FE=H =+—H [L4FE
6. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED) 6. bRkl (%)
(a) Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities (a) riEbues - 4 BEKAMK
(Continued) (#)

164

(ii)  Segment assets and liabilities

(i) B EBEER AR

2025 2024
ZR TN R AR
HK$°000 HK$’000
T#x T
Segment assets 3 HRE

Health and beauty supplements and TR S SR A o I i S
products business 94,708 110,512
Property investment business L ES e 177,985 208,403
Total reportable segment assets A 23 T 7 AR 272,693 318,915
Unallocated assets Rl EE 16,211 25,419
Total consolidated assets A EERE 288,904 344,334
2025 2024
“EB A YR
HK$°000 HK$’000
T#x T

Segment liabilities 43 wh 211K

Health and beauty supplements and products P {8 5 3% 25 i i S 2 i 2685
business 49,647 16,492
Property investment business VEZia<e s 46,892 76,237
Total reportable segment liabilities A 2R A 96,539 92,729
Unallocated liabilities KA HLA & 57,020 79,997
Total consolidated liabilities B SR 153,559 172,726
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o B A 205 A W

For the year ended 31 March 2025 % —F _FFE=H =+ —H IEFE

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED) 6. b (#)

(a) Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities (a) ZraEbues - - BEKAMK
(Continued) (#8)
(ii)  Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) (i) HEBEERAG (4H)
For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and T B SR 5 TR R BB 43 8 2 T
allocating resources between segments: Sy ELEUR

All assets are allocated to operating segments other
than deferred tax assets, tax recoverable, unallocated
property, plant and equipment, unallocated right-of-use
assets, unallocated intangible assets, unallocated cash
and cash equivalents and other unallocated corporate

assets as these assets are managed on a group basis.

All liabilities are allocated to operating segments other
than deferred tax liabilities, tax payable, unallocated
bank and other borrowings, amount due to a shareholder,
unallocated lease liabilities and other unallocated

corporate liabilities as these liabilities are managed on a

PRAEIEBL A E A ~ ml i fe
BUE ~ ROTBHIZE ~ R
Beiseffl ~ AR BB IHEE
E ~ RO EE - R
oy BLH s KR A E Y K
oAt R 7> e 4 3 5 7E F2 4R
EELVE AL - BT A B
S - R

BREIEBIE AR - EATBL
T~ RO RCERAT B HABAE
A~ MEAT— 2 IR
Ao B A R AR
JrBL A B AR 4R R v

BN > PrA R E R

FHEHA -

group basis.

(i)  HAL5 & B

(iii)  Other segment information

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BEZROHAEZAZ R

Health and beauty Property
supplements and investment
products business business Unallocated Total
fRi
T A
YEATE S IR i it
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
T T T T
Other information HAbE R
Additions of property, plant and equipment INRIE N S 354 - - 354
Addition of right-of-use assets VB G 3,710 - - 3,710
Addition of intangible assets BT G 6,800 - - 6,300
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment LERY: G4 kil 1,967 - 145 2,112
Depreciation of right-of-use assets f AR TS 3,000 - 2,899 5,899
Amortisation of intangible assets A ] 3,780 - - 3,780
Reversal of impairment loss on trade and other JE IR R A REGRIR
receivables R (198) - ) (202)
Written down of inventories, net of reversal TEEMES - AR 85 - - 85
Fair value change of investment properties BREMENTHEH) - 30,400 - 30,400
Finance costs BB A 1,366 3,146 2,419 6,931
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 #% — &~ LAE=H =+—H [H 4

6. SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

(a) Segment revenue, results, assets and liabilities
(Continued)

(iii)  Other segment information (Continued)

6. ik (48)

(a) sribWias - SEAL - BWERAM

(%)

(iii) HAbAHEBER ()

For the year ended 31 March 2024
BE-EZ-WEZA=+—HILFE

Health and beauty Property
supplements and investment
products business business Unallocated Total
et
JES 1
HK$’000 HKS$°000 HK$000 HK$’000
T Ti#T T T
Other information Ffb g R
Additions of property, plant and equipment INEWE  BF Rkt 4,246 - 726 4972
Addition of right-of-use assets B 1,025 = 7,647 8,672
Addition of intangible assets B B 10,000 = = 10,000
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment LERY: G i 2970 = 1,202 4,172
Depreciation of right-of-use assets g 2,921 - 922 3,843
Amortisation of intangible assets ST 1,100 - - 1,100
Impairment loss on trade and other receivables T ISRk B HAt e R
B 203 - - 203
Reversal of impairment loss on property, plantand ~ #)3€ ~ Fi5 Kt < Wi
equipment e tE R ] (943) = = (948)
Written down of inventories, net of reversal FEECHSH - ABREE 422 = = 422
Fair value change of investment properties REMEATHED) - 15,000 - 15,000
Finance costs RE A 246 4247 3,284 7,777
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For the year ended 31 March 2025 % —F _FFE=H =+ —H IEFE

SEGMENT REPORTING (CONTINUED)

(b) Geographical information
Analysis of the Group’s revenue and results as well as analysis of the
Group’s carrying amount of segment assets by geographical market
are not presented as the Group’s operations and assets for the years
ended 31 March 2025 and 2024 are mainly located in Hong Kong

(place of domicile).

(c) Information about major customer

Revenue from external customer contributing 10% or more of the

g3 vh s (4)

(b) Hb[E &R
MR AEMBRE " - HFER E
TWAESH = —H IERE R K
G BN A () - BT
90 2 5] A A T i R A4 T DA R
b 1 T 4 B 3 B A 4 [ 40 0 R T
B HT -

(0 EEFFRER
Rl A< 5 408 S 10% 8 L B A 1

total revenue of the Group is as follows: MR F I AS AR
2025 2024
HK$°000 HK$’000
T#t TH#IT
Customer A* K F 111,892 137,366
& The revenue was derived from the health and beauty supplements and * A5 B RS Ty R A (e T 2 A i

products business.

AT o

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited I i B4 B (35 1% ) A R 2 ¥ 167



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B A 25 A B

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #% — &~ LAE=H =+—H [H 4
7. OTHER INCOME, GAINS OR LOSSES 7. AW - s s iR
2025 2024
R THAE e < 11 =
HK$°000 HK$’000
T T
Other income HAtsge A
Bank interest income SRATALE A 12 57
Government subsidies (Note) WU Bl (B 5E) 401 =
Sundry income METH A 608 868
1,021 925
Other gains or losses Al W it 5K e 1B
Reversal of impairment loss of property, W2 - R Bt 2 e
plant and equipment i $E 43¢ (B - 948
Net exchange loss IV 5, e £, 1 (80) (186)
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries B A R 4R - (50)
Others HoAthy - 6
(80) 718
941 1,643

168

Note: For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group recognised government grants

of HK$401,000 from Reimbursement of Maternity Leave Pay Scheme, Export

Marketing Fund, Innovation and Technology Fund — Research Talent Hub and R&D

Cash Rebate Scheme, provided by the Hong Kong government. In the opinion of

the directors of the Company, the Group has fulfilled all conditions attached to the

grants.

No such government grants are recognised during year ended 31 March 2024.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o B A 205 A W

For the year ended 31 March 2025 % —F _FFE=H =+ —H IEFE
FINANCE COSTS 8. mEEMA
2025 2024
TR HAE B Sy 11
HK$°000 HK$°000
T T
Interest on bank borrowings SRATAE FOR) S, 5,950 5,686
Interest on other borrowings oAb {5 2R S - 205
Interest on amount due to a shareholder JREAsH— 44 I SR K TE 4 ) B, 457 1,266
Interest on lease liabilities HEEENE 499 620
Others HoAthy 25 -
6,931 7,777
(LOSS)/PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION 9. BRBinT(EE1E) /@Al
(Loss)/profit before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting) the FRBLAT R0 /% A T 88408/ (GEA) BUR
followings: HIAEAT
2025 2024
“E R TR Y4E
HK$000 HK$’000
T THTT
(a)  Staff costs (including directors’ (a) BILRABFKEEFRHNE) :
emoluments):
Salaries, commission, allowances, and e e B A AL
other benefits R 73,090 76,370
Retirement benefits AR 2,410 2,392
75,500 78,762
(b)  Other items: (b) HAbIEH :
Auditors’ remuneration 1% RN 4 1,218 1,280
Cost of inventories B A 33,204 37,652
Depreciation charge: Preshi s
— property, plant and equipment —WE - R Bekhs 2,112 4,172
— right-of-use assets — fili IR 5,899 3,843
Amortisation of intangible assets (included in T 5 B (RH AT )
administrative expenses) 3,780 1,100
Rent for special designated counters Fefll48 MR AR 4 31,359 32,716
Written down of inventories, net of reversal S > foBEREm 85 422
Rental income from investment BB EYEZ WA
properties less direct outgoings of T 4% B 52843,0005 7T
HK$843,000 (2024: HK$988,000) (ZZFZPU4 : 988,000%57T) (4,287) (4,018)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B A 25 A B

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #% — &~ LAE=H =+—H [H 4

10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE 10. #FF RIiTBAAKRN 2

OFFICER’S EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ and chief executive officer’s emoluments for the year, disclosed HRABE ) b 7 65 ) B A s 2 A6 B 40 5 ) o
pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and the Hong Kong Companies F AT A ST
Ordinance, are as follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2025 BRE_F_HAFE=A=1+—HILHE

Salaries,
allowances Equity-settled
and other Discretionary  share-based Retirement
Fees benefits bonuses payments benefits Total
VUBCHESS 3
Hidr > A VA4
e REmEA LGRS 2 P 53 BIRHF At
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
T T T T T T
Executive directors Hfr#F
Mr. Cheung Siu Fai OB - 240 - - 12 252
Non-executive directors FHLTHE
Ms. So Tsz Kwan (Note i) BRit Rt (W) 240 - - - - 240
Independent non-executive directors BV FEHITHF
Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau RIS 240 - - - - 240
Mr. Liu Ying Shun (Note ii) PRSEIESE A (HsEii) 120 - - - - 120
Ms. Dong Jian Mei HHEELT 240 - - - - 240
Mr. Lam Chik Shun Marcus (Note i) #tii{F 562 (HfsEiii) 120 - - - - 120
Chief executive officer T4
Mr. Yeung Wai Lok Raymond (Note iv) ~ Hif%4e e 4 (ki) - 1,440 - - 18 1,458
960 1,680 - - 30 2,670
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10.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

OFFICER’S EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #{ % ~ & “Fi4E=H =

B 7 S 05 o B

PSR

10. 5 H S A7 B RO & (A1)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 BE_F_NWE=H=1—HIL4EE
Salaries,
allowances Equity-settled
and other  Discretionary share-based Retirement
Fees benefits bonuses payments benefits Total
DA S
Brax -~ A LA
Mg RHAbRER MIFEAL Stz B At
HKS$°000 HKS$°000 HKS$°000 HKS$000 HKS$000 HKS$000
Tl Tl Tl Tl Tl Tl
Executive directors HfrEF
Mr. Cheung Siu Fai RO = 240 = = 12 252
Mr. Lam Wai Tong (Note v) MEFEA (Hv) = 2,011 = = 15 2,026
Non-executive directors FBfrdEH
Ms. So Tsz Kwan (Note i) BRI 2ot (WEED 124 - - - - 124
Independent non-executive directors BV FEHITHF
Mr. Leung Winson Kwan Yau RIS 240 - - - - 240
Mr. Liu Ying Shun (Note ii) B IE e (i) 240 - - - - 240
Ms. Dong Jian Mei HHELT 240 = = = = 240
Chief executive officer frB A
M. Yeung Wai Lok Raymond (Note iv) #4552k (B ikiv) = 286 = = 4 290
844 2,537 - - 31 3412
Notes: Pt st -

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

)

Ms. So Tsz Kwan was appointed as non-executive director of the Company with

effect from 25 September 2023.

Mr. Liu Ying Shun resigned as independent non-executive director of the Company

with effect from 1 October 2024.

Mr. Lam Chik Shun Marcus was appointed as independent non-executive director of

the Company with effect from 1 October 2024.

Mr. Yeung Wai Lok Raymond was appointed as chief executive officer of the

Company with effect from 20 January 2024.

Mr. Lam Wai Tong resigned as executive director and chief executive officer of the

Company with effect from 20 January 2024.

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited I i B4 B (35 1% ) A R 2 ¥

@

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

)

BRIER L LB AAAFAFRLESR - B
SERCSERA TR AR

PSR S A AR AR 2 A S R AT o —
Mo AR AT A — R -

MRAE {5 58 25 M T AT S R 4 W) B L AT
Ho AFPETA - HRAR -

Bl e e e RAE A A RATER > A
FOWE—H A HAER

REE G S LR B AT AR S F AT S S AT B AR
ZWE o A E T T AR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B A 25 A B

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #%E —F _F4FE=H =+—H [L4FE

10.

11.

172

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE
OFFICER’S EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services
in connection with the management of the affairs of the Company and the
Group while the non-executive director’s and independent non-executive
directors’ emoluments shown above were for their services as directors of

the Company.

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, no director of the
Company has waived any emoluments and no emoluments were paid or
payable by the Group to any of the directors as an inducement to join or

upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss of office.

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, one (2024: one) of
the directors and chief executive officer whose emoluments is disclosed in
Note 10. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the remaining four

individuals (2024: four individuals) are as follows:

10.

11.

o S AT B R & (4

b SCHTHAT S B AR A A A R K
A B A BB PR (OIS - T b SRR
YUATIE S BB IR T I I 2 S S I
HEANFI#H L

WEEF - AEREPUEZA=ZF—H
IRAEBE > A R A AT AT I - T
7S T 7 0 1) A ] 0 = S ARF 20ME AT A o] P
& AR BEE AL SO A A F R
8 Y AR AR 1

B AL

REARREHFAN LT > Hp—Z(2F
4 —4) R RATEARER B TR M RE 10
Wegk o RN PO (A4 - U4) AR/
P - AN T

2025 2024

TR TR R AR

HK$°000 HK$°000

T Tt

Salaries and other emoluments 3 4 B LA 4 4,902 4,764
Retirement benefits HARAE A 72 69
4,974 4833

The emoluments of individuals other than directors and chief executive

officer with the highest emoluments are within the following bands:

AL ORGSR ATBGREED) i &
AT FEAERA

2025 2024

RN T4

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

N N#

HKS$1,000,001 up to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7542 1,500,000% ¢ 4 3

HK$1,500,001 up to HK$2,000,000

1,500,001 7T £ 2,000,000% 7G
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11.

12.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # % &~ H4F = H =

B 7 S 05 o B

PSR

INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST 11, e B A\ 1 (4)
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)
No emoluments have been paid by the Group and the Company to the AER AN 2 ] AR N AR AEE () AN T Al
directors of the Company or the top five highest paid employees as an 42 5 i AR B S AT A T 4 1 2 A (5
inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of N BRI A A 2 ] R 1 56 o g e I A £ (3
office during the year (2024: Nil). TPULE - )
TAXATION 12. BiJE
2025 2024
e S X TR PR
HK$°000 HK$’000
Tt THETT
Current tax B 91 Bd
Hong Kong Profits Tax FWHEH 1,373 3,712
Under (over) provision in respect of prior years 38 fE4E 5 # A & (G &)
Hong Kong Profits Tax FHAEH 45 (404)
Deferred tax (Note 29) IESE LI ([F7129) 1,457 748
2,875 4,056
Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2,000,000 of WIERGBWAESE > AERCENE

assessable profits of qualifying corporations will be taxed at 8.25%, and the
assessable profits above HK$2,000,000 will be taxed at 16.5%.

The directors of the Company considered the amount involved upon
implementation of the two-tiered profits tax rates regime is insignificant to
the consolidated financial statements. Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated

at 16.5% of the estimated assessable profits for both years.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”)
and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC

subsidiaries is 25% for both years.

For the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, no provision for PRC EIT
has been made in the consolidated financial statements as the Group has no

assessable profits under EIT.

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited I i B4 B (35 1% ) A R 2 ¥

2,000,000 7C fEE 5B A 515 44 8.25% 45 Bt >
M #2 44 2,000,000 # JC 19 ME GF Bl A i A% 4%
16.5%%5581 °

AT RS - BRI B S R
Hy 4 BB 5 A TR T &5 TR o MR
1 7 ¥ A5 B A RES B9 16.5%
I

R4 v B A 2 T A B 0 ([ A 2 P A B 1) e
A FEPT AR B RG] - 1184 A v B
A AR E25% o

BE_FE-_NFEA_FNFE=H=1T—H
IRARRE » TR SR G B R T A L 1 2
PR AR BT - il PR o AR 2 B Sl e 4 2E P A5
JEFRLA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B A 25 A B

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #%E —F _F4FE=H =+—H [L4FE
12. TAXATION (CONTINUED) 12. BidH (%)
Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in TG JEL At ) ok M [ P B I e A B ) Y e 17

174

the relevant jurisdictions.

BATBUAGA

The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit before taxation AP A B T T PT B S 4 A S A A T i 2
per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive & JT A A A ST 0 R B i R 3R
income as follows: T @
2025 2024
“EHE TR P4
HK$000 HK$’000
Ti#x THE T
(Loss)/profit before taxation PRAHT (548t (33,368) 4,574
Tax at the Hong Kong Profits Tax rate of 16.5%  #%16.5%% W FIf3 BLBL 5t H 1)
BLIH (5,506) 755
Tax effect on income not taxable for tax purpose  HEZHFRBLUA W BLHS 52 2% (101) (200)
Tax effect on expenses not deductible for tax NFT I B S B 5 2
purpose 5,384 3,334
Tax effect of deductible temporary differences BB IR IRy 2 B B A s
not recognised 135 165
Utilisation of deductible temporary differences ) Y A0 e A R T T I 2 A
previously not recognised (294) -
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AR B ARG R BT 3,426 723
Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised 2} FHl i {1 A< e 52 B TE G 15 1) (127)
Under (over) provision in respect of prior years AR BERE AN JE GBI 45 (404)
Tax effect of tax rates in other jurisdiction Al ] R L A ) A T s 24) (22)
Statutory tax concession 2 BB (173) (190)
Others HoAt 24 22
Actual tax expense BEPRBLIE S 2,875 4,056
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13.

14.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o B A 205 A W

For the year ended 31 March 2025 % —F _FFE=H =+ —H IEFE
DIVIDENDS 13. B
No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders of the Company PEE R HERCFPNEZ =+
during the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, nor has any dividend been H IR AR > AR i) R /A ) 3K 8 5 s oS A+ %
proposed since the end of the reporting periods. AR, o B R DA IR e AT
B .
(LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE 14. ik OBE) /&F
The calculation of the basic and diluted (loss)/earnings per share attributable AR AT N A B P A R i (s 1)/
to the owners of the Company is based on the following data: BN TIMRIE LA BRI A
2025 2024
TR TIAE TR AR
HK$°000 HK$’000
T#x THT
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to owners of  Fi #1556 B B A< B (F548) /
the Company for the purpose of basic and B AL B A NEAGAE N
diluted (loss)/earnings per share (f518) /1 (36,243) 571
2025 2024
TR TAE TR T4
’000 ’000
Tk T
Weighted average number of ordinary shares FA GG BOR A S v (4R /
for the purpose of basic and diluted (loss)/ 8 R B R IR S4 9
earnings per share 3,107,893 3,107,893
For the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, no adjustment has been made BEE - AFEN_FEI4E=H=1—H
to the basic (loss)/earnings per share amount presented in the computation of IRAREE > f AT PRI SV A i A >
diluted (loss)/earnings per share as there were no potential dilutive ordinary S 4 SR R (B 18) /2 A R 251 2
shares during the years. B RIEA (548 /A S HENE R -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B A 25 A B

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #% — &~ LAE=H =+—H [H 4
15. EMPLOYEE RETIREMENT BENEFITS 15. 1@ B 28 pi e Al
Defined contribution retirement plan € BBLFOR KT #1
The Group participates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“the MPF A A2 AR IR A v 1 1 ME SRR A T 0 A 7
scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes i Vs AR O 01 £ B 1 22 T 1Y A A A R
Ordinance for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the B 5 B —JH i i A BT (3R AE & 5t
schemes are held separately from those of the Group, in funds under the B 1) o G Y B A B £ [ Y A O B A
control of trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer and its employees B FOAZRE ARSI R4 o IR RS
are each required to make contributions to the plan at 5% of the relevant FHE o R T ROHAR B & A ERME L EE
payroll costs, subject to a cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. FAR5% & HE R 0I5 T A B A B
30,0004 7T
The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC are members of a AR I Y B A AR B 34 2 B v )
state-managed retirement benefit scheme operated by the government of the BT %7 1 B R A R AR AR RS o 5% A5
PRC. The subsidiaries are required to contribute a specified percentage of JB N R ZE R A I RUE A 40 Il sZ AR AR AR
payroll costs to the retirement benefit scheme to fund the benefits. The only TR LS AT AR A o AR F 3 RRRAR A
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit scheme is to TR R ME— A S VR R R ALK
make the specified contributions.
16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 16. &I
2025 2024
R TR TR YR
HK$000 HK$’000
Tt THE T
At fair value A FE SR
At the beginning of the year AR 207,100 136,900
Transfer from property, plant and equipment W ~ BB S
(Note 17) (Bf5EL7) - 57,430
Change in fair value upon transfer from property, )% - W5 KA1
plant and equipment I TESE ) - 27,770
Fair value change INPE ST (30,400) (15,000)
At the end of the year AR 176,700 207,100
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16.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7 S 05 o B

For the year ended 31 March 2025 % —F _FFE=H =+ —H IEFE

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)
During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group’s industrial properties

and residential premise located in Hong Kong with carrying amount of
HK$57,430,000 was leased out to two independent third parties and a related
party. The corresponding portions of the leasehold land and buildings,
leasehold improvements, furniture, fixtures and equipment were reclassified
from property, plant and equipment to investment properties from the date
of commencement of the lease agreements. The properties were fair-valued
by Ravia Global Appraisal Advisory Limited, an independent qualified
professional valuer, who is not connected to the Group and the resulting
increase in fair value of HK$27,770,000 has been credited to the property

revaluation reserve.

The fair value of industrial properties was determined based on the income
capitalization approach, where the market rentals of all lettable units of
the properties are assessed and discounted at the market yield expected by
investors for this type of properties. The market rentals are assessed by
reference to the rentals achieved in the lettable units of the properties as
well as other lettings of similar properties. The market yield is determined
by reference to the yields derived from analysing the sales transactions of

similar properties in the market.

The fair value of residential property was determined based on the direct
comparison method, assuming sale in its existing state and by making

reference of similar nature properties as available in the relevant market.

The Group’s property interest held under operating leases to earn rentals or
for capital appreciation purpose are measured using the fair value model and

are classified and accounted for investment properties.

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties as at 31 March 2025
and 2024 has been arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out on that
date by Ravia Global Appraisal Advisory Limited, an independent qualified

professional valuer, who is not connected to the Group.

16. #&EW*E (4])

BEFPESH =+ HIEE > A%
4] B T L /55 57,430,000 35 7T A 37 Jis Ak A T
W2 F AL T2 AR W 45 SR = )
—Z BT - AFE AR B - 1
B R - ERE - RE - HBERRK
AR C AR ~ R B T
WG - ZEWERB LA G HE
i (8 i A B R A s A BR A R HEA T AT
A (E > %A (E BT BEL A £ [ 517 e B o > AP
H827,770,0009 0 E A ZEE AL FEH o

TEY R A TE TR BN EAAL 5
SE > E Y SERTA AT AL A R TR A T
HBCE PR A B e S T i R
SAETTRAG SIGBL o TGS 925 )26 R]
HH R BN T BT R AL DA A S 1 HLA
WAL DLETRPAG o TG RTIZH T
T 45 R SUDIA) SE 1) 89 45 58 5 T A5t A i 4 <
i

EBWREMN NP ETIARYE B Lk e
BRAEBARRE T 855 - W25 MBI TS L
R R BUE R R 3

A5 B ARPEACE M A3 AR B A
A THE T e 2 ) SEME 2 I 120 TR R
B WA RAIRGIEEE Y2 -

AL EY R T AR K F YU
ZA=Z1T—BMAFETIRBEE LS B E
SEA (Bt 3 A B BRI AR PR /R R% H
HEAT RN (B R 2 - A (L BT B 42 (91 51 40 B
M o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 17 S 205 e B

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #%E —F _F4FE=H =+—H [L4FE

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 16. H&EWE(H)

In determining the fair value of the properties, the directors of the Company
determine the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for fair value
measurements. The Group engages third party qualified valuers to perform
the valuation. The directors of the Company works closely with the qualified
external valuers to establish the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs

to the model.

In estimating the fair value of the properties, the highest and best use of the

properties is its current use.

Valuation technique(s) Significant
and key input(s) unobservable input(s)

EASREESY EXATBESY

TERE B ERN A TERE > AR FEREER
SRR G i (B 1l B A\ B - AN
RS EE = 05 & EASA (EAEAT A - A%
R B EAR SR (L AT B S A > DURE
T TR W) A (Ll B RS i A\ i

AAGFHSERI AT > 92600 e e B

Relationship of unobservable

inputs to fair value Sensitivity
ABE2 Y
AR R Bk

Investment properties in Hong Kong

REEZ S
- Commercial and residential Income Capitalisation Capitalisation rate, taking into
building, located in Approach account the capitalisation of rental
Sham Shui Po, Kowloon income potential, and prevailing
The key inputs are: market condition, of which
2025: HK$106,100,000 (1) Capitalisation rate; ranged from 3.5% to 4.1%
(2024: HK$124,700,000) and (2024 from 3.2% to 4%)
(2) Monthly market rent
Monthly market rent per square foot,
taking into account the location
frontage, size, which ranged
from HK$24 to HK$284
(2024: from HK$23 to HK$323)
— (LR LR R (R WA BA{LE Kt KA RATE N R
FHHR > EAMLEER
ZZZFF 106,100,004 70 TEZY NF35%E41 BN %
(RN 124700,000870) (1) EA(LILE R (TE T4 32%%4%)
O &AL
BYHMEAMRE G RAE
H - A TFuiE T E
284 TE (B UAF
BT EIVET)
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The higher the capitalisation A slight increase in the
rate, the lower the fair capitalisation rate used
value would result in a significant
decrease in fair value of the

property, and vice versa

The higher the monthly A significant increase in the
market rent, the higher the monthly market rent used
fair value would result in a significant

increase in fair value of the

property, and vice versa

AL R - i ik AL R B
NFERAE BN AHER R
Do RZIMA

BAMSHE > AFEER PR A RS
LE G/ ES /RN ]
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16.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o B A 205 A W

For the year ended 31 March 2025 % —F _FFE=H =+ —H IEFE

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

Valuation technique(s)
and key input(s)

%R EES Y

Significant
unobservable input(s)

BXATBESY

16. #&EW*E (4])

Relationship of unobservable
inputs to fair value
A5 YR
AP

Sensitivity

B

— Industrial properties located in
Kwai Chung, New Territories,

Hong Kong

2025: HK$42,600,000
(2024: HK$47,600,000)

—RERE A S T

ZRHAE © 42,600,000 7T

(ZF U4 - 47,600,0004 )

Income Capitalisation

Approach

The key inputs are:

(1) Capitalisation rate;
and

(2) Monthly market rent

WA AL

FESH
() BRI K
Q) HAMS

Capitalisation rate, taking into
account the capitalisation of rental
income potential, and prevailing
market condition, of which
ranged from 4% to 4.5%

(2024: from 3.9% to 4.4%)

Monthly market rent per square foot,
taking into account the location
frontage, size, which ranged
from HK$11 to HK$21
(2024: from HK$12 to HK$23)

SR AR BTSN &
EHT . B R AT
4%Z4 5P A% (ZF A -
3.9%%4.4%)

BN AME GRS -
i~ HRE) BB TR
2T (R U
128022316 0)
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The higher the capitalisation
rate, the lower the fair

value

The higher the monthly
market rent, the higher the

fair value

AR
AFHERE

BAMSHE - AFEER

A slight increase in the
capitalisation rate used
would result in a significant
decrease in fair value of the

propetty, and vice versa

A significant increase in the
monthly market rent used
would result in a significant
increase in fair value of the

propetty, and vice versa

Bk B AL B
BN AR R
B RZIMA

FIF ok i R AL K A e
LE G ESVNRIWN
> R2ZIR%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

7 S R i

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #% — &~ LAE=H =+—H [H 4

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)

16. &M (4])

Valuation technique(s)  Significant Relationship of unobservable
and key input(s) unobservable input(s) inputs to fair value Sensitivity
A B%S Y
%R EES Y BRATHZESY AP Bk
— Residential premise located in Direct comparison Price per square foot, using market A significant increase in the An increase in the market unit

Mid-levels in Hong Kong

2025: HK$28,000,000
(2024: HK$34,800,000)

— R E R T

TR AR 28,000,000 7T

(TR ZI0AE - 34,800,001 )

method assuming sale
in its existing state and
by making reference
of similar nature
properties as available

in the relevant market

The key input is:
Price per square foot

H ik Bk B AE B
AT HE - 12
HHIB LA
BRI

EXS &
BFHRER

direct comparables and taking
into account location and other
individual factors such as location,
time, frontage, building age, size,
floor levels and layout, etc., which
is ranging from approximately
HK$16,000 to HK$21,000 (2024
from approximately HK$22,000
to HK$29,000)

BT ER  FATIS R
WEWENE  E B &
HAERIEE > Wl - B
- BT - EEAEAS  UN
BB RIGRS BN T4
16,0009 G 221,000/ A%
(ZZZIUAE © 422,000 05
29,0007 C)

As at 31 March 2025, the Group has pledged its investment properties with
fair value of HK$176,700,000 (2024: HK$207,100,000) to banks to secure
banking facilities granted to the Group.
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market transaction prices rate used would result in an
used would result in a increase in fair value, and
significant increase in fair vice versa.

value, and vice versa.

PR RS LA ERIR BRI a5
ISR IR TR R
S8 BN - LI ©

RoF_RHFEZA=—H - AEECIEH
HILEWZETHRIT > A T(E 5 176,700,000%
JC (T PU4E : 207,100,000970) - 1E 4%
TAEFRAT R E SR -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o B A 205 A W

For the year ended 31 March 2025 % —F _FFE=H =+ —H IEFE
2 R £
17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 17. W3 ~ WG Kkt
Furniture,
Leasehold land Leasehold Plant and fixtures and Motor
and buildings  improvements machinery equipment vehicles Total
M LR i RHE
53 ML EERES Rt FH it
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
T T TiT Tt T#T T#T
Cost JA
At 1 April 2023 RoE-=FENA—H 87,764 9,770 6,224 6,078 1,303 111,139
Additions RE - 3,656 13 571 726 4972
Transfer to investment properties (Note 16) B EREWE (it 16) (75.991) (3.949) = (75) = (80,015)
Written off s = = @ 5 = ©
Exchange adjustments [ 3 4 - - = 2 = 2
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 RoZ-MEZA=+—HE
—FRERA—H 11,773 9477 6,233 6573 2,029 36,085
Additions R - - 11 243 - 354
At 31 March 2025 RoZ-HEE=H=1+—H 11,773 9477 6,344 6,816 2,029 36,439
Accumulated depreciation and impairment 2 5H7i 8 K {5 4
losses
At 1 April 2023 AR =FNA—H 21,692 9,157 4815 5,825 1,249 42,738
Charge for the year R 2,455 942 466 207 102 4172
Transfer to investment properties (Note 16) B EHEWE (k1) (18,922) (3,655) = ®) = (22,585)
Reversal of impairment loss (Note) EERER () (948) = = = = (948)
Written off HisH = = @ ©) - (C)
Exchange adjustments I 54,3 8% = = = 2 = 2)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 R-FZWE=ZA=+—HR
ZEZIUENA—H 4271 6,444 5271 6,017 1,351 23,366
Charge for the year R m 997 467 181 145 2,112
At 31 March 2025 RoZ-REE=A=1—H 4,599 7441 5744 6,198 1,496 25,478
Carrying amount J i A
At 31 March 2025 REZZHFEZA=1—H 7,174 2,036 600 618 533 10,961
At 31 March 2024 AR TWNE=H=4—H 7,496 3,033 956 556 678 12,719
Note: During the year ended 31 March 2016, impairment loss of HK$1,271,000 has been fifst : ME_F—ANF=A=+—HIEFE > &
provided against the leasehold land and building. Upon transfer of the leasehold land LB b R #5754 U6 (E S 51,271,000 #
and buildings from property, plant and equipment to investment properties during the JC e MECEF WNE=HA=+—HILFE >
year ended 31 March 2024 (Note 16), reversal of impairment loss of HK$948,000 TS Lo R ) 2 - BRI T i fy 4%
has been recognised in profit or loss (after net of depreciation determined with Y (MR 16) 45 - U8 (E S FE43 M1 948,000 15
carrying amount that no impairment loss has been recognised). TG B H 2 W R (47 5 % LA R T (Al

FE o ORMERBERAR)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B A 25 A B

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #%E —F _F4FE=H =+—H [L4FE

17. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

18.

182

(CONTINUED)

The above items of property, plant and equipment, after taking into account

the residual values, are depreciated on a straight-line basis at the following

rates per annum:

Leasehold land and buildings
Leasehold improvements
Plant and machinery

Furniture, fixtures and equipment

Motor vehicles

Over the shorter of the term of lease,
or 50 years

Over the shorter of the term of lease,
or 3 to 5 years

3 to 5 years

3to 5 years

3 to 5 years

As at 31 March 2025, the Group has pledged its leasehold land and buildings
held for own use with carrying amount of approximately HK$7,174,000
(2024: HK$7,496,000) to banks to secure banking facilities granted to the

Group.

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

17. Y3€ ~ W Bk fli ()

EA Y -t B B (FE ORI BR(E (E
BRI ESEITE > BRI ERNT

A b R FHEHIER 504 (LA
K Byie)

S P 9 B3 45 54 (LU

W5 B v 3ESME

BH -~ SEBE 385

THH 3ES54E

MOETRHAE=ZA=+—H » AEE T
HAFE B F IR (B 40 57,174,000 70 (%
ZPUAE :7,496,0003 I ) 19 B 1 b R pE
TERAT - 1E 25 AR 5 [ HE 4 SR AT il A 1K 0

=]
Aan ©

18. fEHIHER &

Leased properties Motor vehicle Total
g% R Agt
HKS$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000
T THIT THTT
As at 31 March 2025 REZZHE=A=1+—H
Carrying amount MR E 9,048 314 9,362
As at 31 March 2024 REZZME=A=1+—H
Carrying amount R 1 11,142 409 11,551
For the year ended 31 March 2025 BE-Z-HE=A=Z1—H
IEAEEE
Depreciation charge i 1.53 5,805 94 5,899
For the year ended 31 March 2024 BEF-WE=ZH=1—H
iR 3
Depreciation charge PR 3,780 63 3,843
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18.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7 S 05 o B

For the year ended 31 March 2025 % —F _FFE=H =+ —H IEFE
RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (CONTINUED) 18. £ IR i (4)
2025 2024
e S X e 11 2
HK$°000 HK$’000
T#t THETT
Expense relating to short-leases FLATH R B 67 80
Total cash outflow of leases FH B 4 AR 5,526 4,895
Addition to right-of-use assets N B M E 3,710 8,672
For both years, the Group leases various offices, warehouses and motor AR WIRAR > A< A B 2 FLE A o 2 i

vehicle for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term of
1 to 4 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain
different terms and conditions. In determining the lease term and assessing
the length of the non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of

a contract and determines the period for which the contract is enforceable.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for various offices. As
at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the portfolio of short-term leases is similar
to the portfolio of short-term leases to which the short-term lease expense

disclosed above.

Restrictions or covenants on leases

In addition, lease liabilities of approximately HK$9,964,000 are recognised
with related right-of-use assets of approximately HK$9,362,000 as at 31
March 2025 (2024: lease liabilities of HK$11,214,000 and related right-
of-use assets of HK$11,551,000). The lease agreements do not impose
any covenants other than the security interests in the leased assets that are

held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing

purposes.

i~ AERARE o A A TR L E E
FELHA 25 1 25 A4F o LI AR A BE VR R 7 B f 35
AR B AT o B RE AL B A A T 41
AR BE IR - A2 M) 4 ) R 98 I i
AT A AR

Zli%@%ﬁ;ﬁﬁj%%ﬁ%%%%ﬁﬁﬂ%ﬂg o R

THAEKRTETMAE=ZA=+—H >
%ﬂ‘&aﬁﬂ & B SCRT AR ) A 1A S B ST i
Je (9 JE AR B AL S AL o

5 BR il sk

WA RZFZRAEZHA = —H o R
FH & A 15 479,964,000 7T > A8 B i I HE &
JEE 4 459,362,0009 70 (& U4 FIE A
& £ 11,214,000 #5 T K AH B A 4 & 2 A
11,551,000%5 7G) = FH & 1 i A B 5 AT ] 32
O R AT B0 A B A 2 0 IR 10 RE 25 B
A8 o FHETE NS AR A B -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 17 S 205 e B

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #%E —F _F4FE=H =+—H [L4FE

19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

19. MIEEE

Product Sales
Club development distribution ~ Computer
membership rights Brand name channel software Total
S8 8
RgERRE R P B Vi 4 A Rid IR A b
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THIT THIT T T T T
Cost BEA
At 1 April 2023 RoF=FNH—RA 2,200 1,000 6,560 6,179 5,500 21,439
Additions wNE - - - - 10,000 10,000
At 31 March 2024 and R-Z-NE=A=1+—H
1 April 2024 REFZDOFENH—HA 2,200 1,000 6,560 6,179 15,500 31,439
Additions wNE - - - - 6,800 6,300
At 31 March 2025 WEECHF=A=1—H 2,200 1,000 6,560 6,179 22,300 38,239
Accumulated amortisation 22 5T 8 5% I 1R
and impairment losses
At 1 April 2023 RoZ =AM A—H - 1,000 6,560 6,179 275 14,014
Charge for the year R H = = = = 1,100 1,100
At 31 March 2024 and AR TIEZH = —H
1 April 2024 KZEZPUFEMA—H - 1,000 6,560 6,179 1,375 15,114
Charge for the year R - - - - 3,780 3,780
At 31 March 2025 AR HEZHA=1—H - 1,000 6,560 6,179 5,155 18,894
Carrying amount R A
At 31 March 2025 WoEHFE=ZA=+—H 2,200 - - - 17,145 19,345
At 31 March 2024 R-Z_NE=ZA=+—H 2,200 - - - 14,125 16,325
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19.

20.

21.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o B A 205 A W

For the year ended 31 March 2025 £ _F _FF=H =1—H ILFE

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

At the end of the reporting period, the above intangible assets other than

club membership have definite useful lives. Such intangible assets are

19.

M & e (A

AR IR - BRIBGEIR G S > Al
7 1 [ E (R AR o A B RTE B 7E LT

amortised on a straight-line basis over the following period: [HI PR DA A7 5 =
Products development rights 7 years EE fih B EEE 74
Brand name 5 years w2 R S4F
Sales distribution channel 5 years B B IR A 54F
Computer software 5 years S 54F
INVENTORIES 20. 78
2025 2024
R THAE R PR
HK$°000 HK$’000
T#x THIT
Raw materials AR 20,763 22,157
Finished goods BB 4,130 3,723
24,893 25,880
TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, 21. JREWCR K B LAt FE W K 0 ~ TR
PREPAYMENTS AND DEPOSITS bk VH B ¥ 4
2025 2024
. S X TR PR
HK$°000 HK$’000
TFiEu T
Trade receivables JRE T R 25,302 29,136
Less: Allowance for credit losses G RV sk g (1,304) (1,484)
23,998 27,652
Other receivables HoAt eSO IR 2,591 2,493
Prepayments (Note) FAAFRIE (B 5E) 5,465 16,120
Utility, trade and other deposits KEL - G5 K HAbYE & 7,369 9,438
Right-of-return assets RIEHEE 175 163
Less: Allowance for credit losses W AF Sk R (140) (162)
39,458 55,704

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited I i B4 B (35 1% ) A R 2 ¥ 185



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B A 25 A B

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #% — &~ LAE=H =+—H [H 4

21. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES,
PREPAYMENTS AND DEPOSITS (CONTINUED)

186

1. WO sk B LAt E W sk I > 7R

ol sk JE B #% 4 (#)

2025 2024
ZER TR & Y4E
HK$°000 HKS$’000
T¥#T Tt
Analysis of trade and other receivables, JRE VAT R At JRE W B ~ FEAS

prepayments and deposits I Je ¥ i
Non-current portion FE BB 2,358 10,671
Current portion DRy 37,100 45,033
39,458 55,704

Note:

The amount mainly prepaid to the independent IT services providers for developing

customised operating systems for the Group.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, promoter commission calculation system
and smart vending machine were completed and implemented, the relevant costs
of HK$6,800,000 were recognised as intangible assets and amortised to profit
and loss over five years; and HK$550,000 of expenses for the system support and
maintenance have been utilised and charged to profit or loss during the year. The
remaining balance of HK$2,555,000 as at 31 March 2025 will be utilised for various

IT services or captialised as IT systems.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, customer relationship management
system and staff leave and attendance management system were completed and
implemented, the relevant costs of HK$10,000,000 were recognised as intangible
assets and amortised to profit and loss over five years; and HK$815,000 of expenses
for the system support and maintenance have been utilised and charged to profit or

loss during the year.

As at 1 April 2023, trade receivables from contracts with customers
amounted to HK$40,000,000 (net of allowance for credit losses of
approximately HK$1,433,000).

As at 31 March 2025, included in the Group’s trade receivables balances are

debtors with aggregate carrying amount of approximately HK$3,442,000
(2024: HK$3,200,000) which are past due. Out of the past due balances,

no trade receivable (2024: Nil) has been past due 90 days or more and is

not considered as in default due to long-term/on-going relationship, good

repayment record and continuous repayment from these customers.

The Group generally allows credit period ranging from 0O to 90 days.
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WEFRE © 2%k OH 2 B T 28 5 Al B TR s 3t i i
VA2 AR 45 B B ) (R S R

WE FHAEZA =+ —HIRERE - 8
BHEFTRA LSRG THO S SRR E
A7 > B AR 6,800,000 # TG T fE 58 1 JE JE
YERE o G TE AR NAER % PSS - BEBA
550,000 7 £ 2 Ft S 08 e AEREBH 2 > F 2R
AERELE - R -E_HE=ZA=+—H >
ERAH2,555,000% 7C & F i 2 1 4 RHUR IR 55
AR 2 R R AR AL o

BEFZNE=ZH=+—HILEE  EF
PREHRLG LA TR EEHRKE LT
RS CEAT > B B4R 10,000,000 T B T RS £
M > AR HAE R FEIR A RS > BT
B FT1815,000%5 70 /4 7 4% 4% KA RE B X - f7
EFFAERIRZ ©

MROFE=FEUA—H > RAKFSHNE
R TE £540,000,00098 TG (F1BR A5 S8l 813 15
#11,433,0004:7C) ©

AR CHAEZH A —H o AEEEE
KA BB AR R T (E 49 3,442,00095 7T A9 FE I
B (U T PU4E ¢ 3,200,000 00) > JBE
S o 4 A B o T A R AR R (=
A ¢ ) CUDI90 H B DL b R ARHL A EAY
55 % P BRI/ R~ R
R T A FRAUR K o
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21.

22,

23.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o B A 205 A W

For the year ended 31 March 2025 £ _F _FF=H =1—H ILFE
TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, 21. MEWSCHR 3K B H At RE WSk JE ~ TR

PREPAYMENTS AND DEPOSITS (CONTINUED)

The following is an ageing analysis of trade receivables (net of allowance

for credit losses) based on the date of revenue recognition.

ok JE e #% 4 (7))

VAT 2 MESCHR K (TR £ S 1R 18044 ) ZE A i

fi fERE G R A o

2025 2024

SESEE CE N

HK$’000 HK$’000

T Fibsst

0-30 days 0%30H 20,556 24,452
31-60 days 31E60H 3,442 3,200
23,998 27,652

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other receivables are set out
in Note 35(b).

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents represent bank balances and cash on hand. Bank

balances carry interest at prevailing market rates.

Details of impairment assessment of bank balances are set out in Note 35(b).

22,

JRE AR 2 EL At R WA L) Bk (LT 19 G

AR EE3S(b) ©

BE&RBSFEYISRTHER L TFHEE -
SATAEEL BTG A FRGE -

SRATAE ER A WL (EL A 1 R B35 (b) ©

TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER PAYABLES AND  23. JEAFRRSK ~ HthE 4 sk 7H B2
ACCRUALS nt 2 H

2025 2024

“EHAE e S 11 2

HK$000 HK$’000

TiEu T

Trade payables JEEAT AR K 3,856 2,357

Salary and welfare payables JRE A 387 4 S A ) 10,271 10,327

Accrued advertising expenses JRE w3 4 B S 2,668 3,626

Other payables and accruals HoAth AR % RS2 2,961 2,480

Interest payables JREAS F1LIE, 242 1,299

Deposits from tenants T Z 932 1,000

Receipt in advance for leasing of an B —JH &Y 20 FIGRIE
investment property - 5
20,930 21,094
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B A 25 A B

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #%E —F _F4FE=H =+—H [L4FE

23.

188

TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER PAYABLES AND
ACCRUALS (CONTINUED)

The credit period on trade payable is ranging from 0 to 90 days.

The following is an ageing analysis of trade payables based on invoice date.

3. MEATHRmK ~ b A ok 0E K

ahE M (%)
JEAT R 5 B NF0290H -

AR 2% B SRR A 52 WA AR B AT

2025 2024
ZEThA ZE A
HK$’000 HK$°000
T#x T
0-30 days 0%230H 1,387 919
31-60 days 312 60H 660 1,006
61-90 days 61%90H 1,165 178
91-180 days 91Z180H 401 -
181-365 days 181%2365H - 2
Over 365 days 365 H 243 252
3,856 2,357

Provision for long service payment T IR 5 4 % i

The Employment and Retirement Schemes Legislation (Offsetting
Arrangement) (Amendment) Bill 2022 was enacted in June 2022 which
abolishes the use of the accrued benefits of employers’ mandatory
contributions under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance
and/or Occupational Retirement Schemes Ordinance to offset severance
payment and long service payment (the “Offsetting Arrangement”). The
abolishment of the Offsetting Arrangement would increase the state benefits
that affect the long service payment payable by the employer. In accordance
with the requirement of HKAS 19, management has re-measured the
provision for long service payment to reflect the financial impact of the
abolishment of the Offsetting Arrangement. As a result, a provision for long
service payment in an immaterial amount of approximately HK$740,000 has
been recognised at 31 March 2025 (2024: HK$816,000) which is included

in “salary and welfare payables” above.
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24.

25.

26.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7 S 05 o B

For the year ended 31 March 2025 % —F _FFE=H =+ —H IEFE
CONTRACT LIABILITIES HHAME
2025 2024
R SN Y T P4
HK$000 HK$’000
FEe THETT
Advances received from customers: [ Y (3
Health and beauty supplements and products PR Ag B 25 i ﬁé e
business 51 36
As at 1 April 2023, contract liabilities amounted to approximately AZECZFMA—H - fHABESREY

HK$84,000.

Revenue recognised during the year ended 31 March 2025 included the
whole amount of contract liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period
amounted to approximately HK$36,000 (2024: HK$84,000).

The contract liabilities were expected to be recognised as revenue in the next
12 months. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to
the unsatisfied contract which has an original expected duration of one year

or less is not disclosed.

84,0009 JC ©

BEZ - AFE=A=+—H IMFEE#EIN
Wi s AL HE A A5 BAAD & 4 BRI 2B R A
36,0008 70 (= F - PU4E : 84,0009 7T)

A # B BT R R A 1248 T A R 2 I
f o 0V RS A R R A 1SR BT U R >
LT U T AR 5 — 4F B DL T MR IBAT &
KI5 5 (A I SE e %

AMOUNTS DUE TO A SHAREHOLDER 25. WEAT— A HRAKIR
As at 31 March 2024, the amounts due to a shareholder were unsecured, RoFEZWFE=ZH=+—H » B —ZBOR
bearing Hong Kong Dollar Prime Rate of Bank of China (Hong Kong) FCE S BEHCHR > 2 P ESRAT () A PR A A
Limited minus 2% per annum and repayable on demand. The amounts due ?%fl:ﬁa“ ﬁﬁﬂ%zﬁﬁﬁq% EipSHER AR S P
to a shareholder were fully repaid during the year ended 31 March 2025. B o MR A=A =T —HIEE
JEAT— Zﬁxﬁ SRR
The shareholder also is an executive director of the Company during the A RIS B AR A R R AR R F
years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024. TWAEZH = HIEFEENRATES -
BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 26. SRAT B Atb i sk
2025 2024
“ERAE B4R
HK$°000 HK$’000
Tt TH#IT
Variable-rate bank borrowings, secured RIS FRERAITIE R - AR 118,955 110,965
Shunten International (Holdings) Limited I i B4 B (35 1% ) A R 2 ¥ 189



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B A 25 A B

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #%E —F _F4FE=H =+—H [L4FE

26.

190

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

26. SRAT B oA A sk (4])

(CONTINUED)
2025 2024
B TAR e 11 -
HK$°000 HK$’000
T T
The carrying amounts of the bank borrowings 12 ¥ 3R 5 38 M 3k i SRAT 5 3%
that contain a repayment on demand clause P B A CR IR B B AR
(shown under current liabilities) repayable: B5) > DA IR -
Within 1 year —4ER 18,114 20,200
More than one year, but not exceeding A —AF > {H SR A AT
two years 16,670 10,761
More than two years, but not exceeding R A0 T A (E AN R A8 T AP
five years 43,098 27,296
More than five years A AR 41,073 52,708
118,955 110,965
Less: Amounts due within one year shown under ¥k : JB) & & Vs — 4 NEHANY
current liabilities gl (118,955) (110,965)
Amounts shown under non-current liabilities FEU ) BT R R - =

Notes: During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group’s variable-rate borrowings carry
interest range from 3.95% to 6.38% (2024: 4.33% to 6.13%) per annum.

In respect of bank borrowings with carrying amount of HK$118,955,000
as at 31 March 2025, the Group is required to comply with the financial
covenants requirements on the Group's net asset values and ratios on bank

borrowings with the net assets and fair value of the pledged properties.

The Group has complied with the financial covenants of its borrowing
facilities during the year ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o B A 205 A W

For the year ended 31 March 2025 % —F _FFE=H =+ —H IEFE
223
LEASE LIABILITIES 27. MEAM
2025 2024
e S X T P4
HK$000 HK$’000
T#t THETT
Lease liabilities payable: JEE AT R B 0K -
Within one year —4ER 4,234 4,754
Within a period of more than one year but not D L BB A
more than two years 4,443 3,429
Within a period of more than two years but not FyWIRAE L L (HA B A
more than five years 1,287 3,031
9.964 11,214
Less: Amount due for settlement with 12 months ¥ : JBJ &&=+ MMH K
shown under current liabilities B B Z BOH (4,234) (4,754)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months FEU B A PRI+ AR H Z B
shown under non-current liabilities 4R B 5,730 6,460
The incremental borrowing rates applied to lease liabilities range from 3.72% B A 8 R OR R A T
to0 6.06% (2024: 3.72% to 6.06%) per annum. F372%E6.06% ( —F _UF : 3.72% %
6.06%) °
YH &
REFUND LIABILITIES 28. Bk A1
2025 2024
- S X TR YR
HK$°000 HK$’000
Tt THE T
Refund liabilities B A
Arising from right of return PRAR S i A 1,339 1,260
The refund liabilities relate to customer’s right to return products within B A RER I E M AR F R GRS
a specified period. The Group uses its accumulated historical experience B o AR A [ R HL SR R I JRE sk B > TR
to estimate the number of returns on a portfolio level using the expected WEEEA GG EE R E R - RS
value method. At the point of sale, a refund liability and a corresponding B TR e R (] AR SR A R I
adjustment to revenue is recognised for those products expected to be AH TE i 2 R o
returned.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B A 25 A B

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #%E —F _F4FE=H =+—H [L4FE

29. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 29. BEERIHE & N A fE

The following are the major deferred tax (assets) liabilities recognised and DUTR AR 3 B A 47 BE RSB Y T2 B AR A B
movements thereon during the current and prior year: T () & fif RS -
Accelerated
tax Lease Right-of-use
depreciation liabilities assets Total
InEBLIH YT MR S E At

HKS$°000 HK$°000 HKS$°000 HK$°000
Tt Tt Tt Tt

At 1 April 2023 RFZ=4NH—H 5 (1,109 1,109 5
Charged/(credited) to profit or loss e A/ (GEA) 4

(Note 12) (HHE12) 695 (677) 730 748
At 31 March 2024 REZZME=A=1+—H 700 (1,786) 1,839 753
Charged/(credited) to profit or loss e A/ GEA)

(Note 12) (HEE12) 1,585 194 (322) 1,457
At 31 March 2025 RERZHE=ZHA=1+—H 2,285 (1,592) 1,517 2,210
Reconciliation of deferred tax assets and liabilities 8 20 750 I B B RO A R

2025 2024
TR THAE —E U
HK$°000 HK$’000
Tt T
Net deferred tax assets recognised in the G BB IR DL R N R Y
consolidated statement of financial position 0% FE R T VA (62) (13)
Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the T EE A BAB IR DL R N TR Y
consolidated statement of financial position AR JE B IE 2 55 v A 2,272 766
2,210 753
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29.

30.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2025 # % &~ H4F = H =

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
(CONTINUED)

Reconciliation of deferred tax assets and liabilities (Continued)
At 31 March 2025, the Group had unused tax losses of HK$74,571,000
(2024: HK$55,261,000) available to offset against future profits. No
deferred tax has been recognised due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams. Included in unrecognised tax losses at 31 March 2025 are tax losses
of approximately HK$1,953,000 (2024: HK$2,579,000) that will expire
within 5 years from the year of originating. Other tax losses may be carried

forward indefinitely.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has deductible temporary
difference of HK$13,649,000 (2024: HK$11,128,000). No deferred tax asset
has been recognised in respect of the deductible temporary difference of
HK$13,649,000 (2024: HK$11,128,000) as it is not probable that taxable

profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences

B 7 S 05 o B

PSR

R S 50 s B £ ()

R AL 56 JE B e I B 18 R IR (A7)
REFRCHFEZA=4—H > AREEE RS
FABLE 5 18.74,571,0007 78 ( % T PU4E ¢
55,261,000% 75 ) ] I VEHE 8 A A 16 B EE)Y:\
A 3 TR ) SR 20 i A 2R R o ST 4 e A AT
BiIH - R _E_FAEZA=Z+—H > ﬂﬁm
T 165 M T B A 0 s A A TR AR T 4 7 i
FA A0 55 M 1844 1,953,000 7 ( — % — PU4E
2,579,000%5 70) o Ho At A S s 18 T i R 45
o

ARSI > ARG EIZR B FRAEAC S SR vl
FITR T IR 25 %H /5 13,649,000 45 7T (& 10
A0 11,128,00095 7C) o B AT RE A RE R
T8 38 R FH DA G 5 AT e B 2 B 5 Ol 4
BEA B R A A0 LTS Y AT 0 I 1 B 25 A

can be utilised. 13,649,000 76 ( —ZF —F04F : 11,128,00045
JC) FERR IR AL B TH 7 o
SHARE CAPITAL 30. A
Nominal value Number Share
per share of shares capital
5 B T (L Bty B H AR
HKS$ HK$°000
VST T
Authorised: PE ¢
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024, WZFEZZAFENH—H -
and 31 March 2025 CERIEZA=ET—H K
SR CHFZAZT—H 0.0025  4,000,000,000 10,000
Issued and fully paid: CEITRAE :
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024, M EZAEMHA—H
and 31 March 2025 474@$ A=1+—H}K
CECAE=ZA=+—H 0.0025  3,107,893,440 7,770

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited I i B4 B (35 1% ) A R 2 ¥ 193



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B A 25 A B

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #% — &~ LAE=H =+—H [H 4
31. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 31. EAKYE
2025 2024
“EHE TR P4
HK$°000 HK$’000
Ti#x T
Capital expenditure in respect of the acquisition of B 5] #{H RTESE & MBS R
property, plant and equipment contracted for but w2 AYERLULHEWIZE ~ kB K
not provided in the consolidated financial A BB AR S
statements 663 315
32. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS 32. MEMERHE
The Group as a lessor AL EAE A R
All of the investment properties held by the Group for rental purposes have AALE AR E g A RgEwEC R
committed lessees for the next one to fourth years. AR —Z MU AEHRFH AR o
Undiscounted lease payments receivable on leases are as follows: FRE R ENCR BB B 3E T
31 March 2025 31 March 2024
RO R4
=ZH=Z+—H =R =F—H
HK$°000 HK$’000
Tt THETT
Within one year — RN 4,224 4,672
In the second year TGRS AR 2,861 2,898
In the third year R =4 1,859 141
In the fourth year A ST AF 266 -
Total Mt 9,210 7,711
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33.

34.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7 S 05 o B

For the year ended 31 March 2025 % —F _FFE=H =+ —H IEFE

PLEDGE OF ASSETS 33. EEdiad
The Group’s borrowings had been secured by the pledge of the Group’s assets S A2 [ ) £ K El A A4 ] ) S R VR AR
and the carrying amounts of the respective assets are as follows: MRS EWREED T
2025 2024
“ETHAE TR AR
Note HK$°000 HK$’000
By sE T THIC
Property, plant and equipment W2k - Bm Bkt
— Leasehold land and buildings —FHE - i 17 7,174 7,496
Investment properties BBk 16 176,700 207,100
183,874 214,596

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will
be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the return to
shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The
Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year. The capital
structure of the Group consists of bank and other borrowings and lease
liabilities disclosed in notes 26 and 27, respectively, net of cash and cash
equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising

issued share capital, accumulated losses and other reserves.

The management reviews the capital structure on a semi-annual basis. As
part of this review, the management considers the cost of capital and the
risks associated with each class of capital. Based on recommendations of
the management, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through
new share issues and share buy-backs as well as the issue of new debt or the

redemption of existing debt.

34. EAREH

ASE S G AGEITE I > LUREIRA L N
A TR RE A FR AR o (R IRp I A AL O
P HE ) A de R A S ] . A 42 [ 1 A
Toms B — AR AR HelD A AL o AR MR A
DR I 326 K 27 )3 Rl 5 8 A AT B EL
ffE R LA KA B BRI S B 55
WILL R A A N EAGE GE - EAE T 8T
JeAS ~ B 1R AR A o

I AR A UCE AL o (R R
BRI AR5 > BB A A B B4
JEUEAAR B R R © IR BB RO - A
A PN 25 20 AT R R A3 B A3 [ g LA R % AT
S U [ B AT 5 AP L A 4
1 o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B A 25 A B

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #%E —F _F4FE=H =+—H [L4FE
35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 35. &Rt TH
(a) Categories of financial instruments S TR
2025 2024
ZER TR ZE 4R
HK$°000 HK$’000
T¥#T Tt
Financial assets SXRLE B
Financial assets at amortised cost TR EH A F I 2 S A 39,350 52,122
Financial liabilities o= Eis
Amortised cost BEEH A 138,972 157,147
Lease liabilities L £ 0 9,964 11,214

196

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade receivables,
other receivables, deposits, cash and cash equivalents, trade and other
payables, bank and other borrowings, amount due to a shareholder
and lease liabilities. Details of the financial instruments are disclosed
in respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (currency risk and interest rate risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk. The management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented in
a timely and effective manner. The policies on how to mitigate these

risks are set out below.

Market risk
There has been no change to the Group’s exposure to market risks
or the manner in which it manages and measures the risk during the

year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7 S 05 o B

For the year ended 31 March 2025 % —F _FFE=H =+ —H IEFE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)
Market risk (Continued)

@

Currency risk

Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign currency
sales and purchases and bank balances which expose the
Group to foreign currency risk. They are mainly denominated
in currencies other than the functional currency of the group

entity making the sale or purchases, i.e. USD or RMB.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency
denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the

end of the reporting period are as follows:

35. sih T H (4)
(b) S5 B A B A S BSR4

il 453 e ()

@

BB

A ) 1A B TR R 2 W) A A1
B LR RRATR R > oF
45 ) 1o By S W mL By o LA
HEAT FUT A S A 0 D RE
WL B WG > B SRSn K
N

AR A [ DL A ST G B
T 8 W B A R AR A R
(VIR

Liabilities Assets
faff &E

2025 2024 2025 2024
CROHAE SE U B ORHAE EJUE
HK$’000 HK$000  HK$°000 HK$°000
Tt T T T
USD ES 997 790 21 16
RMB NG - = 208 62

The Group currently does not have a foreign exchange
hedging policy. However, the management of the Group
monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging

significant foreign exchange exposure should the need arises.

The directors of the Company consider that the overall
currency risk is not significant as there are no material foreign
currency risk exposure of USD as the USD is pegged with the
HKD and the bank balance of RMB is minimal. Accordingly,

no sensitivity analysis is prepared and presented.

A A5 ) F A AL S8 Sb BE 3 i B
W o SR > ASSE B R B
S ME UKz - S0 A AT G I
3 i E A JEL R

AR ) R R B
WA gER > FETHEET
P - S Tl A EE R A
B o TN R SR AT A AR ON R
Z o L - 3l AR Y K 2 51
JERBEIIT o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B A 25 A B

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #%E —F _F4FE=H =+—H [L4FE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

198

(b)

(ii)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation
to lease liabilities (Note 27). The Group is also exposed to cash
flow interest rate risk in relation to variable-rate bank balances
(Note 22), variable-rate bank borrowings (Note 26) and
amount due to a shareholder (Note 25). The Group’s cash flow
interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of
interest rates on borrowings and amount due to a shareholder.
The Group aims at keeping borrowings and amount due to a
shareholder at variable rates. The Group manages its interest
rate exposures by assessing the potential impact arising from
any interest rate movements based on interest rate level and
outlook. The management will review the proportion of
borrowings in fixed and floating rates and ensure they are

within reasonable range.

Interest expense on financial liabilities not at FVTPL:

35. sih T H (4)
(b) S5 B A B AR B BOSR (A7)

1753 b (48
i) FIRE S

A S [0 AT B L AL B (R
27) A B AP ER AR o A
45 9] 7 T [ BAL T A ) R BRAT A4
B (MEEE22) - AT S A SR ARAT A
K (B E26) B HEA — 44 e Rk
TEL(BRFRE25) A Bl A0 B 4 3 A1) 36
JEV B o A% A I B B 4 9 M) 2
Ba 2 A v 7 A OM) 2 1 i )
Be AT — & IR - A SE
B B R AR A R AT
— R BEHGHIE o AR BB AR
5 ) 2K K i AT A AT Ao A
565 ) 7 A V) VR E Y A T
) 26 SR B o B B 4 A i
Be i B AR B A& ) > Sl e
PRICERIA G SRR A

Sif: JF $e 23 SP{E R AR i R 2l
BRFIBRH

2025 2024
R R TR YR
HK$°000 HK$’000
TFiEu THE T
Interest expense FB B X
Financial liabilities at amortised cost Fel e AT 2 Sl
=K 6,407 7,157
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7 S 05 o B

For the year ended 31 March 2025 % —F _FFE=H =+ —H IEFE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(b)

(ii)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on
the exposure to interest rates at the end of the reporting period.
The analysis is prepared assuming the financial instruments
outstanding at the end of the reporting period were outstanding
for the whole year. A 100 basis point (2024: 100 basis
points) increase or decrease in variable-rate bank borrowings
and amount due to a shareholder represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest rates.
Bank balances are excluded from sensitivity analysis as the
management considers that the exposure of cash flow interest
rate risk arising from variable-rate bank borrowings and

amount due to a shareholder is insignificant.

If interest rates had been 100 basis points (2024: 100 basis
points) higher/lower and all other variables were held constant,
the Group’s post-tax loss for the year ended 31 March 2025
would increase/decrease by approximately HK$993,000
(post-tax profit for the year ended 31 March 2024 would
decrease/increase by approximately HK$1,143,000). This is
mainly attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest rates
on its variable-rate bank borrowings and amount due to a
shareholder.

The Group’s sensitivity to interest rates has increased during
the current year mainly due to the increase in variable-rate

bank borrowings.

35. sih T H (4)
(b) S5 B A B A S BSR4

1753 I 5 (78
i) FIFE G (AE)
B S AT

T B AR o BT T AR R
R B F 2R B o wE AT TS
AR R A 0 A R i 2 4 T
B AR RER NI AT -
7 B R SR ERAT A 3K AT — 44
J3 B EKCTE Y 100 1 FE B (&
VU - 100 1R B E) /Y 34 i sk
W 16 2R L R SR A
Al RESEAL R REAL o i R G
R 1 T B A R ERAT 1 R A
— 4 B SRUEKIE BT E R 1 3 A R
gl Bl I Ny NS B
JREE TR R RS T A 6 -

WERFIZR BT/ T B 10018 55 2
(P4 10018 L2, > 1
A H A B R R AR B 5 ARAE
E#EE—F _HF=H=1T—
H Ik 4F B 1 BR B 1% i 1814 1%
/380 #1993,000 3 6 (# 2
SECNE=ZH =+ —HIEF
FE 11 B B A% B A Ik 2D /38 in £9
1,143,000%70) © %5 B B iR
7 45 T 1) 77 Bl FI| S R AT 15 3K %
JREASF— 44 FS SR TR 14 ) 2Ry

AR E » A IR
BRI E B SRR
FHE s -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B A 25 A B

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #%E —F _F4FE=H =+—H [L4FE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

200

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its
contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Group. The
Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to trade receivables, other

receivables, deposits and bank balances.

Trade receivables arising from contract with customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, monitoring procedures are in
place to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts and the management considers that the Group’s credit risk is

significantly reduced accordingly.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 97% (2024: 97%) and
97% (2024: 97%) of the total trade receivables was due from the
Group’s largest customer and the five largest customers respectively.
In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has
delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits and

credit approvals.

In addition, the Group performs impairment assessment under ECL
model on trade receivables with significant balances individually.
Except for debtors with significant balances, the remaining trade
receivables are grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics
by reference to the Group’s aging of outstanding balances. Reserval
of impairment of approximately HK$180,000 (2024: Impairment of
approximately HK$51,000) is recognised during the year. Details of

the quantitative disclosures are set out below in this note.

Bank balances

Credit risk on bank balances is limited because the counterparties
are reputable banks with high credit ratings assigned by international
credit agencies. The Group assessed 12m ECL for bank balances
by reference to information relating to probability of default and
loss given default of the respective credit rating grades published
by external credit rating agencies. Based on the average loss rates,
the 12m ECL on bank balances is considered to be insignificant and

therefore no loss allowance was recognised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

B 7 S 05 o B

For the year ended 31 March 2025 % —F _FFE=H =+ —H IEFE

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Other receivables and deposits

For other receivables and deposits, the management makes periodic
individual assessment on the recoverability of other receivables and
deposits based on historical settlement records, past experience, and
also quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and
supportive forward-looking information. The management believes
that there is no significant increase in credit risk of these amounts
since initial recognition due to the amount defaulted and unsecured

and the Group provided impairment based on 12m ECL.

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment comprises the

35. sih T H (4)

(b) S5 B A B A S BSR4

1 FE BT (A7)

FHoA FENC R IR e e

AR ORI R il o R
RRPRIE S A5 S T o ~ M TEREER - LA
B B E BB R M R DL B SR TR
W OB o A S At R IR B f
A5 B AT W PR A AT B R AN o A R
WA AMIRTERR LA - %A RRIE W
75 58 L i o7 4 ] 465 2K J SE AR AT ) 3K
11T S I0 > T AS E IEAR B 1248 H 7
e SRR B E R -

AR A B S A 9 A R LA

following categories: DU HERA -
Internal credit rating  Description Trade receivables Other financial assets
W i f HIE R it HEE e Bk ik HoAth 3 5
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and does not  Lifetime ECL 12m ECL
have any past-due amounts - not credit-impaired
(9 B0 A B BRI - B AR AT a i E R EHEHIE R 128 A AR Hi 1R
— S 4
Watch list Debtor frequently repays after due dates but usually Lifetime ECL 12m ECL
settle in full — not credit-impaired
BUEaR i NSRRI H AR R - (BN 2 MAE TG R 121 3 TS SR
— A SR E
Doubtful There have been significant increases in credit risk Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
since initial recognition through information — not credit-impaired — not credit-impaired
developed internally or external resources
gt A R A A B EOR O N R A R AR - T R AR TG SR
i FH R B i — A R E — A
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-impaired  Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
— credit-impaired — credit-impaired
1A A RERER R R B AT S kE EE R
— (R HRE — R
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe ~ Amount is written off Amount is written off
financial difficulty and the Group has no realistic
prospect of recovery
S ARREA A A B B R E ARG WA RS A e

I S ) S
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B A 25 A B

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #%E —F _F4FE=H =+—H [L4FE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 35. &R T H (%)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) S R bE 4 PE H B R BUR ()
(Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) 1 B B (7))
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group’s T R A A I 4 B R 915 R R
financial assets, which are subject to ECL assessment: B > ZEEAT B BRI ETAL -
2025 2024
External Internal X 2 e Sl 1122
Credit rating  Credit rating  12m or lifetime ECL Gross carrying Gross carrying
AMERGE IR PRAE 12418 A g 2 1 w0 amount amount
PR i B8 I T 484K MR AR (H
Notes HK$°000 HK$°000
i T T
Financial assets

at amortised cost

FECHR S R A T 5
Trade receivables (note (1)) 21 N/A Low risk Lifetime ECL 24,570 28,333
- not credit-impaired
(individual assessment)
Lifetime ECL 732 803
(collective assessment)
JRESC R 3 (Bt (1)) AT {90 ST REH
— i A
(B FFAR)
UG SEE
(ST
25,302 29,136
Other receivables and deposits 21 N/A (note (ii)) 12m ECL 9,960 11,931
HoAhREWCOR Kot AEA (B (ii)) 12 A A TS St
Bank balances 22 AA N/A 12m ECL 5,532 12,700
PATHER AA A 121 A BHIE S
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 7 S 05 o B

For the year ended 31 March 2025 % —F _FFE=H =+ —H IEFE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(b)

Notes:

@

35. sih T H (4)
(b) S5 B A B A S BSR4

Credit risk (Continued) e B B (#)
BEGE
For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach in @) MEBORA S > AEEC KA
HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for debtors BT A Y R 55 9 9% mh i) i AL ik DA i
with significant balances or credit impaired which are assessed individually, 2 TE G S A R AR R o BR
the Group determines the expected credit losses on these items collectively, ARG IR EUE SR R RS A L
grouped by past due status. BTG ) b o A< SR [ a3 AR B oy
A R MOE S IH B W TEME Sk
e
As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group uses debtors’ AR 7 A 4 T £ 4 SR 8 L P9 — B 4
ageing to assess the impairment of trade receivables from the remaining AR B S A MRS TS8R T &P
customers because these customers share common risk characteristics BRI > B A2 % P HA
that are representative of the customers’ abilities to pay all amounts due SLfe] B > R P R A A
in accordance with the contractual terms. The following table provides AT BB AR RE ) o F R4
information about the Group’s exposure to credit risk for trade receivables A R 7 A A 1] JRE A B ) £ £ TR 1)
which are assessed on a collective basis within lifetime ECL (not credit- B W2 R R E Al A
impaired). TS B 1R Ol 045 B0 E) 4R
HEEPA
Gross carrying
Average loss rate amount Loss allowance
ER R R i i A8 s 4 5
% HK$°000 HK$°000
% Tt Tt
31 March 2025 “ERCHFAEHA=TH
Current Rty 10.91 3 -
Less than 2 months past due b 24m A 16.91 35 6
2 to 3 months past due w2 2 30 A - - -
Over 90 days past due 90K LA L 100.00 694 694
732 700
Gross carrying
Average loss rate amount Loss allowance
RS I T A0 (L M e
% HKS$°000 HK$’000
% T T
31 March 2024 “EOMEZA=TH
Current (S1E:] = = =
Less than 2 months past due w248 12.01 78 9
2 to 3 months past due w2 %318 A = = =
Over 90 days past due w90 K LA 100.00 725 725
803 734
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B A 25 A B

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #% — &~ LAE=H =+—H [H 4

35. sih T H (4)
(b) S5 B A B AR B BOSR (A7)

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued) 1 B B (7))

Notes: (Continued) FfF&E - ()

(i) (Continued) (i) (%)
The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical observed default i 51 e 15 56 B A N T A A At 1
rates over the expected life of the debtors and forward-looking information BUEER K 26 T A A 2 A S 53
that is available without undue cost or effort. The grouping is regularly 77 B AR 6 T S M R B o R
reviewed by management to ensure relevant information about specific J& 2 WM T B AR WE AR
debtors is updated. 5 AR B RHE LA o
During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group recognised reversal of REE R T HAESH = —H IR4E
impairment of approximately HK$146,000 (2024: reversal of impairment JE > A A2 B AR A R A
of approximately HK$167,000) for trade receivables based on individual U (E 43 7] 4 146,000 70 ( & 4
assessment and reversal of impairment of approximately HK$34,000 (2024: A W (E R 49 167,000 0C) o if
impairment of approximately HK$218,000) for trade receivables based on 7 ST A T M A SR R k(93 10 4
collective assessment respectively. 34,0007C (& " PU4E @ Bl {E47218,000

HETT) °
(ii) In determining the ECL, the Group has taken into account the historical (ii) A EE B EE > ALE D

settlement record, past experience and forward-looking information as
appropriate. There had been no significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. During the year ended 31 March 2025, reversal of impairment
of approximately HK$22,000 (2024: impairment of approximately
HK$152,000) is recognised on other receivables and deposits. For the
remaining other receivable balances, the Group has considered the
consistently low historical default rate in connection with payments and

concluded that credit risk inherent in these balances is insignificant.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 3s.

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(b)

(Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

The following table shows the reconciliation of loss allowances

B 7 S 05 o B

For the year ended 31 March 2025 % —F _FFE=H =+ —H IEFE

&R (4])
(b) S5 B A B A S BSR4

1 FE BT (A7)

TR O R 1 5 T i e

that has been recognised for trade receivables under the simplified OB e TR A R o
approach.
Lifetime ECL
(not credit-
impaired)
2T
5 BLHE 45
(S 908 £ FE VoA
HK$’000
TH#T
As at 1 April 2023 W FE =AM H—H 1,433
Changes due to financial instruments recognised A TE = H — H E R

as at 1 April 2023: Al 4 P T 7 A Y B )

— Impairment loss reversed — 3 l EE R 1 (1,433)
New financial assets 4 Bl 1,484
As at 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 ATETNE=ZH=+—H K

R ENA—H 1,484
Changes due to financial instruments recognised A E YA H— H B R

as at 1 April 2024: A 4 il T L A g S )

— Impairment loss reversed — E B R (1,484)
New financial assets 4 Al 1,304
As at 31 March 2025 R-ZF-HF=ZA=1—H 1,304
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B A 25 A B

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #%E —F _F4FE=H =+—H [L4FE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

206

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk and the basis for preparation on a going concern
basis

The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor current and expected
liquidity requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves
of cash and adequate committed lines of funding from major lenders

to meet its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had net current liabilities of
approximately HK$75,441,000. The Group’s bank balances and cash
as at 31 March 2025 amounted to approximately HK$5,532,000 as
compared to the Group’s bank and other borrowings of approximately
HK$118,955,000, of which approximately HK$18,114,000 are
repayable within the next twelve months from the end of the reporting
period based on contractual repayment date. In view of this, the
directors of the Company have given careful consideration to the
future liquidity of the Group and details of which are set out in Note
3.1.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table has been
drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities
based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay.
Specifically, bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are
included in the earliest time band regardless of the probability of the
banks choosing to exercise their rights. The maturity dates for other
non-derivative financial liabilities are based on the agreed repayment

dates.

The table includes both interest and principal cash flows. To the
extent that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount is

derived from interest rate at the end of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o B A 205 A W

For the year ended 31 March 2025 % —F _FFE=H =+ —H IEFE

35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED) 35. &b T H (%)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) S Rk 4 PE H BE R BUR ()
(Continued)
Liquidity risk and the basis for preparation on a going concern i B BT <5 5 D e A AR A T I g R
basis (Continued) (%)
As at 31 March 2025 W oETHAEZA=ZA—H

More than More than

Weighted lyearbut 2 years but Total
average Within less than less than  undiscounted Carrying
interestrate  On demand 1 year 2 years 5 years cash flows amount

T i R KB
ResliEs JEZ K —HER O BEOREE  HORLE HEREAE JRmf

% HK$000 HK$'000 HKS$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
T T Tz T T Tl

Financial liabilities included in “trade 5T A FEFTHEZ B A

and other payables” JE A8 1) 4 A 1K - - 20,017 - - 20,017 20,017

Bank and other borrowings BT R A 518 118,955 - - - 118,955 118,955

118955 20,017 - - 138972 138972

Lease liabilities fEaE 547 - 4557 4,628 1,331 10,516 9,964
As at 31 March 2024 BoFE D E=H =—+—H

More than More than

Weighted 1 year but 2 years but Total
average Within less than lessthan  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate On demand 1 year 2 years 5 years cash flows amount

i3 R~ R A RHEBL
RREIES fezk —fER EORWE  EORIE RERE8HE i

% HK$000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000
T T Tk T T Tk

Financial liabilities included in “trade ~ #HATHERH K B HiAth

and other payables” HEAT HOR M &R A = = 20273 = = 20273 20273
Bank and other borrowings A7 R AR 548 110,965 = = = 110,965 110,965
Amount due to a shareholder WAt — 4 AR 388 25,909 - - - 25,909 25,909

136,874 20,273 - - 157,147 157,147
Lease liabilities fEAH 519 = 5,230 3,601 3,129 12,050 11,214
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B A 25 A B

For the year ended 31 March 2025 % —F L4 =H =

3S.

208

F—H I

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

35. s TH (4)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (b) S R bE 4 PE H B R BUR ()
(Continued)
Liquidity risk and the basis for preparation on a going concern i BY BT <5 D e 4 A A T I g R
basis (Continued) (#8)
Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are included R A 4 B R AR A AR AT (5 3R EE A
in the “on demand” time band in the above maturity analysis. As b SCE A B AT R [ 4 BRI [ o
at 31 March 2025, the aggregate carrying amounts of these bank We A _FE_FE=H=1+—H &%
borrowings amounted to HK$118,955,000 (2024: HK$110,965,000). SEARAT 15 B HR T 48 A £ 118,955,000
Taking into account the Group’s financial position, the management (7% JC (=& Z P9 4F : 110,965,000 #
does not believe that it is probable that the banks will exercise o HE7 B A 4L WY BA BT AR DLAR
their discretionary rights to demand immediate repayment. The E'.EIE@" R4y o SRAT AN K AT REAT (o Y
management believes that such bank borrowings will be repaid after T HEEOR LRI R - BG4
the end of the reporting period in accordance with the scheduled S SRATAE OIS AR A8 0 3 e o 2 7L
repayment dates set out in the loan agreements, details of which are FERK A > ARCE BR AR EE  BF
set out in the table below: TR T
Maturity Analysis — Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand B H 53 b7 — B i SR AR R
clause based on scheduled repayments SRAT AR A S B R L)
More than More than
lyearbut 2 years but Total
Within less than less than More than  undiscounted Carrying
1 year 2 years 5 years Syears cash outflows amount
B4 R AHH
RUER  EAREE EDRSE RS Bl A i
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000

T Tt T Tt Tt Tt
31 March 2025 “ECRE=A=ETH 2275 19,879 49,191 44,900 136,245 118,955
31 March 2024 “ECME=A=1—H 15426 15426 38,192 64,610 133,654 110,965

(¢) Fair value measurement of financial instruments (c) “E@THMAPFHG R

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of KNFIERRE  TEEA B HRETD
financial assets and financial liabilities recognised in the consolidated TR ) <55 Al 7 % < il 2 6 1) R TR (L

financial statements approximate their fair values.
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36.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o B A 205 A W

For the year ended 31 March 2025 % —F _FFE=H =+ —H IEFE

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details the changes in the Group’s liabilities from financing
activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from
financing activities are liabilities for which cash flows were, or future cash
flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows

as cash flows from financing activities.

For the year ended 31 March 2025

36. BiE WG B AT E AR AU Z Bk

R R A G L B B AR AR
B OFRBE LB EET) o MEEHIE
ARMAARERESCRRRB SR E - FRA
2GR ERERNDHAMEEE 2

B aE -

BE_F_hFE=HA=1—HILHEE

Amount
Bank duetoa Interest Lease
borrowings shareholder payables liabilities Total
TRt —4
AT HK B R JERTAI M f i At
HK$000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
T T T T Tt
(Note 26) (Note 25) (Note 23) (Note 27)
(Fif&E26) (PH7E25) (H3E23) (PzE27)
At 1 April 2024 REZZNENA—H 110,965 25,909 1,299 11,214 149,387
Financing cash flows AR AR 7,990 (25,909) (7,464) (5,459) (30,842)
Non-cash movements #‘ Iﬁ%%@j
Interest expenses FIERA - - 6,407 499 6,906
New lease entered BRI HHEE - - - 3,710 3,710
Total other changes Hofhs A - - 6,407 4,209 10,616
At 31 March 2025 REZ-HE=A=1—H 118,955 - 242 9,964 129,161
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
30 A R B R

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #Z _F _f4F=H=+—H ILFE

36. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES 36. e TG B A 2k AL 1R HHIR
ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (%)
(CONTINUED)
For the year ended 31 March 2024 BEZFWE=ZA=1—HIL4EE

At1 April 2023 RZ-=FNA—H 61,737 18,000 79,909 654 6,768 167,068
Financing cash flows &L E 49,28 (18,000) (54,000) (6,512) (4315) (34,099)
Non-cash movements FBesH
Interest expenses FIBRE - - - 7,157 620 111
New lease entered BRI HHE - - - - 8,641 8,641
Total other changes Hipzmam - - - 7,157 9,261 16418
At31 March 2024 REZZMEZA=+—H 110965 = 25,909 1,299 11,214 149,387
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o B A 205 A W

For the year ended 31 March 2025 % —F _FFE=H =+ —H IEFE

37. BETTR 5
IR AR B 4 23 R 020 5 Bl b
S - S BB 5 FAAF 058 5 Bl B

with its related parties during the year: T

37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in these

financial statements, the Group had the following transactions and balances

EX L SIYNE 4

A S 1 R AT R BB R 10
I 4 5 o A0 24 T S B AT AR
e A S A 5 0 T O

(a) Key management personnel remuneration (a)
Remuneration for key management personnel of the Group, including
amounts paid to the Company’s directors and chief executive officer as

disclosed in Note 10 and other senior management of the Group are as

follows: SIE
2025 2024
s SETE
HK$°000 HK$’000
Tiu THETT
Short-term employee benefits S 0V 5 A 7,773 10,895
Retirement benefit ARARAEF] 120 157
7,893 11,052
(b) Transactions with related parties (b) BB
2025 2024
Name of Nature of balances/ “RTRE S R JUE
related parties Relationship transactions HK$°000 HK$’000
#7875 44 1 RS Kitr/ 25 T#ou TH#IT
Palaeontol B.V. An entity where Mr. Cheung Siu Fai, Rental income
the chairman and executive director
of the Company, is having significant
influence 46 3
AN R EFHATEFROBEERG  HEIRA
EDN 2 VIPa ||
Greatmax Investment An entity wholly owned by Ms. Leung Rental expenses
Limited Lisa, a substantial shareholder of the
Company 480 80
o BT RA T KA EERRPERZ L2EHEL  HEMX
i
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B A 25 A B

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #% — &~ LAE=H =+—H [H 4

37.

212

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(CONTINUED)

(0

(@)

Interest expenses and payable on amount due to a

shareholder

During the year, interest expenses amounted to approximately
HK$457,000 were incurred for amount due to a shareholder (2024:

HK$1,266,000).

No interest payable on amount due to a shareholder as at 31 March
2025 (2024: HK$1,045,000) and as included as interest payables in

Note 23.

Details of amounts due to a shareholder is disclosed on Note 25.

Balances with related parties

Rental receivables of approximately HK$6,000 was due from
Palaeontol B.V. as at 31 March 2025 (2024: HK$3,000) and as

included as trade receivables in Note 21.
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(o)

()

JRE A~k — 44 It SRk JE 2 S, B S
B A 3k JH

RN s R AT — 45 B SRRk I E AR R
BB 3 49457,000% 70 (& L I04F ¢
1,266,000 7C) ©

R EBHAFEZA=+—H >
A5t — %4 HE TR 3K T 7 0 A5 UL (L
TPUAE 1 1,045,0009 06) o 36 B EE
23 51 /5 FEAT LB o

JREAS — 42 FBE AR ) R TR AR S B 254

Z.

PR & Bk
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38.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #{ % ~ & “Fi4E=H =

EQUITY-SETTLED SHARE-BASED
PAYMENTS

The Company operates a share option scheme under which options to
subscribe for ordinary shares in the Company are granted to selected eligible

participants.

At the annual general meeting of the Company held on 13 September 2023,
the shareholders of the Company approved a new share option scheme (the
“2023 Share Option Scheme”) and the 2023 Share Option Scheme was
adopted by the Company on 27 September 2023 upon a listing approval
from the Stock Exchange, where the share option scheme adopted on 11
October 2013 (the “2013 Share Option Scheme”) was terminated on the
same date. No share option was granted, exercised, cancelled, lapsed or
outstanding under the 2013 Share Option Scheme during the year ended 31
March 2024 when it was terminated with effect from the adoption of 2023
Share Option Scheme on 27 September 2023. No further share option could

be granted under the 2013 Share Option Scheme after its termination.

Movements of share options

2023 Share Option Scheme

During the years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024, no share option was
granted, exercised, cancelled, lapsed or outstanding under the 2023 Share

Option Scheme.

B 7 S 05 o B
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38. DAMhE &5 LA A S A 2 P 52

AN A B R T ) ﬂ%ﬁt> AR A T
208 1 PR R T RO B 1) 5 AR 2
# o

AAFRZFEZ=FIUA = HEITHBOR
TAERE b o AR B BRI R A P T
(=Rt & ) o 75 PS5
Pr BT HER » AN FR S F =LA
T AR SRR T o i
TR A BRI IR T #
([ =B — AR Rt 3 ) A R] H A& Lk o
DR ZAERIRREST L H o =
EREIHERT B —F = A R R
A% BECFECNE=A =T —HILE
JE o MM T — AR ORI S 1 I
Cf -~ AT GRS~ RS RATRE - =
L AR A DR > SRR R
— AR IR

Ji B¢ e 522 By
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Shunten International (Holdings) Limited I i B4 B (35 1% ) A R 2 ¥ 213



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B A 25 A B

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #%E —F _F4FE=H =+—H [L4FE
39. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 39. FEEME L ¥
Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at 31 March 2025 and 2024 are as W_EZRFERFZWE=ZH=1—H
follows: FEME AR ZFEHIT
Place of
incorporation/ Particulars of
establishment Class of issued and Percentage of equity attributable
Name and operation shares held paid-up capital to the Company Principal activities
Ak gL/ CEATRAR
#i A RRENE R OR TR AT REAG R 4 b FEEH
Direct Indirect
H# T
2025 2024 2025 2024
CEROHE CERONE CZOHE CERCNE
% % % %
Able One Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS!1 - - 100 100 Provision of original equipment
manufacturing services
HRARA Eik il 1T SR T A A
Best Billion Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,000 - - 100 100 Investment holding
EEARAR ik L@ 10,0007 g e
Creation Chance Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$!1 - - 100 100 Sale of health and beauty supplements
and products and provision of
general administrative services
KolA R ik i 1T SHETRIE B Mh L i AR
—RATBUNH;
CULegend Company Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HKS$1 - - 100 100 Trading of health and beauty
supplements and products
R EERARAR Al i 1t RO R AR
Daisyluck Industries Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HK$4,000,000 - = 100 100 Property holding
SUEFARAT Fit L 4,000,000 eSS
Eastern Bright (Asia) Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100 100 Provision of management services to
other Group companies
SRR CGEW) A RAR it Wi Lt I S A 20 S PR
Giant Bloom Holdings Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HK$!1 - - 100 100 Property holding
SRR AR A ik i Lt IS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ok B U R B

For the year ended 31 March 2025 £ _F _FF=H =1—H ILFE

39. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

Health Proof International
Company Limited
FRE R A R A T

Hong Kong Ever Spring
Medicine Factory Limited
FH NS RERARAR

Medalist Limited

Power Regal International
Limited

NERBARAT

Rich Sunny Investment Limited

ERREARAR

RM Group Holdings Limited
g AR A RAR

RM Investment Holding (H.K.)
Limited

MR ERR (F)
HRAF

Hong Kong

Eik

Hong Kong

i

BVI
TRE LTS

Hong Kong

Ei

Hong Kong

Eik

BVI
SRELHE

Hong Kong

Eil

Ordinary

A
H

Ordinary

Ordinary
g

Ordinary

HKS!

170

HKS1

17

Uss1
137

HKS1

170

HKS1

1T

Uss11
1ET

HK$101

101#70

100

39. FEEME A\ ()

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

License holding

AR

Manufacturing and sale of health and
beauty supplements and products

EEREERMERFA R RER

Trademark holding
AR

Property holding

eSS

Property holding and investment
holding

ESREYSdsede

Investment holding
et

Investment holding

fEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B A 25 A B

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #%E —F _F4FE=H =+—H [L4FE
39. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED) 39. HERRE 4w (4]
Place of
incorporation/ Particulars of
establishment Class of issued and Percentage of equity attributable
Name and operation shares held paid-up capital to the Company Principal activities
AEhRaL/ CH#fTRARE
Hik M REENE  FA RO T A AR R4 A2 T TR
Direct Indirect
Hik E73
2025 2024 2025 2024
CROEE CTONE CFOAE CFONE
% % % %
Royal Medic (Holdings) Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HKS$100 - - 100 100 License holding
g (i) AR ik i L0 AN
Royal Richly (Hong Kong) Hong Kong Ordinary HKS1 - - 100 100 Property holding
Limited
1 (i) R ik i 1T PEER
Wisdom Health Products Hong Kong Ordinary HK$?2 - = 100 100 Trading of health and beauty
Company Limited supplements and products, and
investment holding
B RRERARAH Hik il 2k REREEWHRERTS
BB

216

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion
of the director of the Company principally affected the results or assets of
the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the

director of the Company, result in particulars of excessive length.
None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of the year.
No financial information of the non-wholly owned subsidiary is disclosed

in the consolidated financial statements as the non-controlling interest is not

material to the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
o B A 205 A W

For the year ended 31 March 2025 % —F _FFE=H =+ —H IEFE

40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 40. A2\ W) EAEIR DL R

THE COMPANY

2025 2024
R T B S 11
HK$°000 HK$’000
T#x T
Non-current assets e B &
Investments in subsidiaries S ENGIESESS<S 38,561 38,561
Amounts due from subsidiaries JRE WAL I 2 ) 3K T 250,597 285,135
289,158 323,696
Current assets Y
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TANTHRIE ~ e M H A RENCKIA 352 336
Tax recoverable A g [m] ol T 208 =
Cash and cash equivalents Bl RS EY 389 1,496
949 1,832
Current liabilities bt UBER
Accruals and other payables JE T ) R LA FEE A+ 3 I 2,069 3,210
Bank and other borrowings SRAT S HABAE X 58,306 52,857
Amount due to a shareholder JREASH— 44 B AR K IE - 25,909
Amounts due to subsidiaries JRE AT B e 2 ) R JE 331,219 304,043
Tax payable JEASBLIA - 40
391,594 386,059
Net current liabilities i By f i (390,645) (384,227)
Net liabilities B=REEE: (101,487) (60,531)
Equity HE 2
Equity attributable to owners of the Company AN AT N A A
Share capital A 7,770 7,770
Reserves Tttt (109,257) (68,301)
Deficiency in capital B A s Al (101,487) (60,531)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Ao B A 25 A B

For the year ended 31 March 2025 #% — &~ LAE=H =+—H [H 4

40. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 40. A2 ) BAB5IR DL 3 ()
THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)
Movement in the Company’s reserves ANl E)
Share Contributed  Accumulated
premium surplus losses Total
i A3 i BB Btk At
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000
T T TH#ETT TH#TT
(Note a)
(Pt 5Ea)
At 1 April 2023 W_FE_EFPH—H 424,497 38,541 (530,136) (67,098)
Changes in equity for 2024: R IYERE LR AEE) ¢
Loss and total comprehensive expense 4P [ 8 % 4 [ B 7 448
for the year - - (1,203) (1,203)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 WoEZE=A=+—H
KZZZPIFEPIA—H 424,497 38,541 (531,339) (68,301)
Changes in equity for 2025: R HAEHEG )
Loss and total comprehensive expense 4 [ i 8 K 22 [ B S 408
for the year - - (40,956) (40,956)
At 31 March 2025 REFZHE=HA=+—H 424,497 38,541 (572,295) (109,257)

218

Note a:  Contributed surplus represents the difference between the nominal value of the

ordinary shares issued by the Company and the net asset value of subsidiaries

acquired through an exchange of shares pursuant to the group reorganisation prior

to the listing of the Company’s shares on the GEM of the Stock Exchange.
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PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES
B

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES REWE
Attributable interest
Location Use Tenure of the Group
(AR & ik A S [ G AV
No. 127 Kweilin Street, Kowloon, Hong Kong Commercial and residential Medium term lease 100%
A UM 12798 rE AR A 100%
7th Floor of “11 Macdonnell Road”, Residential Medium term lease 100%
No. 11 Macdonnell Road, Hong Kong
B OSE R 25 55 1198 ) 74 £ FHAFE A 100%
27th Floor of The Galaxy, Industrial Medium term lease 100%
No. 313 Castle Peak Road, Kwai Chung,
Hong Kong
TR TR T 1A BR 31358 R B 027 T3 AR 49 100%
21st Floor of Man Shing Industrial Building, Industrial Medium term lease 100%
No. 307-311 Castle Peak Road, Kwai Chung,
Hong Kong
A HEZEN T LA HE307-3115% T3 HHIARA 100%
B T2 R 21 M

Shunten International (Holdings) Limited I i B4 B (35 1% ) A R 2 ¥
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

S 5 B 2

RESULTS 3
2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
SR CE ZE T —E = SR CUE R
HK$’000 HKS$’000 HK$°000 HKS$’000 HK$000
T TS THETT o T
CONTINUING OPERATIONS: TR BT -
Revenue & 223,147 155,639 216,127 235,586 205,048
(Loss)/profit before taxation BB (R48) /i (116,325) (38,494) 43,766 4,574 (33,368)
Taxation BiIH (7,770) (2,755) (2,590) (4,056) (2,875)
(Loss)/profit for the year from TR 2
continuing operations N (ft8) /i A (124,095) (41,249) 41,176 518 (36,243)
DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS: D& ILBEEE :
Loss for the year from discontinued CHIERBEER 2 FNER
operations (1,573) (3,136) (423) - -
(Loss)/profit for the year N (E51H) /R (125,668) (44,385) 40,753 518 (36,243)
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable #</2 w]#iH A REMG
to owners of the Company AE (R ) /el
— from continuing operations — K B A S (126,010) (41,379) 41,296 571 (36,243)
— from discontinued operations — K HOK ISR (1,367) (2,509) (260) - -
(127,377) (43,888) 41,036 571 (36,243)
1 £
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES e B £
2021 2022 2023 2024 2025
SR SR ZERCEE ZEROE DRTHA
HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$°000 HKS$’000 HK$’000
THIC T T T Tt
Total assets MG E 208,328 246,773 339,446 344,334 288,904
Total liabilities BALE (189,291) (144,118) (196,036) (172,726) (153,559)
Total equity i £ 19,037 102,655 143,410 171,608 135,345
Equity attributable to owners /NI 2PN
of the Company W 21,054 105,159 146,007 172,887 136,624

The comparative information for the year ended 31 March 2021 has not been  # % &~ —4=H =+ — 0 IL4EF Y LLESE R}
re-presented to separately present the results of Advance Rider Limited and its ~ Sf#EF 51| - LUME H| 251 Advance Rider Limited & H:
Wi > ) (1 70 L 60 L AV S5 ) R At o

subsidiaries as discontinued operations.
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